# A Narrative Inquiry: The Experiences of African American Female Students as a Result of Exclusionary School Suspensions

A Dissertation submitted To the Graduate School Valdosta State University

in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

In Leadership

In the Department of Curriculum, Leadership, and Technology Of the Dewar College of Education and Human Services

November 1, 2022

Karen C. Jones

Ed.S, Valdosta State University, 2004 MS, Valdosta State University, 1993 BS, Georgia Southern University, 1991 @ Copyright 2022 Karen C. Jones

All Rights Reserved

This dissertation, "A Narrative Inquiry: The Experiences of African American Female Students as a Result of Exclusionary School Suspensions," by Karen C. Jones, is approved by:

Dissertation Committee Chair DocuSigned by:

Neede Gunn

Nicole Baciunn, Ed.D.

Instructor of Leadership, Technology, &

Workforce Development

- DocuSigned by:

Dissertation Researcher Gwendolyn Kuttencutter Gwen Soon Ruttencutter, Ph.D.

Assistant Professor of Leadership, Technology, &

Workforce Development

DocuSigned by:

Committee Members Sieur You

Assistant Professor of Leadership, Technology, &

Workforce Development

Associate Provost for Graduate

Becky K. da Cruz Becky K. da Cruz, Ph.D., J.D.

Professor of Criminal Justice

#### FAIR USE

This dissertation is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, revised in 1976). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgment. Use of the material for financial gain without the author's expressed written permission is not allowed.

#### **DUPLICATION**

I authorize the Head of Interlibrary Loan or the Head of Archives at the Odium Library at Valdosta State University to arrange for duplication of this dissertation for educational or scholarly purposes when so requested by a library user. The duplication shall be at the user's expense.

Signature . Signature
refuse permission for this dissertation to be duplicated in whole or in part.
Ganatura

10040m2 C - hone o

#### **ABSTRACT**

I investigated six African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and its impact on their education. I examined how their childhood and school years shaped their roles as high school students. This study contributes to the limited academic literature on African American female students, focusing on the intersection of their race and gender obstacles they overcame to find success as high school graduates. It also uses women's voices in rural South Georgia to tell their own stories. To understand the young women's main characteristics of receiving exclusionary discipline and affecting their risk of dropping out of high school, I used two theoretical frameworks: Critical Race Theory and Black Feminist Thought. I developed three analytical themes from the data: 1) strained relationships, 2) power of one, and 3) fighting to survive. The findings suggest that African American female students felt targeted and unheard in school. Many participants made choices based on their home and community experiences. The findings also suggest that African American female students adapted their behaviors to survive in a White middle-class school system. The participants illustrated resilience and persistence to graduate. The social, political, and economic challenges African American female students face in their day-to-day lives influenced their school behavior and academic performance. The findings from this study are significant for educators, parents, students, teacher preparation programs, and lawmakers because the exclusionary discipline of African American female students needs to be addressed in an effort to reduce the number of suspensions.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter I: Introduction	1
Statement of Problem	2
Purpose	5
Research Question	5
Significance of the Study	5
Conceptual Framework	7
Methodology	9
Delimitations	10
Limitations	11
Personal Connection to the Study	12
Chapter Summary	16
Chapter II: Literature Review	18
The History of School Discipline	19
School Resource Officers	26
Effects of Suspensions	28
Georgia's Black Belt	35
Rural Schools	36
Theoretical Frameworks	37
Critical Race Theory	38
Critical Race Theory in Education	44
Black Feminist Thought	51
Summary	53

Chapter III: Methodology	55
Research Questions	55
Research Design and Rationale	55
Setting	57
Traditional High School	59
Charter School	61
Alternative School	62
School Resource Officers (SROs)	63
Discipline Data	63
Participant Selection	65
Instrumentation	67
Data Collection	69
Data Analysis	72
Data Coding	72
Issues of Trustworthiness	77
Ethical Considerations	78
Chapter Summary	79
Chapter IV: Narratives of African American Female Students	80
Participants' Narratives	81
Imani	81
Precious	86
Aliyah	90
Shanice	94

Tiara	98
Nekia	105
Chapter Summary	111
Chapter V: Discussion, Implications, and Conclusion	112
Description of Themes	113
Strained Relationships	114
Power of One	138
Fighting to Survive	143
Discussion and Conclusions	149
Research Question: Summary Discussion	151
Implications	159
Implications for Educators	159
Implications for Teacher Preparation Programs	162
Limitations	163
Final Conclusions	165
Final Reflection	166
References	168
Appendix A: Zero Tolerance Offenses in Center System's Code of Conduct	213
Appendix B: Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval	218
Appendix C: Participant Consent Agreement	220
Appendix D: CSSD Dress Code	222
Appendix E: Semi-Structured Interview Guide	224

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Center System School District Discipline Data	. 65
Table 2: Research Participant General Information	. 66
Table 3: Examples of Some of the Initial Codes Listed	. 74
Table 4: Examples of Tentative Categories	. 74
Table 5: Themes with Supporting Commentary	75

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First, thank you to my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ. "For nothing will be impossible with God." Luke 1:37.

Thank you to my chair, Dr. Gunn, for getting me to the finish line. Thank you to Dr. Ruttencutter and Dr. You for picking me up along the way. This journey has not been easy. I appreciate your joining my committee towards the end. I am so thankful for your feedback and words of encouragement. Thank you Dr. Pate for your advice and assistance.

Thank you to Dr. Beth Adams. I could not have done this without you. You allowed me to express my fear and frustrations and then encouraged me to keep pushing forward.

Thank you to the participants: Imani, Precious, Aliyah, Shanice, Tiara, and Nekia.

This dissertation would not have been possible without your stories.

Thank you to my extended family. By asking, "when are you going to be finished?" you encouraged me to keep moving ahead.

Most importantly, thank you to my husband, Chris, and my children, Kacy and Cam. Thank you for loving me and supporting me. Thank you for understanding when I spent Saturdays and Sundays away from home working on this dissertation. The three of you have no idea how much you mean to me.

# **DEDICATION**

I dedicate this dissertation to my parents, James and Billie Cantrell. You have taught me since I was a child to finish what I started. I finished! Thank you for creating the desire in me to look for opportunities to learn and grow. I love you.

#### Chapter I

#### Introduction

One of the subtlest challenges we face, if we are not to betray the hardwon gains of the last forty years, is how to relegitimate the national discussion of racial, ethnic, and gender tensions so that we can get past the Catch-22 in which merely talking about it is considered an act of war, in which not talking about it is complete capitulation to the status quo.

(Williams, 1997, p. 40)

Following the deaths of George Floyd, Brianna Taylor, and Rayshard Brooks in 2020, citizens of the United States (U.S.) renewed concerns about systemic racism and White privilege. This shift in attitudes and conversations about racial inequities in the U.S. has led to a nationwide uprising. In major cities, people gathered across the country during the summer of 2020 to voice their concerns about the treatment of people of color in America, mainly African Americans. Williams (1997) reflected over 25 years ago, people worldwide need to discuss race, ethnicity, and gender, and they should expect a change, as the status quo is no longer acceptable.

Racism is present on the streets and in schools (Valant, 2020). Education is vital because it is the pathway to achievement; however, the path is easier for some than others (Montecel, 2013). African American students face barriers that do not burden White students (Tatum, 2019). The differences in academic achievement and disciplinary practices by race suggest that schools miss the mark in preparing students of color for their futures (Wallace et al., 2008). The percentage of African American students suspended from school is more significant than any other racial group (Wallace et al.,

2008). Nationwide, African American male students are the highest percentage of students administered out of school suspensions (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Given the pervasive nature of racism and how it unduly affects African Americans, gaining a deeper understanding of the impacts and influences of race in school discipline is valuable (Marchbanks & Blake, 2018).

#### **Statement of Problem**

Despite laws and procedures aimed at preventing it, the implications of race and gender disproportionality exist in school discipline (Skiba et al., 2010). African American female students face higher suspension, expulsion, and arrest rates than their White classmates (Morris et al., 2018). In 2017-2018, the U.S. Department of Education Office of Civil Rights (2021) detected a disparity in the suspensions of African American female students compared to all other female groups. The rate of suspensions of African American female students was almost twice the enrollment percentage of African American female students (U.S. Department of Education Office of Civil Rights, 2021). During the school year 2021, The Governor's Office of Student Achievement (n.d.-b) in Georgia reported that in grades K-12, 51% of female students suspended were African American compared to only 33% being White female students.

School discipline policies create negative school experiences that push students out of school (Skiba et al., 2014). The graduation rate for African American female students is lower than that for White female students in small, rural South Georgia high schools (Georgia Department of Education, 2020). The racial disparities are particularly distressing because suspensions and expulsions significantly correlate with decreased academic achievement, lower attendance, and increased dropout rates (Losen et al., 2015;

Marchbanks & Blake, 2018; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017; Skiba et al., 2014).

Exclusionary discipline, such as suspensions and expulsions, "encompasses any type of school disciplinary action that removes or excludes a student from his or her usual educational setting" (American Psychological Association, n.d., para. 1). Expulsion occurs when a school system suspends a student from a public school beyond the current school semester (National Center for Safe Supportive Learning, 2021). Gregory et al. (2016) contended that exclusionary discipline matters immensely to the education of students because "even a single suspension or referral to the juvenile court system increases the odds of low achievement and dropping out of school altogether" (p. 39).

Exclusionary suspensions increase the likelihood African American female students will struggle to succeed in classes and graduate from high school (Gregory et al., 2016; Losen et al., 2015; Marchbanks & Blake, 2018; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017; Skiba et al., 2014).

Disparities in school discipline towards African American female students concern parents, educators, law enforcement, and lawmakers. Annamma et al. (2016) emphasized that the "dearth of scholarship around Black girls' experiences have rendered them largely invisible" (p. 213). Many educators lack an understanding of how discipline policies impact African American female students because teachers' and administrators' perceptions of African American female students' experiences are often flawed (Annamma et al., 2016).

Educators respond more negatively toward African American female students' misbehaviors than non-African American female students' similar actions (Crenshaw et al., 2015). Losen (2015) argued that educators are unlikely to close the achievement gap

while ignoring the discipline gap. The suspensions and expulsions for African American students are disproportionately higher than for all other races and ethnic groups (Martin et al., 2016). The discipline gap demonstrates that African American youth have higher sanctioning rates and are overrepresented, even when misconduct levels are similar to those of White students (Bottiani et al., 2016; Butler et al., 2012; Martin et al., 2016). Thus, educators must consider initiating change in school disciplinary approaches that allow and encourage students to remain involved in their learning (Gregory et al., 2014).

Researchers often write about African American males' discipline experiences (Lewis et al., 2010; Skiba et al., 2010); however, literature is scarce concerning the experiences of African American female students (Blake et al., 2010; Morris, 2012; Ricks, 2014). Only a few researchers have attempted to analyze which facets of African American female students' status and social standing in the school setting make them more susceptible to disparate discipline rates (Blake et al., 2010). For the past 10 years, researchers have calculated the percentage of African American female students receiving out of school suspension (Blake et al., 2010; Losen, 2015; National Center for Education Statistics, 2019; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017). Losen et al. (2015) reported that in the 2009-2010 school year, African American female students were three times more likely to receive out of school suspension (OSS) than White female students. Just four years later, the National Center for Education Statistics (2019) reported that African American female students' suspension was over five times more likely than their White schoolmates. According to Onyeka-Crawford et al. (2017), being suspended out of school "resulted in lost class time and increased school pushout" (p. 13). Further compounding the impacts of school suspensions, African American female students receive multiple

Suspensions, more than any other gender or race of students (Blake et al., 2010; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017). As such, there is a need for a better understanding of how African American female students experience school discipline and how trends reported nationally occur in local settings, producing patterns and possible explanations for these patterns that need to be recognized and explained (Annamma et al., 2016; Blake et al., 2010; Losen, 2015; National Center for Education Statistics, 2019; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017).

## **Purpose**

The purpose of this study was to investigate African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and the impact exclusionary discipline had on their education. By examining African American female students' life, school, and discipline experiences, the goal was to guide others in reducing gender and racial bias in school discipline.

#### **Research Question**

The following research question guided this study:

RQ - What are the life and school experiences of African American female students with exclusionary discipline in selected rural South Georgia schools?

# **Significance of the Study**

This research will benefit departments of education, teacher preparation programs, administrators, and teachers because the research can provide insight into African American female students' perceptions. Knowledge of these perceptions can impact how aspiring teachers and administrators are trained. This study expands the current literature by examining African American female students' discipline experiences

and perceptions separate from African American male students. African American female students' voices were raised and added to the existing literature to bring further awareness to exclusionary discipline disparities.

The disciplinary consequences of African American males have garnered the majority of the literature due to their increased risk of being suspended or expelled from school (Carter et al., 2017; Gregory et al., 2017; Lewis et al., 2010: Losen, 2015; Losen et al., 2015; Skiba et al., 2002, 2010, 2011, 2014; Skiba & Knesting, 2001). In the U.S., the risk of exclusionary discipline is more significant for African American males (Blake et al., 2010). However, researchers should not rule out African American female students' experiences of inequitable discipline practices (Blake et al., 2010). During this study, I shared the voices of young African American women impacted by punitive and exclusionary discipline policies. From their voices I created recommendations for eliminating possible inequities.

Wallace et al. (2008) examined school discipline among students and documented the degree of racial and ethnic variances in disproportionality frequency. Although the rates for male students of all races and ethnicities were significantly higher than for female students, the disparities between African American and White female students were the highest (Wallace et al.). The results of this study may strengthen the relationships between adults and students in the school environment. Educators

The study is significant given the need for awareness and dialogue regarding race and racism in schools. It examines the intersectionality of race and gender embedded in African American female students' experiences within a rural South Georgia high school context. In this context, the increased awareness of racism's persistence informs others in

the educational environment. Bottiani et al. (2016) recommended further studies to find interventions to eliminate the discipline gap. Finding strategies and practices that administrators and teachers can utilize in the high school setting to prevent African American female students from receiving exclusionary discipline practices is essential to keeping them engaged in the learning process (Bottiani et al., 2016).

Consequently, by engaging in conversations with African American female students about their experiences with school discipline, administrators can implement policies that promote school equity and limit systemic racism. Critical race theory (CRT) and Black Feminist Thought (BFT) lenses shaped participant stories to acknowledge how society's embedded racism shaped their experiences.

# **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework informs the research while aligning questions and methods, integrating data, findings, and literature as the study advances (Ravitch & Riggan, 2017). While constructing my conceptual framework, my purpose was "not only descriptive, but also critical" (Maxwell, 2013, p. 41). I strengthened my argument by providing context, communicating issues in previous research, revealing contradictions in existing views, and contributing new ideas to existing literature (Harris, 2014; Maxwell, 2013). I used the literature review to discuss my study plan. Specifically, "what is going on with these things and why" (Maxwell, 2013, p. 39).

I used CRT (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016; Yosso et al., 2004) and BFT (Collins, 2000) were the existing theories included. CRT is defined as an intellectual framework with the core idea that race is a social construct, and that racism is not individual bias but instead embedded in legal systems and policies (Delgado & Stefancic,

2017). BFT is defined as a field of knowledge focused on the perspectives and experiences of Black women (Collins, 1986). Fundamental to CRT is the position that institutional ideals, policies, and practices benefit and favor one racial group over all others (Anyon et al., 2018). As such, both of these theoretical frameworks are appropriate for this study.

Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) suggested using CRT to explain school racial inequities. Delgado and Stefancic (2017) indicated there are five tenets to CRT: (1) race is socially constructed, (2) racism is normal and not an aberration, (3) interest convergence, (4) storytelling and counter-storytelling, and (5) intersectionality. My literature review included discussions on several theories: interest convergence theory (Bell, 1980), White privilege (Solórzano & Yosso, 2002), counter-storytelling (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Solórzano & Yosso, 2002), stereotypes (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020; Manke, 2019; Pilgrim, 2012; Thompson, 2019), colorblindness (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016) and intersectionality (Brah & Phoenix, 2016; Collins, 2019; Crenshaw, 2015; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016).

I also examined the core themes of BFT. The prevailing narratives regarding African American female students connect to how race operates in American schools (Ladson-Billings, 2016a). African American women experience "multiple marginalized identities" (Annamma et al., 2016, p. 217); therefore, I drew on intersectionality and BFT (Collins, 2000) to build on CRT. Intersectionality examines how race, gender, class, and other characteristics overlap (Crenshaw, 1989). I used the lens of race and gender and how they intersected as I collected African American female students' stories. Through this study, I hoped to acknowledge that African American women have uniquely different

experiences from White women, White men, and even African American men (Crenshaw, 2015).

When examining the role of race in education, it is essential to review schools' stereotypes and biases. I used the tenets of CRT and the dimensions of BFT to provide ways of understanding racial disparities. I share the history of school discipline and how zero-tolerance policies influenced school discipline. Administrators and teachers view discipline as either objective (drugs, alcohol, fights, smoking) or subjective (insubordination, rude, disrespect) (Balderas, 2014). Previous literature on suspensions contains recommendations for possible solutions to reduce the number of suspensions, including implementing Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (Sugai & Simonsen, 2012) and restorative justice (Bickmore, 2001).

#### Methodology

I used narrative inquiry was to investigate African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and the impact exclusionary discipline had on their education at an identified rural South Georgia school system. Participants told life narratives in story form and provided their first-person accounts (Merriam, 2002). Connelly and Clandinin (1990) claimed, "Humans are storytelling organisms who, individually and socially, lead storied lives" (p. 2). Stories become the raw data when using a narrative inquiry as a research method (Butina, 2015; Priest et al., 2002). Kim (2016) stated that narratives integrate "the feelings, goals, perceptions, and values of the people whom we want to understand" (p. 36).

Creswell (2014) recommended only using one or two participants when completing narrative research. I purposefully selected and interviewed six African

American female participants who experienced suspension out of school from high school. All participants were between the ages of 18 and 20 when I conducted the interviews. While two participants were current high school seniors and four students were graduates, they were all adults reflecting on the experiences related to their suspensions. All the participants attended school in the same South Georgia school district. I limited the ages of the participants because their ages would not be far removed from current students in the school system.

I did not want so many stories that, when analyzed, the students' voices became fragmented (Patton, 2015). Patton noted the researcher should choose participants because they are "information-rich" (p. 46). The primary data collection utilized was semi-structured interviews (Connelly & Clandinin, 1990).

Data analysis included coding, categorizing, and thematizing. I took necessary precautions to ensure the validity of the findings, including collecting detailed, thick descriptions, identification of researcher bias and reflexivity, and increasing the generalizability of the results (Ponterotto, 2006).

#### **Delimitations**

I based my selection criteria on age, race, gender, and those formerly suspended out of school. The study sample was delimited to six African American female students who had been suspended from a rural South Georgia school. The participants were at least 18 years old but not older than 20. I did not want the participants' ages to be far removed from current high school students. The conclusions of this study referred to an identified rural school district located in South Georgia.

#### Limitations

This research study included several limitations. I placed myself as the interpreter of the narratives of African American female students who differ from me socioeconomically and racially. I recognize that interpreting through my cultural lens filters the students' narratives. While I interpreted through the lens of a middle-aged White female with a position of authority in the school the students either attended at the time of the interview or previously attended before they graduated, I used reflexivity to help me in centering the participants' voices. I considered the complexities of being the research instrument throughout this research, given that I am a White middle-class female assistant principal researching the experiences and perspectives of African American female participants. The participants' ethnic, social, and economic backgrounds are unlike mine. I struggled against my biases and assumptions as a middle-aged woman who experienced high school during a different generation nearly four decades ago.

I am a member of the dominant White majority. The participants in this student were African American, who are an underrepresented group at CSSD. The participants' responses could elicit uncomfortable experiences. I listened and learned from the participants because they were the authorities of their experiences and their views of the school and world.

My personal experiences include my upbringing, schooling, adult life, and profession. I was cognizant of privilege and power connections. I recognized the differences between the participants and myself as a White adult woman. I minimized the dynamics by communicating to the participants that their contribution was important and that I had a lot to learn from them. As an assistant principal at the CSSD traditional high

school, I was connected and enmeshed with the participants and the world of the CSSD traditional high school.

I do not have an outside standpoint to gather data. I engage with students, parents, and teachers about students' well-being and academic success. The role I play in the CSSD traditional high school varies daily. I support teachers as they plan and teach lessons by giving them constructive feedback. I meet with 9th-grade students about their grades. I also meet with students about discipline issues. Given these opportunities and experiences in the CSSD, I bring to this study biases and assumptions. My first assumption is that individuals and groups from different ethnic, social, and economic backgrounds bring social value and knowledge from their life experiences that I have much to learn. The second assumption is that students want to learn and be successful in school, and educators want to help students achieve. Third, trials affect student success and opportunities in school. My fourth assumption is my experience as a female White middle-class assistant principal influences my interpretation of the participants' narratives. My fifth assumption is that zero tolerance policies are fair because all students receive the same consequences. I cannot separate my personal identity, education, profession, and experiences from this research, and my beliefs and assumptions influenced me. I used reflexivity and self-awareness while conducting interviews and analyzing the data.

## **Personal Connection to the Study**

I have multiple connections to this study, which overlap with my personal, professional, and academic experiences. I am a White, middle-aged woman. The participants in this study were young African American women. My career in education

began in a South Georgia high school as a mathematics teacher. I moved throughout Georgia and continued teaching mathematics at the high school level. In 2006, the state of Georgia created the position of Graduation Coach (GC). I became the GC at my high school, and my responsibilities included tracking students who were at risk of not graduating on time. During this period, passing the Georgia High School Graduation Test (GHSGT) required a high school diploma. The state of Georgia considered students who passed all the required courses to graduate but did not pass one or more portions of the graduation test as dropouts. While working as the GC, I dug deep into the data to discover trends at my school. African American students were more at risk of not passing the GHSGT and thereby not graduating. Administrators assigned African American students to ISS or OSS more than any other group. I believed my job as a GC included trying to save all students, and I advocated for them with teachers and administrators.

When I became an Assistant Principal, the principal assigned me to the 9th-grade class for discipline and academics, and I had to switch my focus from saving individual students to preserving the school's culture and climate. As an administrator, I received more discipline referrals for African American students than any other subgroup. Perry (2018) stated, "After all, who invests in a problem or a deficit when investing in a solution is so much more attractive? Education is littered with white saviors fixing black children for this reason" (para. 9). When I read this statement, it resonated with me. Instead of fixing individual students, the problem or deficit needs investigation and correction. I was interested in studying the racial disparity in schools' discipline and the personal and school experiences of students suspended from school.

The setting for this research is a South Georgia school district. At the time of the research, the school system employed me as an assistant principal and school test coordinator in the traditional high school, and I knew the participants prior to the interviews. All the participants attended the traditional high school during a portion of their high school years. As an assistant principal, I had access to attendance, discipline, and academic data upon permission. The superintendent gave me permission to use the data for this research project. The participants also permitted me to view their school records.

Part of my duties at the high school includes monitoring students in the hallways during class change and during lunch periods. Through these moments of monitoring students, I observed interactions between students and teachers, students and students, and students and administrators. While I felt that I had a good relationship with the participants in the study, I recognized the power I hold as an administrator and as a middle-aged White woman.

#### **Definition of Terms**

Colorblindness. Colorblindness is the practice of claiming not to see a student's race yet performing covertly racist acts (Bonilla-Silva, 2014)

Counterstorytelling. Counterstorytelling is a method of storytelling from people of color, women, homosexuals, and economically disadvantaged whose realities are sporadically told (Solórzano & Yosso, 2002).

Disparate discipline. Disparate discipline in education is the discipline gap between subgroups of students (Gregory et al., 2017).

Dropout rate. According to The Governor's Office of Student Achievement (n.d.-a) in Georgia, the dropout rate is the number of students with a withdrawal code (marriage, expelled, financial hardship, incarcerated, low grades, military, adult education, pregnant, removed for lack of attendance, serious illness/accident, or unknown) divided by the number of students who attended the school.

Exclusionary discipline. Exclusionary discipline includes any school disciplinary action that removes a student from the educational setting (American Psychological Association, n.d.).

*Expulsion*. Expulsion occurs when a student is suspended from school for more than a semester (National Center for Safe Supportive Learning, 2021).

Four-year cohort adjusted graduation rate. Georgia calculates the four-year high school graduation rate using the number of students who graduate within four years of beginning high school as ninth-graders (The Governor's Office of Student Achievement, n.d.-a).

*Implicit bias*. Implicit bias is an unconscious manifestation of stereotypes and attitudes (Ruhl, 2020).

*In-School Suspension*. In-school suspension is any program that serves the instructional needs of students suspended from the student's regular classroom for no more than 10 consecutive days (Georgia Department of Education, 2018).

Interest convergence. Interest convergence stipulates that African Americans only gain civil rights victories when Whites' and African Americans' interests converge (Bell, 1980).

Intersectionality. Intersectionality is how gender and race interact to form multiple African American women's experiences (Crenshaw, 1989).

Long-term out of school suspension. Long-term suspension occurs when a student is suspended from school for more than 10 days but less than a semester (National Center for Safe Supportive Learning, 2021).

Rural school system. Georgia defines a local education authority as rural if it serves less than 25 students per square mile (The Governor's Office of Student Achievement, 2016).

Short-term out of school suspension. The short-term suspension is out of school suspension for 1 to 10 school days (National Center for Safe Supportive Learning, 2021).

Stereotypes. Stereotypes are mental constructs about a group of people based on the perceiver's beliefs and expectations (Peffley et al., 1997, p. 31).

Zero tolerance policy. Students who violate certain school rules, regardless of the circumstances, face mandatory disciplinary dispositions, including suspension and referral to law enforcement (Gjelten, 2019).

#### **Chapter Summary**

Although researchers have relatively established suspension and expulsion differences between African American and White female students, they have not captured the African American female students' experiences (Skiba et al., 2010). This study gives voice to the experiences of African American female students. CRT and BFT were lenses that allowed me to study and present with fidelity the results from my interviews with African American female students.

I organized the study into five chapters. In Chapter I, I present the introduction, the problem statement, the purpose, the research questions, the significance, the conceptual framework, a summary of the methods, the limitations and delimitations of the study, and the definitions of terms used. In Chapter II, I review the literature related to CRT, BFT, African American women, exclusionary discipline, rural settings, and racial disparity. In Chapter III, I present the methodology used for the study. I offer participant narratives in Chapter IV. In Chapter V, I provide an in-depth discussion of the results, implications, recommendations for practice, and future studies and conclusions.

#### **Chapter II**

#### Literature Review

The literature review indicates a need for this study by examining prior research related to the impact of disproportionate suspensions on African American female students and linking it to recent school-related experiences of those students who have been expelled or suspended from school. I searched for terms connected to the study's topic: racial disparity, exclusionary discipline, zero-tolerance, out of school suspension, rural schools, Title I schools, student achievement, graduation rates, dropout rates, teacher bias, and African American women. I used numerous databases to search the terms independently and in different groupings, including EBSCO eBooks Academic Collection, Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), ProQuest, Georgia Library Learning Online (GALILEO), and Google Scholar.

The literature review begins with a historical background of school discipline. In this section, I chronicled discipline from corporal punishment to the school-to-prison pipeline. I include a description of CRT and its tenets and key ideas in BFT.

Researchers have well documented the disproportionate suspensions of African American students in school discipline (Children's Defense Fund, 1975; Losen, 2015; Losen et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2016; Musu-Gillette et al., 2016; U.S. Department of Education Office of Civil Rights, 2014, 2020). There is a contentious debate within the United States education system about school discipline practices (Hess, 2016; Mizell, 1978). Hess (2016) stated school personnel is responsible for ensuring schools are safe. School administrators use out of school suspensions (OSS) and expulsions to maintain discipline (Hess, 2016; Morris & Perry, 2017). Yet, both interventions pose a significant

risk to all students' educational opportunities, especially African American women (Morris & Perry, 2017).

# The History of School Discipline

The definition of school discipline includes "any intervention that ensures the safety of the school environment or guarantees an environment conducive to learning" (Skiba et al., 2010, p. 1079). McCann (2017) maintained school discipline has historically not followed a conventional path due to diverse attitudes toward numerous disciplines and methods over time. School administrators, guided by laws and statutes created by state legislatures for local education agencies (LEAs), can subject students to disciplinary measures for any behavior that threatens other students' safety or disrupts the learning environment (Skiba et al., 2010). The consequences of misbehavior include "verbal reprimands, corporal punishment, afterschool detention, in-school suspension, out of school suspension, and even fines" (McCann, 2017, p. 3). Because LEAs determine disciplinary outcomes, there is a lack of consistency (McCann, 2017).

#### Corporal Punishment

As of 2022, in the United States, 31 states prohibit schools from using corporal punishment (American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 2019). Schools use corporal punishment to discipline misbehaving students (Dupper & Montgomery Dingus, 2008). The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) defined corporal punishment as modifying a child's behavior with open-handed non-injurious hitting (Sege, 2018). Historians traced corporal punishment or spankings back to the Middle Ages (History of Corporal Punishment, 2009). As populations grew, physically chastising students for being obstinate became less favorable (Dupper & Montgomery Dingus, 2008). *Baker v.* 

Owens (1975) and Ingraham v. Wright (1977) supported school personnel's right to administer corporal punishment because in loco parentis—a Latin phrase meaning in place of a parent, applied (Streitmatter, 1985). Corporal punishment is illegal in 31 states; however, it is legal in Georgia (Gershoff & Font, 2016).

African American culture considers corporal punishment as normal (Straus & Stewart, 1998). Straus & Stewart found in a study of 991 American parents, hitting a child with a belt or paddle was more prevalent in African American and economically disadvantaged homes. A Pew Research Center survey (2015) found that African American parents were twice as likely as White and Latin-American parents to use corporal punishment. According to Patton (2017), African Americans adopted beating children from White enslavers. There was no sign of physical discipline in West African societies until Europeans colonized Africa and began the Atlantic slave trade (Patton, 2017). Patton (2020) explained to African American parents, "whupping their children is one of the whitest things they can do" (para. 20).

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) issued a policy against corporal punishment in 2018 (Sege, 2018). In contrast, some African American pediatricians hold more positive attitudes toward corporal punishment (Patton, 2020). Patton (2020) explained the AAP policy demonizes African American communities where spankings are the cultural norm. Thomas and Dettlaff (2011) found African American parents believe spankings will prepare their children to face discrimination. Patton (2020) reported that some African American parents think spanking their children will keep them out of the streets and from ending up in jail. Patton is opposed to the idea of corporal punishment. She said that whipping their children is one of the whitest things

African American parents can do. Pinderhughes et al. (2000) found that African American parents more vigorously approved of corporal punishment as a parenting technique than White parents. Grogan-Kaylor and Otis (2007) also concluded in their study that African American parents favor spanking than White or Hispanic parents.

Many critics believe corporal punishment teaches that physical aggression is the answer to eliminating unwanted behaviors (History of Corporal Punishment, 2009).

Students disciplined with corporal punishment develop more aggressive behaviors (Sege, 2018). With an increase in zero-tolerance policies, many states and school systems are diminishing the use of corporal punishment (Stinchcomb et al., 2006).

#### Out of school Suspension (OSS)

School administrators began adopting OSS as a discipline method as early as the 1960s (Allman & Slate, 2011). Many administrators utilize OSS to maintain order and preserve the learning environment (Losen & Skiba, 2010). Yet, suspended students are less likely to graduate (Noltemeyer et al., 2015). Allman and Slate (2011) suggested that automatically removing students from class or school for violating a school rule promoted poor behavior and encouraged students to become repeat offenders. School discipline generally consists of levels or tiers (Allman & Slate). Zero-tolerance policies do not consider past behavior and are applied regardless of the circumstances (Maxime, 2018). Costenbader and Markson (1998) surveyed 620 students from rural and inner-city schools and found suspensions did little to deter future behaviors. Students argued suspensions were not helpful, and 32% believed they would likely be suspended from school again. In the *Goss v. Lopez* landmark case in 1975, a group of Ohio students challenged the practice of suspending students out of school (Streitmatter, 1985). The

court ruled that suspending a student without a hearing violated the students' 14th Amendment's Due Process Clause. Thus, school administrators created in-school suspension (ISS), in addition to OSS, as a temporary and convenient fix for some of the students' minor infractions (Allman & Slate, 2011; Cholewa et al., 2018; O'Brien, 1976).

## In-School Suspension (ISS)

O'Brien (1976) provided the first formal account of ISS. Minneapolis school systems designed ISS as an alternative to ineffective OSS. They intended to use ISS to help students accept the penalties for their behaviors and reflect on their actions. Students placed in ISS must attend school; however, administrators remove students from their regular classroom and classroom routines and instead send them to an isolated classroom (Foster & Kight, 1988). While in the ISS room, students work on assignments sent to them by their teachers (Foster & Kight, 1988). Although ISS was designed to serve as a less severe approach to discipline and satisfied many critics who opposed OSS, it too was quickly condemned by researchers (Cholewa et al., 2018; Morris & Howard, 2003). Cholewa et al. (2018) reported that Black male students who were either economically disadvantaged or listed as special education students were more prone to receive ISS. Allman and Slate (2011) explained ISS might negatively impact students' self-esteem and increase the risk of dropping out. In schools where ISS replaced OSS, ISS was linked with an elevated dropout rate, which raised caution about the use of ISS (Cholewa et al., 2018). Finally, the American Institutes for Research released a study showing ISS and OSS are ineffective methods for punishing the misbehaviors of students (LiCalsi et al., 2021).

#### **Zero-Tolerance Policy Implementation**

School systems nationwide introduced zero-tolerance policies in the 1980s and 1990s to deter violence and drug activity on school campuses (Bell, 2015). Zero tolerance policies "mandate the application of predetermined consequences, most often severe and punitive in nature, that are intended to be applied regardless of the gravity of behavior, mitigating circumstances, or situational context" (American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force, 2008, p. 852). Zero-tolerance policies Schools mandated harsh punishments for minor and significant infractions labeled under zero-tolerance policies (Cole, 2020). The federal government passed the Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act of 1986 (Drug-Free School Act), which prohibited alcohol and drugs (Mallett, 2016).

In 1986, President Ronald Reagan signed the Anti-Drug Abuse Act (Reagan, 1986). The Act harshly penalized drug offenders, regardless of the degree of the violation (Reagan, 1986). As gangs, drugs, and weapons began to infiltrate the schools, school officials had to find a solution to the growing problem (Skiba & Knesting, 2001). When President Bill Clinton signed the Gun-Free Schools Act (GFSA) of 1994, schools began implementing exclusionary discipline policies (Anderson, 2015). The law mandated public schools to expel students for one calendar year if they brought a gun to school (Anderson, 2015). The law did not allow administrators or school officials to differentiate the discipline for students prone to violence from those who meant no harm (Cerrone, 1999). Per the requirements of the GFSA, Georgia followed federal law, except there was no provision for referral to law enforcement and no provision for due process (Cerrone, 1999). Recently, schools have added minor offenses to the list of behaviors that can result

in being suspended or expelled from school (Skiba & Knesting, 2001). As suspension rates continue to increase, transforming discipline policies is critical (Skiba, 2014).

With the Guns Free School Act of 1994, all schools receiving federal funds must expel any student for an entire school year who brings a gun to school (Anderson, 2015). Many local school systems took the policy further by mandating the suspension or expulsion of any student who brought a weapon to school instead of limiting the suspension to only bringing a gun to school (Skiba & Knesting, 2001). After the nationwide implementation of the Guns Free School Act, zero-tolerance policies became standard in schools (Allman & Slate, 2011; Bell, 2015; Heilbrun et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2016; Martinez, 2009; Skiba, 2014).

Sugai and Horner (1999) asserted schools also suspend students for non-threatening behaviors such as delinquency in class and school, insubordination, and smoking. These non-threatening behaviors often result in students receiving ISS or OSS (Sugai & Horner). By 1997, nearly 94% of schools had adopted zero-tolerance policies for firearm and weapons possession (Skiba & Knesting, 2001). In the late 1990s, 87% of schools had zero-tolerance guidelines for alcohol possession, and 79% had zero-tolerance for on-campus violence and tobacco possession (Skiba & Knesting, 2001).

School leaders have historically emphasized how vital a safe learning environment is for students and staff to ensure effective teaching and learning (Trump, 1998). Zero-tolerance policies aim to change students' behavior and remove disruptive students to improve the school climate (Heilbrun et al., 2015; Martinez, 2009). Skiba (2014) wrote vigorous enforcement of the zero-tolerance policy is presumed "to act as a deterrent to other potentially disruptive students" (p. 28). Principals who support zero-

tolerance policies report higher suspension rates (Heilbrun et al., 2015; Skiba, 2014). Students cite teachers and administrators using a zero-tolerance approach to implement stricter punishments (Heilbrun et al., 2015). "Problems with fairness, impartiality, uniformity, and flexibility have caused the effectiveness, validity, and justification of zero-tolerance policies to be questioned" (American Academy of Pediatrics Council on School Health, 2013). The American Academy of Pediatrics Council on School Health concluded that zero-tolerance and other exclusionary policies might harm students. Suspended students often stay home alone, increasing the chance of behaviors that could lead to an arrest or to becoming the victim of a crime (Children's Defense Fund, 1975). When students return to school after being suspended, they lose academic ground, causing students to act out further due to boredom or frustration (Losen, 2013).

Skiba (2014) conducted a zero-tolerance policy study and found suspensions and expulsions did not reduce school disruptions. Zero-tolerance policies "overwhelmingly failed to demonstrate that school exclusion and increasing levels of punishment keep our schools and streets safer" (p. 28). Martinez (2009) indicated administrators use zero-tolerance policies as a quick fix and often do not consider any mitigating circumstances associated with students' behavior. The use of OSS is essential when there is an immediate threat to school safety (Vaccar, 2010). However, Vaccar (2010) noted OSS is not used only for infractions that threaten schools' safety. Thus, the strict application of the code of conduct in schools has increased the number of suspensions nationwide.

School discipline policies create negative school experiences that can push students out of school (Skiba et al., 2014). School administrators have been under pressure to transform strict discipline policies and find alternate methods (Shah, 2012). In

2014, President Barack Obama released discipline guidelines for public schools to move away from exclusionary discipline and toward restorative justice (U.S. Department of Education, 2018). Exclusionary discipline policies increase OSS, alternative school placements, and placement in youth detention centers (U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, 2019).

#### **School Resource Officers**

Many schools introduced school resource officers (SROs) in the mid-1950s (Weiler & Cray, 2011). Mowen (2014) reported that SROs are now found in 55% of high schools nationwide, increasing 25% since 1997. There was a significant push for SROs following school shootings in the 1990s with the passing of the Gun-Free Schools Act of 1994 (Cerrone, 1999). Welch and Payne (2011) indicated schools use SROs combined with zero-tolerance or exclusionary discipline policies. Lavarello and Trump (2001) described SROs as serving in a triad model: police officers, counselors, and teachers, as parents, students, teachers, and community members describe school safety as a top priority.

Following the introduction of SROs to schools in the 1990s, a study completed by Johnson (1999), utilizing discipline records, interview data from students, school personnel, and SROs, found the number of significant discipline offenses decreased following the placement of SROs in the schools. In the study, students reported feeling safer with an SRO. However, Johnson's (1999) findings are not consistent with later studies. Rios (2011) completed an ethnographic study of 40 African American and Latin-American male teenagers in San Francisco. Using in-depth interviews, Rios found that increased surveillance of at-risk students fostered the behavior schools intended to

prevent. The students vocalized they felt harassed and profiled before committing any crimes because they were labeled at-risk (Rios).

In a survey of 294 public schools, Welch and Payne (2011) reported more security measures and heightened SRO presence were more likely in schools African American students attended. In a three-year longitudinal study of 28 schools, Theriot (2009) examined the connections between school-based arrests and SROs. Theriot revealed students were more likely to be arrested for subjective offenses if a school had an SRO. In the study, socioeconomic status was the only noteworthy predictor of an arrest.

According to Greflund et al. (2014), subjective offenses are dependent on the opinion of the teacher and require the teacher to make a judgment call (e.g., rude, disrespectful, disorderly conduct, or insubordination). Theriot and Orme (2014) evaluated how interactions with SROs at school were connected with students' feelings of safety and found an association between students' experiences and students' feelings of security.

Fenton (2021) called for schools to be police-free, citing the disproportionate harm to African American students. According to Fenton, African American students receive extreme punishments for minor offenses and experience anxiety when in the presence of SROs. In a 2018 Texas-based study, the Justice and Prevention Research Center found increasing the number of SROs led to a decline in the high school graduation rate (Weisburst, 2021). A 2017 investigation in Chicago found due to SROs having little training or accountability, African American students are at a higher risk of incarceration (Masterson, 2017). African American students are not given the same grace as White students because SROs and teachers view them as more mature (Fenton, 2021).

The Georgia Peace Officer Standards and Training Council requires SROs to be at least 21 years old, have certification as Peace Officers, and complete required courses (Child Trends & EMT Associates, 2020). SROs have the same law enforcement powers on school property as in their respective county or municipality, including the power of arrest (Child Trends & EMT Associates, 2020). Cole (2020) acknowledged the presence of SROs is for student protection and safety on school campuses. However, Cole also noted when SROs handle discipline incidents, minor infractions can turn into criminal incidents. Once a student contacts law enforcement, data indicate graduation is unlikely for the student (Cole, 2020).

# **Effects of Suspensions**

In the early years of zero-tolerance suspensions, administrators viewed suspensions as an effective deterrent for violence and weapons (Bell, 2015). Yet, Bell questioned the motive behind zero-tolerance and stated this is not in the best interest of our children. The punitive climate of schools has increased (Bell). Schools suspend or expel 3,000,000 students each year (Kirkman et al., 2016). The consequences of being suspended include lower literacy and numeracy levels, an increase in retention rates, an increase in negative attitudes toward schools, a decrease in the percentage of students attending a post-secondary institute, and an increase in possible contact with juvenile justice (Bottiani et al., 2016; Cagle, 2017; Kirkman et al., 2016). In a study of first-year students in Florida, Balfanz et al. (2015) found students reduce their odds of graduating by 20% with each suspension. Suspended students experience a lower level of school belonging (Bottiani et al., 2016) and are more likely to use alcohol and marijuana (Kirkman et al., 2016). In the American Civil Liberties Union's report in 2009, a student

suspended three or more times has a 50% chance of eventually dropping out of school (Bell, 2015).

A common finding from studies about exclusionary discipline is the high inconsistency in the school climate and teachers' and administrators' attitudes impact school discipline (Skiba, 2014). In 1974, school administrators suspended about 3.7% of students from high school (Petras et al., 2011). The suspension of students grew to 7.6% in 2016 (Kamenetz, 2019). The effectiveness and fairness of the zero-tolerance policies remain in question (Hoffman, 2012). Zero-tolerance policies are one explanation scholars use for disparate discipline, also known as the discipline gap between subgroups (Gregory et al., 2017). Thus, within the past 10 years, school administrators have been under pressure to transform strict discipline policies and find alternate methods (Shah, 2012).

The National Center for Education Statistics (2019) reported public schools retained approximately 2.9% of African American students. Howard (2010) stated a high correlation exists between the retention rate, suspension rate, and dropout rate. These data indicate that "the same group of students who struggle with reading and math proficiency are most likely to be suspended, retained, or subsequently expelled from school" (Howard, 2010, p. 21). President Barack Obama signed Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) in 2015 (Gregory & Fergus, 2017). ESSA specified one way to support school learning is to reduce exclusionary discipline (Gregory & Fergus, 2017).

# School-to-Prison Pipeline

Zero-tolerance policies were originally promoted to prevent youth violence; however, the school-to-prison pipeline began with zero-tolerance policy suspension

(Skiba, 2014, p. 28). The school-to-prison pipeline is a tagline generated by supporters who contend school discipline has progressively become a gateway to the juvenile system and adult prison (Creger & Hewitt, 2011; Kim et al., 2012). The American Civil Liberties Union (n.d.) described the school-to-prison pipeline as a "trend wherein children are funneled out of public schools and into the juvenile and criminal justice systems" (para. 1). One of the unintentional outcomes of zero-tolerance policies is that students suspended or expelled from school increase their risk for contact with the juvenile justice system (Monahan et al., 2014). Hirschfield (2008) noted that zero-tolerance policies "stipulate that students are treated like actual or suspected criminals" (p. 83). The schools and juvenile justice systems have increased their collaboration (Hirschfield, 2008). Having SROs in schools has sometimes led to the criminalization of students for behaviors that schools should handle (American Civil Liberties Union, n.d.).

Cole (2020) indicated the U.S. government supports the school-to-prison pipeline due to budgetary decisions. The funding for prisons increased by 200% from 1987 to 2007. Budgets for higher education grew by 21%. The school-to-prison pipeline primarily impacts African American students, and this representation of African American students suspended from schools mirrors the over-representation of African Americans in America's jails (Cole, 2020).

Cramer et al. (2014) asserted schools should be more precautionary in combatting the school-to-prison pipeline by using cohesive education models. Cramer et al. recommended schools move away from approaches that embody deficit-based perspectives and inclusive, integrated learning models. Price (2009) insisted the school-to-prison pipeline resulted from SROs in schools. The arrest of too many students in the

high school setting may undermine the value of officers in the schools. The school-toprison pipeline can diminish feelings of safety if a student's behavioral misconduct is subject to having to appear in the juvenile justice system.

## Disparate Discipline

On January 8, 2014, the U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights (OCR) and the U.S. Department of Justice Civil Rights Division issued a "Dear Colleague" letter to public elementary and secondary schools. The letter issued guidance for schools to meet their obligations in administering discipline without discriminating. The letter stated,

In their investigations of school discipline, the Departments have noted that the initial referral of a student to the principal's office for misconduct is a decision point that can raise concerns, to the extent that it entails the subjective exercise of unguided discretion in which racial biases or stereotypes may be manifested. If a school refers students for discipline because of their race, the school has engaged in discriminatory conduct regardless of whether the student referred has engaged in misbehavior. And even if the referrals do not ultimately lead to the imposition of disciplinary sanctions, the referrals alone result in reduced classroom time and academic instruction for the referred student. Furthermore, if a sanction from a discriminatory referral becomes part of the student's school record, it could potentially enhance the penalty for subsequent misconduct and follow the student throughout the student's academic career. Therefore, it is incumbent upon a school to take effective steps to eliminate all racial discrimination in initial discipline referrals.

Although the "Dear Colleague" letter was rescinded in December 2018 by U.S. Secretary of Education Betsy DeVos, the racial disparities in school discipline are still present (Gupta, 2018).

Gregory and Fergus (2017) wrote the discipline gap between White and African American students begins in preschool. National data collected in 2014 indicated only 19% of preschool students were African American. However, 47% of the preschool students suspended from school are African American. Race is more of a predictor of disciplinary outcomes than gender (Skiba et al., 2014). In a Losen and Skiba study (2010), the suspension rates of African American male students were 28.3%, and African American female students were 18%. Losen and Skiba further concluded schools suspend both groups at higher rates than White and Hispanic female students. In a study of 11,000 middle school students in 1994, Skiba et al. (2002) explored factors contributing to school discipline disparities and found African American students received referrals to the office for disrespect, insubordination, and defiance. In contrast, White students received referrals for objective violations, including skipping classes, smoking, and fighting. Skiba et al. (2002) concluded African American students were referred more often but were not more disruptive.

Minority students are susceptible to pushout trends (Council of State Governments Justice Center, 2011). Heilbrun et al. (2015) reported students denote an imbalance of penalties. Teachers refer more African American students for less severe and more subjective offenses than White students (Martin et al., 2016). Minority students are more likely to receive punishment based on the use of security cameras and metal detectors (Heilbrun et al., 2015). Martin et al. (2016) examined the disparity between the

administration of discipline between African Americans, Native Americans, and other ethnic groups. They reported the percentage of African Americans disciplined was higher than any other ethnic group. Schools suspend African American male and female students from the school at a much higher rate than any other race (Martin et al., 2016). Minority students frequently receive discipline referrals for alleged disrespect, defiance, and argumentation (Martin et al., 2016). Finn and Servoss (2015) argued the students' race determined the punishment level, not the degree of misbehavior.

In a study by Annamma et al. (2016), African American female students were "punished largely for perceptions of threat, non-compliance, and harm" (p. 230). Whether intentional or not, racial bias impacted the pattern of referrals because the African American female students violated the implicit standards held by teachers and administrators (Annamma et al., 2016). Skiba et al. (2002) claimed individual teachers and administrators perceive harmful and threatening differently. Teachers refer African American female students to the office for behaviors that "reflect common stereotypes" (Annamma et al., 2016, p. 230). Morris (2007) stated punishments directed at African American female students were "aimed to make them more 'ladylike,' yet this same process appeared to discourage behaviors that could lead to educational success" (p. 494). Teachers and administrators lack or have a limited understanding of how racism and race affect African American female students' lives (Annamma et al., 2016).

The experiences associated with suspensions by African American students negatively affect their achievement (Martin et al., 2016). As a result, Cagle (2017) recommended cultural and racial awareness in teachers' and administrators' behavior management training. He encouraged educators to better understand the characteristics of

different cultural groups. Previous studies indicated school administrators punish African American students more harshly than their White peers (Blake et al., 2020; Carter et al., 2017; Children's Defense Fund, 1975; Gregory et al., 2017; Lewis et al., 2010; Losen, 2015; Martin et al., 2016; Musu-Gillette et al., 2016; Skiba et al., 2002, 2011, 2014). When African American students notice differential treatment combined with teachers' low expectations, students and school connections are unlikely (Bradshaw et al., 2010). Without a relationship, the chance of future misconduct and school dropout increase (Bradshaw et al., 2010).

Few studies have focused on African American women's disciplinary experiences (Annamma et al., 2016; Edwards, 2017; Morris, 2007; Watson, 2016; Wun, 2016). According to Brewster et al. (2014), African American males' suspension is for more subjective offenses that challenge authority, such as disrespect, insubordination, and threat. White students receive disciplinary consequences for more objective offenses, such as smoking, skipping, and profanity. White males are less likely to be expelled or suspended than African American males for the same behavior (Mowen, 2014). The same actions considered threatening when committed by African American male students, are often regarded as typical behaviors of White male students (Martin et al., 2016). Data released by the National Center for Education Statistics (2019) indicated African American male students were three times more likely to be suspended during their K12 schooling than White male students and African American female students were over five times as likely to be suspended as White female students.

### Georgia's Black Belt

Initially, *the Black Belt* described the soil fertility in the southeastern states (Evans, 2019). The land was primarily used for cotton and was extremely valuable (Evans). White men controlled the plantations, and enslaved African Americans mainly worked the plantations. Booker T. Washington (1901) wrote in his memoir *Up from Slavery* that since the Civil War, "the term is used wholly in a political sense--that is, to designate the counties where the black people outnumber the white" (p. 3). Thus, the definition of the Black Belt was no longer based on the color of the soil.

In December 1865, Georgia's General Assembly ratified the 13th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, abolishing slavery (Carson, 2003). According to Carson, in 1868, the new state constitution instructed Georgia lawmakers to provide all children a free public education. From 1896 until 1954, *Plessy v. Ferguson* (1896) legalized racial segregation (Evans, 2019). Using the premise of separate but equal, White people restricted the movement of African American people, including in schools (Evans, 2019). However, the schools attended by African American students were inferior to those attended by White students (Carson, 2003). For example, in 1920, Georgia allocated eight times more money for each White student than for each African American student (Carson, 2003).

Following the Supreme Court's decision against separate but equal in *Brown v*. *Board of Education* (1954), legal protection of racial segregation ended. Yet, Georgia made it a felony for any school official to spend money on integrated schools and required all African American teachers to denounce their membership in the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (Carson, 2003). Currently, the Black Belt comprises 69 school districts. Of these districts, approximately 47% of the students in the Black Belt are economically disadvantaged, and 57.9% are African American (Evans, 2019). The school systems in the Black Belt have a median enrollment of 2,227 students, whereas the median registration for schools not in the Black Belt is 4,224 (Evans, 2019).

#### **Rural Schools**

Classifying a school or district as rural can be confusing (The Rural School and Community Trust, 2013). In an article published in 2013, The Rural School and Community Trust discussed the different agencies, grants, and programs that classify schools as rural. The U.S. Department of Agriculture classifies schools as rural for loans and grants if the community population is less than 50,000. The Rural Education Achievement Program has two categories: the Small, Rural School Achievement Program (SRSA) and the Rural and Low-Income School Program (RLIS). The SRSA is for districts with fewer than 600 students or a county population of 10 people per square mile. The RLIS is available to districts with at least 20% of students served from families below the poverty line. National Center for Education Statistics defines every school as rural with a population of less than 25,000 (Brown University, n.d.). The National Center for Education Statistics (2007) began assigning Locale Codes to schools and school districts in 2006 using location and population assistance from the Census Bureau. The Census Bureau defines rural areas as not inside an urbanized area or cluster (National Center for Education Statistics, 2007).

With nearly one-third of schools in Georgia located in a rural setting, Georgia is ranked third nationwide in the number of rural schools, with close to 380,000 students

(Sampson, 2019). Sampson (2019) reported Georgia's rural schools are some of the largest nationally, as often, school systems consolidate rural schools. The schools still serve as the main centers within counties, yet the schools are often not located close to the local communities. Twenty-five percent of school systems in Georgia reported that high school students ride on the school bus over the maximum recommended time of 60 minutes. With students traveling to remote campuses, students and their families have expressed a lack of connection. Students who live in sparsely populated rural communities and have long bus rides are more likely to have unemployed parents, less likely to be classified as gifted, and more likely to have an increased risk of becoming a high school dropout (Sampson, 2019).

Tagami (2019) reported rural school systems to find recruiting and retaining teachers challenging. Tagami cited Alan Richard, a Georgia School Board Association Rural Task Force member, saying, "Georgia has among the lowest levels of spending on instruction for rural students in the country" (para. 4). The staff in rural schools are often limited, and resources are scarce due to a sparse tax base (Sampson, 2019). Without qualified teachers, programming and course offerings are limited, directly impacting student outcomes (Sampson, 2019). The Center for American Progress Action Fund released the 2014 rankings of states, and Georgia was fourth nationwide, with 19% of the state living in poverty (Baron, 2014). Approximately 26.2% of children ages 18 and under live in poverty (Baron, 2014).

## **Theoretical Frameworks**

While constructing my conceptual framework, I realized that there is limited literature containing the stories told by African American women about their experiences

in school. I strengthened my argument with context, previous research, revealing contradictions, and adding new ideas to existing literature (Maxwell, 2013).

CRT was the existing theory included (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016; Yosso et al., 2004). I used CRT to explain racial inequities in schools and how the disparities influence the attitudes, behaviors, and reactions of African American women (Collins, 2019; Crenshaw, 2015). Through this study, I wanted to share African American women's unique stories (Crenshaw, 2015).

# **Critical Race Theory**

CRT surfaced in the 1980s as an offshoot of critical legal studies (Bell, 2016; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2016a, 2016b; Taylor, 2016; Yosso et al., 2004). It is defined as an intellectual and social movement academic framework that denotes that systemic racism is part of American society (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Critical race theorists recognize racism as a permanent part of life in the U.S. (Bell, 2016). Ladson-Billings (2016b) described CRT as a philosophy that unmasks and exposes racism with the hope of achieving racial justice. Yosso et al. (2004) expanded on this idea by noting, "CRT scholars in education have theorized, examined, and challenged how race and racism shape schooling structures, practices, and discourses" (p. 3). Delgado and Stefancic (2017) contended most racism stays hidden under a facade of normality. However, teachers and administrators used CRT to identify and challenge the microaggressions experienced by minorities (Yosso et al., 2004). CRT challenges White experiences as the standard and instead is grounded in the unique experiences of minority races (Ladson-Billings, 2016b; Taylor, 2016). Smith et al. (2007) claimed although CRT was formed initially in terms of African American and White race relations, it has

expanded to include other groups: women (FemCrit), Asian Americans (AsianCrit), Latin American (LatCrit), and Native Americans (TribalCrit).

Taylor (2016) stated reform began to stall after the civil rights movement and the desegregation of schools per Brown v. Board of Education (1954). Judges showed "a general hostility" (Taylor, 2016, p. 2) towards racial policies. Many legal scholars started to publicly condemn the role law played in racially-based oppression (Taylor, 2016). This group of legal scholars included Derrick Bell, Kimberle' Crenshaw, Richard Delgado, Alan Freeman, Lani Guinier, and Charles Lawrence (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016). Derrick Bell was the first African American instructor to become tenured at Harvard Law School (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016). When Bell left Harvard to become the Dean at the University of Oregon Law School, African American students, such as Crenshaw, wanted Harvard to hire an African American professor to teach Bell's class Race, Racism, and American Law (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016). Instead, Harvard hired two noted civil rights attorneys to teach (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016). The students created a course and used Bell's book (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016). Different civil rights scholars, namely Delgado and Lawrence, were invited to teach each week (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Taylor, 2016). The class became "one of the first institutionalized expressions of critical race theory" (Taylor, 2016, p. 3). Crenshaw and David Trubek organized the first CRT workshop at which Bell, Delgado, and others developed CRT and began writing about it (Taylor, 2016). CRT became "a lifeline, the source of an explanatory model, and a wellspring of tools for action" (Taylor, 2016, p. 7). CRT scholars agree on two common themes:

understanding how White supremacy has continued to subordinate minorities and breaking the bond between racial power and law (Crenshaw et al., 1995).

# Tenets of Critical Race Theory

Delgado and Stefancic (2017) describe the five tenets of CRT as the normality of racism, interest convergence, social construction, counterstorytelling, and intersectionality. The number of tenets listed for CRT varies based on the writer.

Normality of Racism. Race is socially constructed and not biologically natural (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). White superiority assumptions are ingrained in educational structures (Delgado & Stefancic). According to Taylor (2016), White supremacy is "allencompassing and omnipresent, it cannot be easily recognized by its beneficiaries" (p. 4). White society cannot comprehend the world that they themselves have created (Taylor). All of their benefits are invisible to them; White people find it challenging to grasp the non-White viewpoint that White dominance has produced (Taylor).

Interest Convergence. Bell (1980) coined the term interest convergence as one of the tenants of CRT. Milner (2008) stated interest convergence occurs when the pursuit of "racial equality and equity for people of color" (p. 333) converges with the needs and ideologies of Whites. According to Bell (1980), civil rights advancements for African Americans corresponded with changing economic conditions and the self-interest of elite White people. When Brown v. Board of Education (1954) reversed the separate but equal doctrine of Plessy v. Ferguson (1896), critical race theorists thought it transpired because, at that time, the appearance of the United States as a racist civilization threatened to weaken its influence abroad (Bell, 1980).

Milner (2008) recommended using interest convergence as a tool in teacher preparation programs to explain race and racism in the school setting. There is tension in interest convergence due to the loss and gain binary (Milner). Bell stated the dominant group often negotiates and gives up something to align the interests. Although Whites support social justice policies, they believe they can alleviate inequalities without altering Whites' status (Bell, 1980). Interest convergence ultimately is the belief that Whites will stomach and spread the interests of African Americans "only when they promote the self-interests of Whites" (López, 2003, p. 84). Therefore, Whites only support African Americans if their interests align (Bell, 1980; López, 2003).

**Social Construction.** As a tenet of CRT, the social construction thesis holds that races are the outcomes of social thought and relations. Delgado and Stefancic (2017) defined social construction as the 'process of endowing a group or concept with a delineation, name, or reality" (p.184). Races do not correspond with any biological reality. Society invented racial groupings to create a hierarchy and a belief in White authority (Ladson-Billings, 2016b).

Counterstorytelling. Stories strengthen and often duplicate dominant cultural perceptions (Williams, 2004). Using narratives or counterstories allows marginalized groups to name their truth (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). According to Grillo and Wildman (1991), narratives are essential because researchers cannot replicate the understanding that personal experiences add. Stories from people of color can reveal gaps in perceptions (Williams, 2004). Marginalized groups use "stories, parables, parody, and satire to tell their experiences" (Williams, 2004, p. 166). Counterstories often expose inconsistencies in a White culture that argument cannot challenge, displacing and

mocking the accepted premises and myths (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Williams, 2004). Delgado and Stefancic (2017) explained narratives through counterstorytelling "reduce alienation for members of excluded groups while offering opportunities for members of the majority group to meet them halfway" (p. 52). Williams (2004) emphasized the value of narratives and storytelling stems from the fact they do not replace one story with another story. Counterstorytelling of African American students can help remind students, teachers, and administrators, not through passive acceptance, of the imbalanced schooling and hostile racial environment of K-12 campuses (Yosso et al., 2004).

Intersectionality. According to Collins (2019), identities such as sexuality, age, race, ethnicity, gender, and class create a unique intersectionality system. Our cultural structures around binaries (e.g., African American and White) make intersectionality a challenge to study (Deliovsky & Kitossa, 2013). Crenshaw (1989) suggested eliminating gender from CRT results in theories that only speak of African American men's experiences. Intersectionality is the belief that people have overlapping traits (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Gillborn (2015) explained intersectionality as a widely used concept in social sciences to address inequality and identity varieties in different settings.

African American women's perspectives, experiences, and circumstances are unique because they face sexism *and* racism (Collins, 2000). Crenshaw (1991) initially coined the term intersectionality to discuss the ways gender and race interact to form multiple dimensions of African American women's experiences. African American women experience racism differently than African American men and sexism differently than White women (Berry & Cook, 2018; Crenshaw, 1991; Lanehart, 2019). Berry and Cook (2018) observed African American women are "no more women than they are

bodies of color" (p. 89). If intersectionality is not acknowledged, African American women will be "forced to choose from a hierarchy of oppressions despite experiencing both racism and sexism" (Berry & Cook, 2018, p. 90). Women cannot choose to be either female or African American; African American women are both (Berry & Cook, 2018). The current study included the intersectionality of race and gender in that it examines the perceptions of African American women on their experiences.

# Critique

While I acknowledge the connection of CRT as a theoretical framework for this study, CRT is not without its critics. CRT critics disparage it because it relies on narratives and storytelling. Opponents include Judge Richard Posner of the U.S. 7th Circuit Court of Appeals, Judge Alex Kozinski of the U.S. 9th Circuit Court of Appeals, and University of Minnesota law professors, Daniel Farber and Suzanna Sherry (Farber & Sherry, 1997; Hutchinson, 2004; Kozinski, 1997; Posner, 1997). Posner (1997) dismissed CRT as "radical legal egalitarianism" (p. 40). The arguments against narratives and counterstorytelling included the fact they are uncontestable, poorly written, and not grounded in empiricism (Farber & Sherry, 1997; Hutchinson, 2004). Robinson (2000) attacked CRT's use of race talk and argued CRT should abandon it as he contended race exists simply because people continually and intentionally think about race. Robinson (2000) also suggested African Americans perpetuate their marginalization when constructing their identities around race. Crenshaw et al. (1995) stated that CRT scholars disagree on doctrines. Yet, despite the attacks, CRT has been around for nearly 40 years.

### **Critical Race Theory in Education**

Gloria Ladson-Billings, William Tate, Daniel Solórzano, and Tara Yosso introduced CRT to K12 education (Ledesma & Calderón, 2015). Applying CRT to educational scholarship is multifaceted. Dixson and Rousseau (2005) asserted the importance of combining contemporary studies with CRT's founding tenets. Ladson-Billings (2005) cautioned scholars about the appeal of CRT and warned about the attraction of the storytelling aspect without CRT's central ideas. Thus, she suggested scholars strive for "richer, more detailed stories that place our stories in more robust and powerful contexts" (Ladson-Billings, 2005, p. 117). The richer, detailed stories offer understanding and opportunities to break down and through existing barriers (Ladson-Billings, 2005).

In K12 education settings, the literature around CRT typically addresses one or more of the following themes: curriculum and pedagogy, teaching and learning, schooling in general, and policy and community engagement (Ledesma & Calderón, 2015). When examining education in general, CRT analyzes how White supremacy shapes practices (Ledesma & Calderón, 2015).

#### Whiteness

According to Ladson-Billings (2016a), the embeddedness of racism uses a new language and is covert. Categories such as middle class, intelligence, and school achievement are related to Whiteness, while Blackness is associated with the underclass, welfare, and gangs (Ladson-Billings, 2016b). Dillard (2020) noted Whiteness is used as a weapon daily in schools, describing the weaponization of Whiteness as a "sense of entitlement, anger, and a need for retaliation, feigned fear and, finally, white fragility" (p.

20). Minor issues can escalate quickly to more severe problems when educators feel challenged, as they often perceive African American students as more insubordinate and defiant than their White peers (Dillard, 2020).

#### **Colorblindness**

Educators often refer to themselves as being *colorblind*, a practice of claiming not to see a student's race yet performing covertly racist acts (Bonilla-Silva, 2014). Bonilla-Silva (2014) called colorblindness the new racism. Mustian (2016) explained, "White people can guiltlessly subscribe to colorblindness because they are usually unaware of how race affects people of color" (p. 82). Mustian contended teachers and administrators do not examine stereotypes and cultural differences in context because colorblindness relates to conflict at an individual level. Teachers and administrators often honestly believe the best way to teach and discipline students is by ignoring race and treating all students equally (Mustian, 2016). Educators' failure to acknowledge different cultural identities makes recognizing unconscious biases challenging (Burke, 2019; Mustian, 2016).

Bonilla-Silva (2014) described the four frames of colorblindness. The frames include abstract liberalism, naturalization, cultural racism, and minimization of racism. Whites use abstract liberalism as a frame when making statements about everyone having equal opportunities and choices. Abstract liberals fail to recognize institutional racism. The naturalization frame rationalizes race issues as naturally occurring, i.e., school and neighborhood segregation is normal. Relying on negative stereotypes, the third frame of colorblindness is cultural racism. Cultural racism blames the victims for racial inequalities due to a lack of effort or values. The last frame of colorblindness, the

minimization of racism, invalidates discrimination and discredits the effect race has on the lives of people of color. Using the frame of minimization, Bonilla-Silva argued Whites believe racism is a part of the past. He continued by proferring Whites accuse African Americans of being hypersensitive. As such, avoiding talking about racism allows Whites to form groups and ignore racial inequities in America.

The lasting effects of colorblindness on students are often as damaging as profiling, racial slurs, and hate crimes (Bonilla-Silva, 2014). Butler-Barnes et al. (2020) suggested African Americans suffer from racial battle fatigue due to colorblindness damage. Racial battle fatigue is racialized microaggressions resulting in prolonged discrimination (Burke, 2019). The stress manifests as anxiety, anger, disappointment, or fear (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020).

# Stereotype

Acts of violence against African Americans became covert following the Civil Rights Act (Brown, 2018). The stereotypes of African Americans drive racial incidents (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020). Butler-Barnes et al. (2020) stated many Whites perceive African Americans as lawbreakers and suspicious, and these stereotypes can result in racial profiling (Crenshaw, 2015). Racial profiling is "the discriminatory practice by law enforcement of targeting individuals suspicious of a crime based on their racial/ethnic group membership, religion, and/or national origin" (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020, p. 110). African Americans are often treated differently based on their ethnic background (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020).

There are four general stereotypes associated with African American women. The first is "Jezebel." A Jezebel is sexually promiscuous and engages in risky behaviors

(Pilgrim, 2012). The Jezebel stereotype negatively affects African American women because they internalize the negativity (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020). "Mammy" is the second stereotype and is subservient (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020; Pilgrim, 2012; Thompson, 2019). African American women report low self-esteem when stereotyped as mammy (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020). An aggressive African American woman is labeled "Sapphire" and is characterized as loud and angry (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020). The last stereotype is the "Strong Black Woman" (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020; Manke, 2019). The strong Black woman is strong and generous (Manke, 2019). Manke (2019) shared Black women are "feeling pressured to act like superwomen, projecting themselves as strong, self-sacrificing, and free of emotion to cope with the stress of race- and gender-based discrimination in their daily lives" (para. 2). A strong Black woman often experiences issues with mental health because of stress and depression (Manke, 2019). According to Butler-Barnes et al. (2020), all four stereotypes harm African American women. Another area that causes stress for African American women is knowing "that others hold negative beliefs and attitudes" (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020, p. 116). This additional stress elevates the levels of anger, anxiety, and depression.

Racist policies and procedures in schools reinforce stereotypes. Teachers decide throughout the school day how to respond to students in both academic and behavioral situations (McIntosh et al., 2014). McIntosh et al. (2014) argued administrators and parents expect teachers to make quick and accurate choices. They base stereotypes on observable characteristics (e.g., race, gender, age, or social class). Morris (2007) studied the perception of African American female students in a middle school. He noted educators focused their attention on the African American female students' conduct and

African American female students as "coarse and overly assertive" (p. 491). When the teachers disciplined the African American female students, it stemmed from their perceptions of the students challenging authority and not being ladylike. Morris added teachers did not want the African American female students to "reflect dominant stereotypes of Black women" (p. 505). Thus, race and gender influence African American female students' unique treatment and stereotypes (Morris, 2007).

## Implicit Bias

Staats et al. (2015) defined implicit biases as ubiquitous and "the attitudes or stereotypes that affect our understanding, actions, and decisions in an unconscious manner" (p. 62). Because implicit biases have enormous repercussions, educators need to identify their biases, take time to understand their biases, and begin to mitigate the biases' effects (Staats et al., 2015). Implicit bias is a decisive factor in the racial disparities in school disciplinary data (Welsh & Little, 2018). Welsh and Little (2018) asserted teachers' expectations, perceptions, and interactions with the student's expectations and perceptions may explain disparities in school discipline. Okonofua et al. (2016) speculated the dynamics between teachers and students often result in a "vicious cycle" (p. 381) of perceptions, biases, and expectations undermining the student-teacher relationship. Bradshaw et al. (2010) held that this broken relationship between students and teachers may explain the lack of connection African American students felt with their school. Okonofua et al. theorized that racially stigmatized students' harsher treatment is biased. Welsh and Little (2018) maintained being treated harsher by teachers leads racially stigmatized students to disengage and mistrust teachers and administrators.

Most educators describe their beliefs as inclusive and equitable for all students (Beachum & Gullo, 2019). Despite educators' explicit beliefs, implicit biases often result in automatically favorable decisions for specific populations (Beachum & Gullo, 2019). Children are subjected to media exposure, parental views, stereotypes, and experiences (Beachum & McCray, 2011; Staats et al., 2015). Neurological categorizations occur when exposure to discriminatory and stereotypical biases is widespread (McIntosh et al., 2014). McIntosh et al. (2014) named the automated decisions produced by categorizing vulnerable decision points (VDP). Vulnerable decision points occur when educators make choices under high stress or incomplete information, and a decision needs to be completed rapidly (McIntosh et al., 2014). The implicit biases during VDP "often tarnishes the choices made by even the least explicitly biased educators" (Beachum & Gullo, 2019, p. 3). Beachum and Gullo (2019) indicated educators could act without bias when they are not rushed and have all the necessary information.

When a student receives a discipline referral, there are several processes involved. The first is that the teacher determined the student misbehaved. Following the determination of misbehavior, the teacher reacts to the behavior. When the administrator receives the discipline referral, they respond to the referral. Anywhere along the way, implicit biases enter the decision-making process. If any of the choices throughout the discipline referral process occur as a VDP, implicit bias can interfere (Beachum & Gullo, 2019).

Kunesh and Noltemeyer (2015) examined the role of stereotypes in the disproportionality of discipline in schools. In the study, teachers read vignettes about a student's behavior and decided on the likelihood of future misbehavior. Most teachers

decided African American students were more likely to misbehave. Gullo (2017) studied the implicit biases of principals and assistant principals regarding school discipline. Gullo linked more severe discipline outcomes for minority students when offenses were subjective to administrators' implicit biases. Kennedy et al. (2017) studied the discipline decision-making experiences of principals and determined principals were concerned with subjectivity and fairness when making decisions. Yet, subjectivity, even when based on the needs of the student, allows implicit biases to impact decisions.

#### **Teacher Bias**

When teachers base their expectations of their students on anything other than prior academic achievement, teacher bias occurs (Casad & Bryant, 2017). Teachers often use race, gender, socioeconomic status, or information gained from another educator or parent as the basis for their biases (Casad & Bryant). Based on these biases, teachers treat students differently (Casad & Bryant). The teacher treats a student more positively if the teacher thinks the student is smart. Conversely, the teacher treats students negatively if the teacher thinks the student is less capable (Casad & Bryant). Often, African American students, female students, and economically disadvantaged students are the target of lower teacher expectations (Casad & Bryant).

Riddle and Sinclair (2019) found educators hold a pro-White and anti-Black implicit bias. Educators of color display lower than average bias compared to White teachers, with African American teachers showing the least anti-Black bias (Riddle & Sinclair). However, there are far fewer African American teachers than White teachers. According to Zippia (2021), there are nearly 4.5 million teachers in the United States and 74.3% are women, and the most common ethnicity of teachers is White (72.3%).

Teachers' implicit biases have possible consequences for students (Quinn, 2017; Starck et al., 2020). Educators' biases might provide biased evaluations of students' academic performance, which can negatively affect African American students through self-fulfilling prophecies (Papageorge et al., 2016). In the study completed by Papageorge et al., educators were largely over-optimistic about students' abilities; however, the amount of over-optimism was greater for White students than African American students. Often students will avoid challenging assignments, reject teacher feedback, and disassociate from school once they perceive educator biases (Steele & Aronson, 1995).

Neal et al. (2003) found that teachers were more likely to perceive African American students who strolled and White students who "acted Black" as have higher rates of aggression and lower academic achievement. Gershenson et al. (2015) used longitudinal data of 10<sup>th</sup> grade students to examine whether the teacher-student race mismatch influenced teachers expectations. African American teachers' academic expectations for African American students were 30-40% higher than those of non African-American teachers (Gershenson et al.).

Gregory et al. (2010) explained that teacher biases contribute to racial disparities in school discipline outcomes. The biases may impact the manner in which White teachers interpret students' behaviors. Ferguson (2020) stated strongly biased teachers are more likely to interpret African American students' behaviors as threatening and discipline the students more harshly.

## **Black Feminist Thought**

A Black feminist perspective considers race and gender to be integrated to such a degree that racial identity determines and accompanies gender identity (Higginbotham,

1992). Alexander-Floyd (2010) stressed the Black feminist viewpoint involves the depiction of Black women's lives. BFT primarily focuses on African American women by interpreting race, gender, and class (Alexander-Floyd, 2010). Collins (2000) built on the concept of intersectionality by arguing society pressures African American women to choose between their identity as African Americans and their identity as women. Collins shared that if an African American woman chooses solidarity with her race, her struggles and identity are lost, and if she chooses solidarity with her gender, her perspective as an African American is lost. Collins further stated African American women are not in control of their image but are often blamed for being the source of their problems.

hooks (2015) contended African American women contributing their stories and experiences was not enough because the development of theory and its application needs to be advanced to eradicate sexism and other forms of oppression. hooks used the term White supremacy rather than racism. She stated racism centers on Whiteness, and White superiority spoke to an individual's relationship to political action. The phrase hooks (2015) used, "White supremacist capitalist patriarchy" (p. 4), examined the interlocking classifications of power in humanity and considered the participation of people of any race, gender, sex, nationality, class, or sexual orientation in maintaining the powers of racism and imperialist involvement. hooks further contended that Euro-American males might not see their class privilege, power, and dominance.

BFT developed in direct opposition to White male insiders (Collins, 2000). One of the critical concepts of BFT is the matrix of domination. According to Collins, the matrix of domination illustrates how oppression is systemically structured. There are four main domains within the matrix of domination: structural, disciplinary, hegemonic, and

interpersonal. The structural domain organizes power and oppression, while the disciplinary domain manages the oppression. Oppression legitimizes the hegemonic domain, and the interactions of individuals are controlled in the interpersonal domain (Collins, 2000).

Collins (1986) wrote, "As outsiders within, Black feminist scholars may be one of many distinct groups of marginal intellectuals whose standpoints promise to enrich contemporary sociological discourse" (p. S15). Being the outsider-within gives African American women a unique perspective on social, intellectual, economic, and political realities (Collins, 2000) Although males of any race and While females marginalize African American women, the African American women deliver a nuanced viewpoint to feminist and social thought (Collins, 2000). Stereotypical images and representations of African American women continue to normalize oppression (Collins). The controlling images include the mammy and the jezebel as well as others. The resistance shown by African American women to the stereotypes and images was integral in the development of BFT. Even with progress in the advancement of BFT, there is a struggle in inserting pragmatically balanced epistemology about African American women in a While male dominant world (Collins, 2000).

#### Summary

When exploring the causalities of racial disparities in school discipline and the starting point of the school-to-prison pipeline, much of the current literature references male students and African American male students. Zero-tolerance policies have increased the number of suspensions since the late 1990s. The addition of SROs in

schools increased school-related arrests and further pushed students into the juvenile justice system.

CRT examines implicit bias, stereotypes, and colorblindness. BFT gives a voice to women who previously had to choose whether to identify with African Americans or identify with a feminist. Selecting to identify solely with either group suppresses the experiences of the other group.

The next chapter discusses the methodology and conceptual frameworks for the current study under investigation. I used narrative inquiry and framed the study with CRT and BFT. I described the setting and how the participants were purposefully selected.

Also, I discussed the methods for collecting data and analyzing the data.

### **Chapter III**

## Methodology

Educators often lack understanding of how discipline policies affect African American female students because teachers' and administrators' perceptions of African American female students' experiences are often flawed (Annamma et al., 2016). In this study, I focused on how previously suspended or expelled African American female students experienced life and school while suspended and following suspension. The purpose of this study was to investigate African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and the impact exclusionary discipline had on their education. In this chapter, I present the research question and explore the study's design.

## **Research Question**

The following research question guided this study:

Research Question - What are the life and school experiences of African

American female students with exclusionary discipline in selected rural South Georgia schools?

### **Research Design and Rationale**

The purpose of this study was to investigate African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and the impact exclusionary discipline had on their education. I used a qualitative study to investigate these issues from the perspective of African American female students. According to Kim (2016), qualitative researchers focus "on understanding human action through interpretation rather than prediction and control" (p. 22). I gathered the participants' perspectives from their words.

The qualitative research approach was the most suitable research method for this study. According to Merriam (2002), qualitative researchers are concerned with understanding the constructions and interpretations "at a particular point in time and in a particular context" (p. 4). Qualitative research includes collecting and analyzing non-numerical data to understand complex concepts, views, or experiences (Merriam). I gathered in-depth insights into a pervasive race problem and generated new ideas to help schools solve student discipline issues. As a qualitative researcher, I was the primary instrument in research because I filtered all observations, interpretations, and analyses through multiple lenses, including my personal and professional experiences, my understanding of the literature, and my interactions with the participants whom I knew outside of this study.

I used a narrative inquiry, defined as a common, qualitative method used to study a human's experiences, according to Connelly and Clandinin (1990). "People live stories and in the telling of them reaffirm them, modify them, and create new ones" (Clandinin & Connelly, 1994, p. 415). Thus, narrative inquiry constructs and reconstructs personal stories (Connelly & Clandinin, 1990). Life narratives are first person accounts told in story form (Merriam, 2002). Connelly and Clandinin (1990) claimed, "Humans are storytelling organisms who, individually and socially, lead storied lives" (p. 2). Kim (2016) stated narratives incorporate "the feelings, goals, perceptions, and values of the people whom we want to understand" (p. 36). Thus, stories become the raw data using a narrative inquiry as a research method (Butina, 2015; Priest et al., 2002).

At its essence, narrative inquiry is an approach that intensifies the voices and experiences of individuals whose stories might otherwise not be shared (Clandinin,

2016). Narrative inquiry draws on the individual's experiences to capture the audience's imagination (Clandinin, 2016). Clandinin described four words within the narrative inquiry framework: lives, telling, retelling, and reliving. First, the participant lives out the experience they share with the researcher. Second, participants share their experiences by telling the story as the events occur or retelling the story later. Finally, retelling the story can lead to the participant reliving the experience when they share it. When participants retell the story, rather than nesting the story in spatial, social, and temporal contexts when the event occurred, it is nested in the current context.

CRT is a method of investigating race and racism (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Using a qualitative study, CRT provides a "window by which to analyze a project aimed at confronting the systemic effects of racism" (Stovall, 2005). When using CRT, the researcher stresses the value of discovering a way for diverse people to communicate their experiences (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). CRT focuses on individuals affected by racism and those who perpetrate and are seemingly unaffected by racial prejudice.

According to Bhambra (2017), CRT reminds us of the omnirelevance of race. Although race is not always the single "determining factor of a given inequality" (Bhambra, 2017, para. 5), studies are incomplete without discussing race and the importance of understanding inequality regimes.

### **Setting**

Participants in this study were current or former students in a rural public school system in South Georgia. I used the pseudonym Center System School District (CSSD). According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2019), the identified county in rural South Georgia had roughly 44,451 people, with 57.6% of the population listed as White, 36.2% African

American, 3.9% Hispanic, and 2.3% as other races. The median income for households in the county was \$43,740, with 18% of the population living in poverty. According to the latest data from the Georgia Department of Education (2021), the three high schools in CSSD had 1,808 students in grades 9-12. The student population was comprised of 51.7% female students and 48.3% male students, 54.7% White, 33.5% African American, 7.2% Hispanic, and 4.51% classified as other (Georgia Department of Education, 2021).

CSSD's secondary school demographics mimicked those of the county. The breakdown was as follows: 113 faculty members, of which 70 were women and 43 were men. The faculty had 98 White teachers, 11 African American teachers, and four Hispanic teachers. Through the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA, n.d.)

Community Eligibility Provision (CEP), school breakfast and lunch were free to all students (USDA). Community Eligibility Provision allowed Center System to claim 100% of students as economically disadvantaged. Center System's graduation rate in 2019-2020 was 90.2% (Georgia Department of Education, 2021).

The Georgia Department of Education (GaDOE) awarded high schools in Center System between three-star and four-star climate ratings in the 2019 College and Career Ready Performance Index (Georgia Department of Education, 2019). The GaDOE calculates the School Climate Star Rating using the Student Health Survey, School Personnel Survey, Parent Survey, student discipline data, and attendance records for students, faculty, and staff. The GaDOE uses the following factors to measure student discipline data: student drug-related incidents, violent incidents, and bullying and harassment incidents. It also includes in-school suspension, OSS, expulsions, and placements at alternative schools. The GaDOE has not released new data because the

U.S. Department of Education approved GaDOE to waive the Every Student Succeeds
Act (ESSA) requirement of reporting assessments and accountability data due to COVID19 (Georgia Department of Education, n.d.).

## **Traditional High School**

The traditional high school in the Center System had 1,560 students in grades 9-12 in the 2021-2022 school year. The school ran a seven-period day with classes lasting 50 minutes. Students took English, mathematics, science, and social studies courses along with their choice of three additional elective classes. Elective classes include Career, Technical, and Agriculture Education (CTAE), Advanced Placement, foreign language, fine arts, and physical education.

The bell schedule allotted five minutes between classes for students to get to the next class. There were three different lunch periods (A, B, and C) of 30 minutes each. Each lunch period accommodates approximately 500 students. The hallway determined lunch assignments for students based on the location of their fifth period class. Students sat in either the lunchroom, commons area (courtyard in the center of the school campus), or the media center. The school day began at 8:00 a.m. and ended at 3:05 p.m.

There were seven administrators assigned to the traditional high school. Two administrators reviewed 9<sup>th</sup> grade discipline, one administrator each for tenth and eleventh grade, and one administrator for twelfth grade. The Dean of Students reviews students' grades and conferences with students about graduation plans. At the time of the interviews, the school employed three guidance counselors. There were two school resource officers assigned to the traditional high school also.

When the traditional high school suspended a student out of school, the student, parent, guidance counselor, and assistant principal met following the suspension. All parties signed a behavior intervention plan (BIP). The BIP served as a contract between all parties to help the student succeed at the traditional high school. As part of the BIP, the student met with the counselor at least once a month, attended all classes, completed all assignments, and treated all students and faculty with respect. The school members agreed to provide tutoring and counseling. Violation of the BIP did not automatically mean the administrators at the traditional high school asked for placement of the student at the alternative school. Students accumulated a variety of discipline events. The administrators asked for a tribunal hearing for some students immediately after the student violated the BIP and other students accumulated several smaller discipline referrals.

A tribunal panel consists of administrators from other schools in CSSD. During the tribunal process, the student pleads either guilty or not guilty of the offense. If the student pleads not guilty, the school presents the offense(s) committed by the student to the tribunal panel. The student and parents can tell their side to the panel. The panel determines from the evidence presented whether the student is guilty or not guilty. If the panel finds the student not guilty, the student returns to school at the end of the suspension. If the panel finds the student guilty, the school recommends a punishment to the tribunal panel. The punishment can range from time served during suspension to expulsion. The student and parents recommend a punishment they feel is fair. The tribunal panel decides the punishment, which is often placement at the CSSD alternative school.

The school system offers students and parents the opportunity to sign a waiver instead of going before the tribunal panel. The waiver states the student admits guilt and accepts placement at the alternative school for the time recommended by the school administrator.

#### **Charter School**

Originally, the Center System charter school admitted only 100 students at a time. Beginning in the 2021-2022 school year, the charter school increased its enrollment to 200. Students applied for acceptance to the charter school. A lottery system was in place because there were more students applying for admission than there were open slots. The charter school is located in a building adjacent to the CSSD board office. Students at the charter school attended school from 8:25 – 2:25. Students attended six 55 minute classes each day. The school had two lunch periods (A and B). Each lunch period accommodated 100 students. The charter school had two administrators and a part-time counselor. Students wear khakis and a black or green shirt with the school's crest on it.

The charter school did not have in-school suspension as a punishment for discipline incidents. For serious offenses, students received out of school suspension or parental suspension. Parental suspension means the student remains at home until the parent attends a parent conference with the school administrators. During the parent conference, the parent, student, counselor, and administrator signed a behavior intervention plan (BIP). The BIP served as a contract between the parties to help the student succeed at the charter school. Both the traditional high school and the charter school use the same BIP. When the student violates the BIP at the charter school, the administrators either send the student back to the traditional high school or send the

student before a tribunal panel. The charter school utilizes the same protocol for tribunal panels as the traditional high school.

CSSD places students at the alternative school either by tribunal hearing or by a waiver. If a student commits an offense deemed by the traditional or charter schools to be a zero-tolerance discipline event, the school suspends the student out of school with the possibility of having to go before a tribunal panel.

## **Alternative School**

Center System's alternative school is also located adjacent to the CSSD board office. School administrators recommend that students be placed at the alternative school. The student either signs a waiver agreeing to a set amount of time to attend the alternative school or goes before a tribunal panel. The tribunal panel determines the length of time a student is assigned to the alternative school.

Students attending classes at the alternative school must enter each morning through a metal detector. While entering the school, teachers at the alternative school check student attire. Students wear a uniform at the alternative school consisting of khaki pants and either white or blue polo shirts. Students attend six 55 minute classes from 8-2:30. Students attend academic classes in two rooms. The students change rooms after lunch. The alternative school and the charter school share a gymnasium. Ninth grade students take Health and Personal Fitness in the gymnasium. The school does not provide transportation for regular education students. CSSD provides busing for special education students assigned to the alternative school.

Some students take online classes instead of attending school in person. There are a variety of reasons behind students attending school virtually, including the students

may be a threat to other students. Virtual alternative school students must successfully complete a semester of classes in person before being allowed to return to the traditional high school or transition to the charter high school.

The administrator at the alternative school will lengthen a student's time should the student participate in a discipline event. The alternative school principal utilizes ISS, OSS, and expulsion for discipline events. Students who continue to break the rules at the alternative school or violate a zero-tolerance rule (e.g., drugs, alcohol, or weapons) go before the tribunal panel. The tribunal panel can recommend the virtual alternative school, night school, or expulsion if the panel finds the student guilty.

# **School Resource Officers (SROs)**

The traditional high school employs two school resource officers (SROs), and the alternative and charter schools share an SRO. The SROs are sheriff's deputies assigned to the schools. SROs act as a liaison between the school system and the sheriff's office. Students seek advice about legal issues from the SROs. When a disciplinary event involves a law being broken, school administrators consult the SROs for guidance.

## **Discipline Data**

During the 2021-2022 school year, administrators in CSSD suspended 369 students. African American students comprised 59% of the students suspended from school using zero-tolerance policies. African American female students comprised 27% of the suspensions compared to 9% of White female students. The traditional high school placed 46 students at the alternative school by waiver or tribunal hearing. Forty-six percent of students sent to the alternative school were African American female students. Administrators at the traditional high school did not place any White female students at

the alternative school from the traditional high school. The charter high school suspended 43 students from school for offenses including vaping, fighting, and threatening others. In contrast, the CSSD charter school suspended more White students from school than African American students. However, the charter school sent more than twice as many African American students to the alternative school as White students. Administrators suspended White students for non-subjective violations such as possession of vapes. In comparison, the African American students' discipline events included more subjective offenses (e.g., disrespect, insubordination, fighting, and threats).

Table 1 provides disposition counts for each race and gender from the CSSD in grades K12. CSSD's Information Systems Coordinator provided the discipline data. The data did not include students' names, only gender and race. Currently, CSSD only marks gender for students based on biological sex. The code of conduct for CSSD has 22 offenses, resulting in students' automatic suspension from school (see Appendix A).

 Table 1

 Center System School District Discipline Data

Demographics	OSS	Alternative Placement
Male Students	224	55
African American	115	34
White	78	16
Hispanic	13	1
Multi-racial	16	1
Asian	2	0
Female Students	145	29
African American	101	24
White	32	3
Hispanic	4	0
Multi-racial	8	2

# **Participant Selection**

According to Maxwell (2013), purposeful selection is a strategy that deliberately selects participants to "provide information that is particularly relevant to your questions and goals, and that can't be gotten as well from other choices" (p. 97). The population for my study comprised African American female secondary students in South Georgia.

Principals from three CSSD high schools recommended students to contact because they met the participation requirements for the study. I contacted the potential participants via email and asked if they were interested in participating in a research study about the experiences of African American female students previously suspended

from school at least once during high school. I emailed 24 current and former students. I knew all the participants because they all attended CSSD traditional high school at some point during their high school years. I worked as an assistant principal at CSSD traditional high school.

Finally, six participants agreed to participate and be interviewed. The participants gave me permission to access their attendance, academic, discipline, and enrollment records via Infinite Campus, the school information system. The participants' school records provided background information about their experiences in high school. The participants and I looked over the documents and discussed grades, enrollment, and behavior incidents. I protected participant identities by using pseudonyms, which the participants approved. I based my selection criteria on age, race, gender, and school suspension. Homogenous sampling involves selecting a small group of similar participants, and group characteristic sampling helped me "reveal and illuminate important group patterns" (Patton, 2015, p. 267). I purposefully and homogeneously selected six participants for this study. See Table 2 for general information about the participants. Participants were at least 18 years old and current or former students of an identified South Georgia high school in CSSD.

 Table 2

 Research Participant General Information

Participant	Age	Number of Discipline Events	Discipline Resolutions	Graduation	Current Status
Imani	19	7	Alternative School	Alternative School	Unemployed

Precious	19	35	OSS	Charter School	Attended Technical School/Worked at FLP
Aliyah	20	4	Alternative School	Alternative School	Worked at Walgreens
Shanice	19	3	OSS	Traditional High School	Worked at Ellianos
Tiara	18	9	Alternative School	Traditional High School	Not employed
Nekia	18	10	OSS	Traditional High School	Worked at Walmart

Note. OSS refers to Out of School Suspension

I used narrative inquiry in this research to record the experiences and perceptions of African American female participants. The participants were suspended or expelled while in high school. According to Patton (2015), a minimum sample size will keep the participants' voices from becoming fragmented. I interviewed six participants. I stopped recruiting participants when I reached data saturation. The participants shared many of the same experiences and perceptions. I interviewed two participants from each high school in the CSSD. There was some overlap as participants at the alternative school first attended the traditional high school; I wanted to ensure the data was information rich (Patton, 2015). Before the first interview began, participants provided verbal consent. I used interviews as my primary source of collecting data.

## Instrumentation

I interviewed six African American female students. Patton (2002) stated the research study's credibility depends on the researcher's skill. Ary et al. (2019)

I rephrased questions or asked more questions for further clarification. During the COVID-19 pandemic, participants had the option of being interviewed via video teleconferencing or in person. As participants answered the questions, I observed the participants. By providing the participants with choices, participants and I found quiet spaces to explore their experiences and the chance to share openly. I interviewed each participant twice and used an audio recorder to record responses. Open-ended research questions allowed the participant to take any direction because I did not ask leading questions (Seidman, 2019). According to Patton (2015), "we interview people to find out from them those things we cannot directly observe and to understand what we've observed" (p. 426). Patton explained interviewing allows us to view the world from others' perspectives. Therefore, these data collected included narratives and context (Merriam, 2002).

I maintained a running record of anecdotal notes and memos in my research journal throughout the research process. I wrote my reflections in a research journal from the beginning of this study. Memoing allowed me to participate with the information at a depth that may otherwise have been difficult to achieve (Birks et al., 2008). I used memos to clarify my thinking and provide a mechanism for articulating assumptions and the participants' perspectives. While journaling, I recorded anything that came to mind about my research, ensuring ideas were not lost. I also recorded thoughts and feelings that might have felt irrelevant at the time because those ideas may have proved significant later. Birks et al. (2008) shared memos are essential to initiating and maintaining productivity. I recorded and transcribed the interviews, and

participants read the transcripts for verification. Information observed during the interviews was included in the research journal.

My experience with school discipline provided the background that contributed to selecting the research topic and may have influenced my perceptions and interpretations of the participants' responses. In qualitative studies, the researcher's beliefs and experiences influence her perceptions of the data collected (Patton, 2015). My background includes a specialist degree in educational leadership. At the time of the interview, part of my responsibilities at my school included handling discipline issues. My experience in this area may have influenced my perceptions and interpretations of the participants' responses.

#### **Data Collection**

Narrative inquiry is not about looking at a story to find the truth; rather, it is about finding the truth in a story (Bell, 2002). I began collecting data in August 2021. I received the names of potential participants from principals at the CSSD high schools. I conducted the first interview in October 2021. I conducted the last interview in February 2022. I continued communication with the participants via text messages throughout the data analysis phase. I collected data through May 2022.

Using narrative inquiry as an approach, I amplified African American female participants' voices and experiences. I utilized semi-structured interviews when I interviewed the participants twice. The interviews were two to three weeks apart from each other. In the first interview, I asked the participants to share their childhood experiences in the first interview. During the second interview, I asked the participants to describe the disciplinary events that resulted in their being suspended out of school.

Participants also shared during the second interview their school experiences overall. One participant left the second interview after 15 minutes. She requested that I email her the questions I wanted her to answer. The two interviews provided a rich view of the participants' childhood and educational experiences.

I developed interview guides for this study. The interview guide allowed me to "solicit narrative yet keep consistency and structure in the interview process" (Butina, 2015). I asked open-ended questions with additional probing questions (Bolderston, 2012) in everyday language to encourage storytelling on the student's perspective of their suspension experience: punishment type, due process, academic impact, and relationship with teachers, administrators, and SROs. Open-ended questioning allowed the participants "to voice their thoughts, beliefs, attitudes, and opinions in a structured discussion" (Carter Andrews et al., 2019, p. 2542). The questions were specifically aimed at drawing information centered on the research questions for this study.

Interviews occurred in public locations selected by the participants or via

FaceTime. The first interview's objective was to place participants' "experience into the
context of their life history" (Seidman, 2019, p. 21) by having them communicate about
themselves. I asked participants to reconstruct their experiences in the community and
with peers. During the second interview, participants discussed the high school
atmosphere and described the events that led to their suspensions. I asked the participants
to recreate the "feelings, perceptions, and actions" (Seidman, 2019, p. 22) associated with
their experiences during the day of and days following the suspension(s) or expulsion.

I audio recorded all interviews. After I transcribed the audio recordings, I reviewed them for accuracy against the recordings. I deleted the recordings. Seidman

(2019) stated audio recordings are beneficial because they preserve the words of participants. When the researcher needs clarification on a transcript, she can return to the original audio recording (Seidman, 2019). CSSD's code of conduct provided definitions and guidance for each type of discipline referral.

I maintained a research journal to record any ideas and impressions I noted during the interviews or through the transcription of interviews. I shared interview transcripts with each participant to verify and authenticate these data. After each interview, I immediately recorded my thoughts about the interview and the participant. The journal provided a place to note follow-up questions. The journal entries were for my use only, and I did not share them with the participants. When I began interpreting these data, a personal summary of each participant and her story allowed me to concentrate on each participant individually in context (Savin-Baden & Niekerk, 2007).

I collected documents related to participants' experiences at Center System. The participants agreed to let me access their academic, attendance, and discipline records. As an employee of CSSD, after I obtained the participants' permission, I then obtained permission from the superintendent to view the students' documents also. The documents provided additional insight into the students' academic performances and attendance prior to and after their suspensions. In particular, I collected the participants' transcripts, discipline records, academic records, enrollment records, and attendance records from CSSD to augment my data. I used the documents to gain background information about the participants' school experiences. The participants and I examined the documents together, and participants provided explanations and commentary about grades, enrollment, and attendance. This study's other integral documents included CSSD's

discipline data, code of conduct, and district policies. I used the CSSD documents to aid in describing the policies that led to the suspension of the participants and to demonstrate the disparities in discipline events.

## **Data Analysis**

I used coding to analyze the narratives from the participants (Saldaña, 2016). I analyzed the data using verbatim interviews to create themes. I analyzed the data through cycles of coding using a Black Feminist Thought (BFT) approach utilizing the participants' "specialized knowledge" (Madison, 1993, p. 213). The cycles of coding included In Vivo and Focused (Saldaña, 2016). Madison (1993) described specialized knowledge as elements and themes of Black women's culture. I generated a comprehensive list of codes from the extensive data. I then utilized a more focused list of codes and extracted categories to form major themes (Charmaz, 2014).

To complete qualitative data analysis, the researcher should describe the context, develop sequential themes, and ground the literature's information through tables and discussion (Creswell, 2014). Kim (2016) described the narrative inquiry as distinctive in that the analysis and findings come in the form of creating the narrative itself. After analyzing the transcripts, I conducted an important investigation of the experiences by pulling upon stirring topics from each participant's experiences. Narrative analysis is appropriate for understanding the human experience through a story (Saldaña, 2016).

## **Data Coding**

Before completing the transcriptions, Maxwell (2013) stressed that researchers need to listen to recordings of participants' interviews several times. Prior to coding, I purposefully listened to the interviews, and I took notes while listening. According to

Saldaña (2016), coding reduces data by assigning a word or phrase to capture a portion of data and make these data more manageable. Data in this study completed coding cycles to propagate a deeper understanding of data (Saldaña, 2016).

In the first cycle of coding, I familiarized myself with the transcripts. I immersed myself in the data by repeatedly reading the transcripts. Braun and Clarke (2006) recommended reading the transcripts at least once before attempting to code anything. With the second reading, I used In Vivo coding. Saldaña (2016) stated In Vivo coding honors the participants' voices while allowing the researcher to "ground the analysis in their perspectives" (p. 71). Rather than generating codes from my own words and phrases, In Vivo coding allowed me to use the direct language of the participants as codes. I read the participants' transcripts line-by-line and highlighted words or phrases that captured the meaning. The notes provided me with ideas to revisit in future coding phases. While not all participants used the exact same language, I was able to find similar wording in the transcripts. I constructed a master list of codes based on my notes from the In Vivo coding. I worked through the interview transcript methodically and identified interesting pieces in the transcripts. Braun and Clarke (2006) recommended, "identifying interesting aspects in the data items that may form the basis of repeated patterns (themes) across the data set" (p.18). I coded as many potential themes as possible. I created 54 codes initially. In Table 3, I include examples of initial codes. I was not concerned about creating too many codes because I would condense the number of codes in the next coding cycle.

**Table 3**Examples of Some of the Initial Codes Used

RM	Raised by mom
NC	No contact with dad
GP	Relationship with grandparents
HS	Half-siblings
MW	Mom works
BF	Mom is best friend
LO	Loud
FA	False accusation
RA	Racism
RB	Racial bias
GT	Good teaching

During the second coding cycle, I condensed the codes into manageable categories using focused coding. I put data similarly coded into tentative categories (e.g., stereotypes, unfairness, racial bias, and not looking weak). In Table 4, I list examples of tentative categories.

Table 4

Example of Tentative Categories

Category: Stereotypes				
I feel like Black people come off stronger and louder. Because that's how mom is, she will yell, but she doesn't think she is yelling. It is just how she talks.	Stereotypes: Loud			
We are big and cannot hide.	Stereotypes: Dress			
Others walk around in the same outfit, and no one sends them to the office. It is always us, 'thick girls' getting in trouble.	Stereotypes: Dress			
Category: Not Looking Weak				
At some point, every girl fights. I don't know a girl that hasn't fought except those trying to act White.	Not Looking Weak: Every girl fights			

If you don't fight, you are labeled a snitch and weak.	Not Looking Weak: Not a snitch
Girls use fighting to prove they ain't scared.	Not Looking Weak: Every girl fights

The final stage of narrative thematic analysis was making meaning of the data (Creswell, 2014). I studied the categories and their corresponding codes to create overarching themes. I show the themes with supporting quotes from the participants in Table 5. When I placed the coded data under themes and subthemes, I was mindful that the importance of the themes was not determined by the frequency a topic was mentioned (Braun & Clarke, 2006). I returned to the data to check for additional quotes that reflected the themes. I discarded some themes because they had little data to support them. I combined other themes or included them as sub-themes. Finally, I further developed themes and offered the findings. During this stage, I incorporated the narratives in order to provide a story that revealed depth and meaning.

Table 5

Themes with Supporting Commentary

Theme	Participant	Supporting Commentary
Strained Relationships	Imani	I feel like kids with a reputation get harsher
		punishments.
	Precious	My relationship with my dad is kind of iffy;
		it's not a really strong relationship. I talk to
		him like every blue moon, and I see him
		like every blue moon, like on family
		evenings.
	Aliyah	The incident didn't even happen at school.
		It shouldn't have even came to the school.
	Shanice	I felt like nobody cared.
	Tiara	The metal detectors at the alternative school
		were like I was a criminal; I was no
		criminal.
	Nekia	My mama basically told her that she can't
		help how Nekia feelsI thought that she

was racist because she would always pick on me about something, and then them three [White girls] will be doing the same thing, and she won't say nothing to them.

Power of One Imani Ms. Grisham (pseudonym) never held a

grudge against me for the way I acted that

day in her class.

Precious It's her personality too, like she's just nice and

like she helps you out a lot.

Aliyah She was always on top of me, gave me work,

just threw it at me like, do this so you can

graduate early, I believe in you

Shanice I loved that class. I only took it when she was

there. I feel like she just had a better connection with her students. I was so sad when she left. We were actually doing something that was

Tiara We were actually doing something the

entertaining and wasn't boring

Nekia In Ms. Martin's class, she's hard on you, but she

was hard on you because she knew that you could do it and that you have the potential to do

it

Fighting to Survive Imani ISS and OSS ain't gonna stop people from

fighting. Back in the day, we didn't act like, putting everything on SnapChat. I don't think the COVID shutdown helped anyone

get along better.

Precious I feel like you really can't stop the fights.

That's just how, like children and all like, they don't, they are not mature enough to know what should they, like cause they get into an argument or something, they don't know how to just leave it alone or just

ignore it so.

Aliyah Get in a fight, alternative school but I

wouldn't put ISS or OSS because the students, the kids are still gone fight.

Shanice People are not gonna get away with talking

about me and mines.

Tiara They not, they're just not gonna just walk

away. Because people really hold that

against you.

Nekia Black people nowadays want to fight about

everything. The thing is that they beef it and y'all don't know nothing about, like they can walk past each other directly, like in the

#### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

Trustworthiness refers to the quality of research. The four criteria of trustworthiness are credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Credibility is the expectation that the study's outcomes are approved by the participants and believable to critical readers (Kimmons, 2022). Transferability is the expectation that the study findings apply to other contexts and situations. Dependability is the expectation that methods, logic, and reasoning are clear, stable, and consistent. Confirmability is the expectation that I base the findings on the participants' responses, not potential bias or personal motivations. I used member checking, thick descriptions, peer review, and an audit trail to build trustworthiness.

Merriam (2002) stated that by explaining the researcher's positionality, readers would better understand how the researcher reached the analyses of the data. I informed the participants of the purpose of the interviews. I believe I built a rapport with each of the African American female participants allowing me to enter the participant's world (Charmaz, 2014).

Member checking is certifying accuracy in transcription, data analysis, and data representation (Birt et al., 2016). Member checking is an essential practice for establishing credibility (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Participants generally appreciate the member check process because it allows them to verify their statements and fill gaps (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I shared all transcripts and drafts with the participants to ensure a shared meaning before presenting the narrative inquiry to the dissertation committee or

the public. I corrected any inaccuracies mentioned by the participants. For example, I initially wrote that Imani did not choose to participate in the graduation ceremony at the alternative school. Imani caught the mistake, and I corrected it. In the narrative for Aliyah, I wrote that she attended the alternative school in person after she completed a semester virtually. Aliyah corrected the narrative. Aliyah never attended classes in person; she only met with the alternative school director in person.

Thick, detailed descriptions are consistent with qualitative research (Geertz, 1973). Qualitative research requires deeply detailed accounts of one's research to check for potential applications to other times, places, people, and contexts (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I wrote detailed narratives explaining situations and background contexts. I described a situation and provided background information necessary for understanding the relevance, meanings, and intentions of the interactions with the participants (Holloway, 1997).

Peer review and debriefing includes peers reviewing and providing input during the research (Creswell, 2014). Peers in this study included my dissertation committee.

This technique kept me honest by having an independent peer highlight any implications. In addition, having peers review analytic procedures and claims was helpful to attaining additional viewpoints (Creswell).

## **Ethical Considerations**

I submitted a request for Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval from Valdosta State University (VSU) to gain the proper permissions for my research to begin (see Appendix B). Once I had IRB approval at VSU, participant contact, recruitment, and data collection began. I revealed the purpose of the study to the participants and read the

consent statement to all participants before each interview (see Appendix C). I ethically conducted this study and ensured fair treatment of all study participants. I made sure all participants were treated with respect. This study involved sensitive subjects, including racism and sexism. I was fully aware that using interviews to collect data would invade privacy. All participants were allowed to terminate their participation at any point in the research and for any reason. I used pseudonyms to protect the identity of the participants. I guaranteed strict confidentiality throughout the research and the dissertation's eventual completion by keeping all interview transcripts, recordings, and participants' school records in a locked filing cabinet in my home.

I stored all audio recordings in a password-protected folder cloud storage created explicitly for this study. I deleted the recordings once I transcribed them and after the participants approved the transcripts. Each participant was aware of all data collection and interview methods from the beginning of the study. I avoided overstating my results or overgeneralizing them. I reflected on my processes and examined my beliefs as a White, middle-aged female school administrator to ensure the participants' voices were the ones being heard and not my own. Finally, I was aware of the state of Georgia's Code of Ethics and remained in direct compliance with them.

## **Chapter Summary**

In this chapter, I described the research design, research setting, participant selection, data collection, and data analysis used in this study. In addition, I discussed potential biases and ethical issues that may skew my results. The chapter also included measures of validity.

#### **Chapter IV**

#### **Narratives of African American Females Students**

Few researchers have attempted to analyze which facets of African American female students' status and social standing in the school setting make them more susceptible to disparate discipline rates by race (Blake et al., 2010, Crenshaw et al., 2015; Morris & Perry, 2017; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017). Disparate discipline occurs when students belonging to a particular demographic group are exposed to disciplinary measures at a greater rate than students in other demographic groups (National Center for Safe Supportive Learning, 2021). African American female students have higher rates of OSS than White female students (Blake et al., 2010; Crenshaw et al., 2015; Morris & Perry, 2017; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017). Thus, hearing the narratives of African American female students' discipline experiences in school is critical because they express being ignored. Through this narrative inquiry, I examined the experiences of identified African American female participants as they dealt with the disproportionality problems concerning disciplinary measures they experienced in the CSSD high schools in rural South Georgia. I administered in-person and FaceTime interviews based on participant choice. A flexible interview structure allowed for a basic questioning structure augmented by occasional clarifying and elaboration questions. After each interview, I asked participants to verify transcripts and bring to light any errors.

The following participant profiles provide detailed background narratives, including family and school experiences. See Table 1 in chapter 3 for participants' demographic data.

## **Participants' Narratives**

#### Imani

Imani was an African American woman who was 19 at the time of the interview. She graduated from the CSSD alternative school in May 2021. I interviewed Imani via FaceTime for both interviews. At the time of both interviews, Imani lived in Tallahassee, Florida. The first interview took place in October 2021, and the second interview was in November 2021. When we connected through FaceTime the first time, Imani immediately walked outdoors to speak with me. Imani lived in an apartment with one of her sisters and her sister's children. Throughout the interview, there were sounds of cars riding on the road. In the beginning, Imani only showed a portion of her face. As we continued to talk, Imani put her entire face on the camera.

Imani lived with her sisters and her retired maternal grandmother until her grandmother died in 2008 when Imani was 6 years old. Imani said she never knew how her grandmother died and that her biological mother was not "a motherly figure."

However, after her grandmother died, Imani and her sisters lived with their mother. Imani stated that her mother tried to start acting as a mother should, but "it was too late." Imani still had not "completely accepted her." Imani asserted her sisters "basically raised her."

She said her relationship with her mother is "still kind of rocky because I'm 19 now, so you want to come in and try to be a mother figure, but when I needed that the most, you weren't there for me, so, I just feel like I'm at a point in my life to where it's too late."

Imani struggled with her relationship with her mother for most of her childhood and now into her adult life. Her relationship with her sisters continues to be strong.

Imani completed her first two years of elementary schooling in Thomasville, Georgia. She then moved to Columbus, Georgia, with her sisters and her mother in 2010 because of her mother's job. Her mother worked in the cellular phone business. Imani said making friends was "really hard because everyone had already known people." The school in Columbus had a lot of cliques. Imani was "angry about moving and did not want to make any friends." In 2011, she moved to Phoenix City, Alabama. She said the school in Phoenix City was better than the school in Columbus because "the students were more welcoming." Imani had a few associates but never really developed close friendships.

In the 6<sup>th</sup>- 8<sup>th</sup> grades, Imani lived in Tallahassee, Florida. Making friends in middle school was difficult for Imani because, like in Columbus, the students had already established cliques in middle school. However, during these middle school years, Imani became a dancer. She danced at school and took private lessons. Her dance teacher "played a big role" in Imani's life and "was a good influence." She said that her dance teacher gave her private lessons after school. Imani's mother never attended any of her dance recitals, yet her father attended them all.

Imani moved in with her father in 2017 when she became a freshman in high school. She said, "I didn't really get along with my stepmom, but we eventually overcame our differences. I moved in with [my father] because I had reoccurring problems within my mother's household." Imani said that her father was in her life, "but I just never got the chance to live with him." She said she had a good relationship with her father, stating, "Oh, I love my dad. My dad is my best friend;" he is her "rock." While living in Columbus, Phoenix City, and Tallahassee, she recalled seeing her father was

"not as much as I had hoped," as she traveled to see her father only once or twice a month.

Imani entered a traditional high school in the CSSD. She quickly made friends. The high school had a dance class, and Imani continued dancing until she was placed at CSSD's alternative high school. She did not develop a close relationship with the dance teacher. Imani said, "I never felt like she liked me." While in high school, a science teacher became a mentor for Imani. Imani said, "She was there for me," and "she didn't hold grudges even though I got in trouble in her class." Imani said she believed the teacher took time to listen to her when she needed to vent about issues in her life.

While in the CSSD, Imani received seven discipline referrals. There were five referrals for student incivility, one for fighting, and one for drugs. The dispositions included two principal conferences, three in-school suspensions, and two out of school suspensions. During her first year, Imani got into a fight with a student in the art classroom. An assistant principal suspended Imani from school for four days. Imani could not remember why she fought in the art room, as she did not have a class in the art room. Because it was just her and her father living in their home, Imani stayed home alone while suspended. She said her father had to work, and his reaction to her fighting and being suspended was "disappointed more than anything." While suspended, Imani's best friend at the time brought her assignments to her. "Boring" was how Imani described being suspended from school in just one word.

When I checked Imani's enrollment records, I found that she had withdrawn from high school for two weeks to homeschool in December of her junior year. Although she lived with her father, her mother withdrew her because of an event in school. The

incident involved Imani being assigned in-school suspension (ISS) for using profanity toward another student in the classroom. The classroom teacher physically restrained Imani because she kept screaming and challenging another student to fight. According to Imani, her mother voiced concern to administrators that the school treated her daughter unfairly. Imani said, "The other students were not disciplined for their part in the altercation." Imani's father re-enrolled Imani in school when the spring semester began.

In December of Imani's senior year, she arrived late to school one day under the influence of marijuana. The Welcome Center staff person at CSSD traditional high school reported to the principal that Imani was acting funny and that there was a strong odor of marijuana coming from her car. An assistant principal escorted Imani to the principal's office, where Imani became outraged and immediately called her sister. When asked to hang up, Imani yelled at the administrators in the office, who were women, not to touch her.

The principal called the school resource officer (SRO) to remove Imani from the office. Imani described how the SRO pulled out his handcuffs and threatened to put them on her. She said she became cooperative and left with the SRO. They went to the SRO's office. While with the school resource officer, Imani admitted she smoked marijuana before school in a park. In the presence of an SRO, an assistant principal searched Imani's car. School administrators are authorized to search students and their belongings when the administrators have reasonable suspicion that the search evidence would be found indicating that the student broke the law or a school rule (*New Jersey v. T.L.O.*, 469 U.S. 325, 1984). The assistant principal found traces of what appeared to be

marijuana in her car. The SRO tested the traces for THC (tetrahydrocannabinol) and verified the substance was marijuana.

The principal suspended Imani from school and requested a tribunal per the school's code of conduct. Imani and her father signed a waiver agreeing for Imani to attend the alternative school for the remainder of the 2020-2021 school year. By signing the waiver, Imani and her father chose not to attend the tribunal hearing and present Imani's defense rather than having Imani go before the tribunal panel resulting in Imani's placement at the alternative school through the end of the 2020-2021 school year.

Included in the waiver was a requirement for Imani to participate in Georgia Pines (GAP, 2021) counseling. GAP has a partnership with several school systems in South Georgia to provide services to students in high school settings. Parents must agree to their students meeting with GAP counselors. The first meeting includes the GAP counselor, student, and parent(s).

Once Imani was placed at the alternative school, she moved to Tallahassee to live with one of her sisters. She said she "needed to separate" herself from friends who were not a good influence and "smoking a lot of marijuana." She completed her high school classes virtually through a program called Odysseyware. Odysseyware is an online program students can complete at home instead of attending classes in person. Students work at their own pace completing lessons, quizzes, and tests. A teacher at the alternative school was assigned to monitor Imani's progress and to grade essays and short answer questions. Imani never met any of the teachers at the alternative school in person. She spoke with the guidance counselor by phone. She graduated in May 2021 with a cumulative grade point average (GPA) of 2.63. Throughout her high school career, Imani

only failed one class, Algebra II. She retook Algebra II during her senior year along with various Career, Teacher, and Agriculture Education (CTAE) courses, including Early Childhood Education, Introduction to Business and Technology, and General Horticulture. Each year in high school, prior to her placement at the alternative school, Imani took Modern Dance.

#### Precious

Precious was a 19-year-old former student who graduated from a charter high school in May 2021. Precious and I spoke via FaceTime for both interviews. The first interview occurred in November 2021, and the second interview was held in December 2021. Precious was attending the technical college for cosmetology and said she liked doing other people's hair.

At the time of the interview, Precious worked on a production line at FPL, a beefsteak cutting facility. Precious said she eventually wanted to be a veterinarian when she grew up because she loves animals. Specifically, she wanted to study marine biology at Florida A & M University (FAMU). Precious said FAMU was "the only one I want to go to." She had not applied but planned to when she completed her cosmetology diploma.

Precious said she was "close" to her mother, stating, "Me and my mom have a great relationship. We have always got along." As the middle child in her household, Precious grew up with one brother and two sisters in her mother's household. She lived in a neighboring South Georgia town until she was in 3rd grade when she transferred to the CSSD. Precious already knew some students in her new school because some were her relatives. After third grade, she moved two more times but remained in the CSSD school

system until graduation. Precious said, "She was happy to remain in the same school system" and that it was a better home each time her family moved.

Precious had three siblings from her father but never lived with him. She described her relationship with her father as "iffy." She only talked to him "every blue moon" and usually at family events. Her relationship with her three siblings on her father's side, who lived in a nearby town, resembled her relationship with her father.

When asked about her favorite memory from high school, Precious indicated 9th grade as her favorite year. She said nothing she would describe as significant but "just liked the whole year." Precious failed Biology and Algebra 1 during her first year, completing summer school to recover credit for Biology and retaking Algebra 1 during her 10th-grade year. Precious said 10th grade was her easiest year. She said, "The classes just seemed easier." Precious also shared that her close 9th-grade friends were no longer her friends when she got to 10<sup>th</sup> grade.

Precious said, "My hardest [year] was probably my 11th-grade year." She was a junior in high school when the school went virtual due to COVID-19. The schools in CSSD switched all classes from in person to virtual on March 16, 2020. Before going virtual, Precious was already having trouble with her classes. She described American Literature as especially difficult. She said her teacher never "gave us any breaks. We always had to work on grammar, vocabulary, and read novels." Once classes were virtual because of COVID-19, Precious did not do any of the work, stating she "wasn't keeping up [the] work 'cause I was out of school." When classes resumed in the fall of 2020, Precious said she opted to remain at home and participate virtually in school for her senior year. However, she realized she was not learning and returned to school in person.

When I checked her enrollment records, I found she began her senior year in person and returned to virtual classes at the end of the first 9 weeks grading period. She failed six out of seven classes during the second 9 weeks. In February of her senior year, Precious transferred to the charter school. She dropped her elective classes and only completed the four courses required to receive her high school diploma. Precious graduated from the charter school in May 2021 with a GPA of 2.269.

Precious stated that she never really participated in school events other than attending football games. She was angry because she did not get to attend prom, recalling, "They canceled it both my years of high school." She said, "I was mad...cause I had already bought my dress." She went to the park and took pictures in her prom dress. She said, "I didn't buy a dress my senior year." When school reopened following the COVID-19 shutdown her senior year, "most of the fun activities were still canceled." She said, "There was no Homecoming Dance, pep rallies, club activities, or prom." Precious described school as "boring." She said, "I had to wear a mask all the time. I couldn't hang out with my friends. We didn't even get to eat lunch in the cafeteria. We had to eat breakfast and lunch in the classroom." She vocalized,

When we [students] got to school, we had to immediately report to our first-period classes. Before COVID, we could hang out in the cafeteria or commons area before school. We sat around and had fun. But my senior year, the teachers were always on our cases to get to class.

Prior to her 12<sup>th</sup> grade year, Precious would fix her hair in the restroom before school.

Once administrators implemented the COVID procedures during the 2020-2021 school year, Precious was not allowed to hang out in the restroom before school.

Precious candidly spoke about her discipline record, sharing, "I don't like being in ISS. You have to be quiet and [are] missing out in class." She continued, "I didn't get to learn or know my topics that we were doing in class." Precious received 34 discipline referrals while in high school. The referrals included 10 for excessive tardiness, 10 for dress code violations, three for cell phone violations, three for skipping/being in unauthorized areas, six for student incivility, one for failing to serve detention, and one for falsifying information. Precious received seven principal conferences, six administrative detentions, four time outs from a class, 12 in-school suspensions, and one out of school suspension. There were four referrals listed that did not have a disposition listed.

Precious playfully asked if she had a lot of dress code referrals. She said, "I remember being sent to the office all the time about dress code." All three female administrators in the school had disciplined Precious for not meeting the school dress code during her high school career. Precious recalled when she did not turn her cell phone in as the teacher requested. She said, "I just felt like I didn't have to because it was my phone." Precious served ISS for not giving her cell phone to the teacher.

Precious's out of school suspension (OSS) was her choice. She was assigned ISS but chose OSS instead because she did not like sitting in ISS. Precious said her mother was okay with her taking OSS over ISS. Precious explained that her mother thought ISS was a waste of time. The school policy in the code of conduct stated that students who opt for OSS instead of ISS would receive zeros for all assignments while suspended. She said, "it made my grades go down because I wasn't able to do work…I wasn't able to learn at all because …I chose OSS over ISS." Precious's suspension from school was due

to a discipline referral from her Spanish teacher. The teacher reported that Precious was eating food brought for the teachers in the teacher's workroom. The teachers' workroom is an unauthorized area for students. Precious stated, "I wasn't stealing none of the treats. He was just telling a story." Precious "never really liked his class" and "used to always get in trouble" in his class. Precious shared:

I feel like sometimes teachers could actually sit down and talk with the student instead. I feel like ISS or OSS really doesn't work or help because if they still don't like the teacher that sent them to ISS, they are still gonna have a problem when they get back. I feel they should actually talk it out 'cause the same thing is gon' to keep repeating.

Precious said the Dean of Students, her mathematics teacher, her Government teacher, and her World History teacher were the only people in the high school who listened to her. She said, "Sometimes the teacher was in the wrong, and sometimes it was me that did wrong." Precious said her mathematics teacher "actually like got to know me, and I never got in trouble in her class. We were just always cool." Her mathematics teacher made Precious feel like she mattered.

## Aliyah

Aliyah was a 20-year-old African American woman who graduated from the alternative school in May 2019. Aliyah went to an alternative school during her junior year of high school. I contacted Aliyah's mother via email to get a current email address or phone number for her. Aliyah was 19 when I first contacted her, but by the time we were finally able to schedule a time to meet face to face, she had turned 20. Initially, I interviewed Aliyah in November 2021. The second interview was in December 2021.

Aliyah brought her two-month-old baby boy with her to the first interview. Aliyah held her son and rocked him back and forth throughout the interview. She was very animated while talking to me and made eye contact.

When Aliyah was a small child, she lived with her mother and grandparents. Through Habitat for Humanity, her mother bought her own house. Aliyah moved with her mother to the new house and has been with her mother ever since. Aliyah said she is close to her mother and has "always been a mama's girl." As a little girl, she suffered from separation anxiety from her mother. When her mother left the house, Aliyah would "run the car down" and "call her phone 20 times until she answered." Although Aliyah was with her grandparents after her mother left to go to work, she felt alone when her mother was gone.

Aliyah's mother and father were never a couple. Aliyah's father went to prison when she was three. He was a "ladies' guy" and "always did his thing." When he got out of prison, he was not around much.

Aliyah never really liked school but loved sports. She only enjoyed field days and PE classes. Aliyah "used to love the 50-yard dash" and "always came in first." She said she always hung out with the boys playing basketball and racing as a child. While in elementary school, Aliyah recalled getting ISS for picking on a student for not being good at basketball. She kept telling him that he was a "sorry" basketball player, and the boy told the teacher Aliyah was bullying him. Although she disliked schoolwork, she was always "on top of my work." When Aliyah was a freshman, she transferred to a neighboring system for a few months. Aliyah shared that she "transferred because me and a few other students got cut from the basketball team" because the coach "didn't want us

on her team." She transferred back to the Center System because she "wasn't doing anything but just sitting in class, honestly." Aliyah shared she thought the neighboring county's education program was lacking.

Aliyah said she was the "black sheep of the family." She lamented that her mom and grandparents were always stricter with her because she frequently got in trouble. Aliyah said she received many "whoopings" as a child. Her grandmother often made her go outside and quickly pick a switch. She hid behind her granddad, who was her "father figure." Her grandfather taught her how to drive and spent time with her.

Aliyah received seven discipline referrals while in high school. The referrals included one for dress code, one for excessive tardiness, one for failure to serve detention, three for skipping/unauthorized area, and one for threat/intimidation. Aliyah's discipline dispositions included one principal conference, three administrative detentions, two in-school suspensions, and one out of school suspension.

The referral for threat/intimidation was treated as a zero-tolerance event. Aliyah was automatically suspended out of school. Aliyah was uncomfortable talking about her suspension from school during her junior year and became visibly angry, stating she "was wrongly accused." Aliyah maintained she was innocent throughout the interview.

Aliyah blamed other students for her school suspensions. She explained, "I was accused of sending threatening text messages to another student." However, she insisted a friend had used her phone to send the messages on an app and the girl who received the messages told the SRO Aliyah had threatened her. The girl provided the school with screenshots of the messages, yet Aliyah said, "I honestly had nothing-I mean *nothing* at all-to do with it." The principal suspended Aliyah from school for 10 days, requesting a

Aliyah emphasized her mother already knew "what was going down" and that she had "nothing to do with it." However, Aliyah's mother waived the tribunal hearing and agreed to send Aliyah to the alternative school. Aliyah enrolled in the virtual alternative school for one semester and then was supposed to complete a semester in person.

While attending the alternative school, Aliyah developed a close relationship with the school director. Aliyah met weekly with the director and the GAP counselor as a virtual student at the alternative school but did not like talking to the counselor. The topic was always about the threat. Aliyah eventually stopped attending the counseling appointments but continued speaking to the alternative school director. She appreciated the director, who "really helped [me] out. She really wanted me to go to college." The director continued to reach out to Aliyah and encourage her to pursue her education. Aliyah credited the director with her graduating from high school a year early. She said the director would always tell her she believed in her. Aliyah graduated from the alternative school with a GPA of 2.694.

After graduation, it took Aliyah about a year to enter the workforce. She bounced around and held a few jobs, including Walmart, Lowes, and FPL. At the time of the interview, Aliyah worked at Walgreens as a pharmacy tech. Walgreens paid for Aliyah's license and is paying for her classes to become a certified pharmacy tech. Aliyah is planning to get a degree and become a pharmacist when her son gets older. Always the athlete, Aliyah said, "Ok, so after I finish with Walgreens, I will be trying out for the Olympics." Aliyah said she was working out in the gym to train for the 100-meter race.

#### **Shanice**

Shanice was 18 years old at the time of the interviews. She graduated from the traditional high school in 2021. For both interviews, we met at her workplace, a drive-through coffee shop. I interviewed Shanice the first week and the last week of December. Shanice recommended I meet her after she finished working. We sat at the outdoor picnic tables on a cool sunny day during the first interview. During the second interview, we again met at Shanice's workplace. Shanice shared stories about her suspensions from school. After 15 minutes, Shanice became anxious. She was not comfortable telling me about her suspensions. She was ready to leave and requested I email her the list of follow-up questions.

Shanice grew up in her home with her mother and younger brother. For a short time when Shanice was about 3 or 4 years old, her brother's father lived in the house with them. Shanice said her stepfather tried to be a father figure to her but eventually left and moved to another city. Her stepfather's departure "didn't really affect me because I knew he wasn't my real dad." However, her stepdad's leaving made her brother sad, sharing, "It affected him because his dad left and moved to a different town, but he would come back sometimes." Shanice was close to her brother, although "he's just aggravating." In middle school, Shanice lived with her grandmother. While living with her grandmother, her grandmother disciplined her by whipping her with a switch. Her biological father never lived with her, although she was in contact with him.

Shanice attended the CSSD every year of her school career except during 6th grade when she went to a local church school. Her mother made her switch schools because "I feel like it was more of like a follow the leader thing. My mama had a group

of friends. They sent their kids there, so we went." She said, "I did not want to switch schools." While Shanice was at the church school, she lived with her grandmother in a neighboring county. She said she could not make many friends because she could not hang out because she is "not really big on friends. I have my people that I talk to. But making new friends, unh-unh." In 7th grade, Shanice returned to the Center System.

Shanice said she had "never been a troubled child," recalling running and playing outside all day as a child. She and her cousins rode four-wheelers and walked to the park to play basketball. She said she "played in middle school and tried out in 9<sup>th</sup> grade. I made the team, but I don't remember what happened. I think I didn't go to practice one day." When Shanice was cut from the basketball team, she did not go outside much and was mainly on her cell phone.

While in high school, Shanice only received three discipline referrals: fighting, rude/disrespectful, and theft. The first referral was for fighting in the school parking lot after a basketball game on a Saturday night. Shanice had been arguing with a group of girls all week at school. The girls tried to attack her friend in the parking lot, so she jumped in and fought. The principal suspended her from school for four days. Shanice's mother was unaware of the fight until the school called her the following Tuesday to tell her of the suspension. Shanice captured this incident in the following anecdote:

She called me; I was in class. I was like, 'Ma'am.' Then, Bri [who is Shanice's friend who was also fighting], she had already texted me and was like, 'Oh, we fixing to get in trouble.' She had already texted me and told me, so when my mom called, I knew what was going on, but I tried to play it off because I didn't think she knew. I thought she was just calling

to see if I was coming home after school or something. Then she was like, 'So, what happened Saturday?' I'm like, 'Saturday, I went to the game; I stayed with my auntie and my cousins.' And she was like, 'Stop lying. I'm on the way up there.'

Shanice's father also came to the school. Shanice was conflicted about whether she thought she should get in trouble for fighting on the weekend. She said she understood the school's perspective because she fought in the school parking lot, but it was on the weekend. She said, "It wasn't during school hours, and it wasn't school-related." While on suspension, Shanice's mother continued to go to work. Shanice went to her cousin's house every day and babysat her kids. She said, "It was like I was in trouble at home too." Her mother did not want her at home alone, and Shanice's cousin needed someone to watch her kids.

In August of her senior year, Shanice received her second discipline referral for threatening a student in the hallway. Shanice used proximity to intimidate the other student. Shanice was very close to the other student without actually touching the student. According to Shanice, she never said she would do anything harmful to the other student. However, the other student felt threatened and reported it to one of her teachers. The principal contacted Shanice's mother. Shanice conferenced with the guidance counselor about making better choices. Shanice's third discipline referral was in January of her senior year. A female student who was "an associate" of Shanice's left her purse in the cafeteria, and Shanice got the bag and removed the money that was inside. Shanice denied taking the purse at first. She said, "to be honest, I didn't know the purse was hers cause me, and her were already texting, and she had told me she had lost her purse," but

the other student did not tell Shanice she lost it at lunch. Shanice asked her if she had checked all of her classrooms. Shanice told the girl to tell the principal that her purse was missing. Shanice admitted, "I think that's where I messed up." One of the assistant principals called Shanice to her office and asked about the money. The girl had told the assistant principal she had \$60 in her purse. At first, Shanice denied that she had taken the money, but eventually, she gave the money to the assistant principal. The assistant principal suspended Shanice for nine days per the school's code of conduct for theft.

Everything changed for Shanice following her suspension during her senior year. She did not play basketball again. She hoped to get a scholarship in her senior year, but "it didn't happen." Shanice said, "not being allowed to play basketball made school boring." When she returned to school after suspension, Shanice was in school for one month before the school system went virtual due to COVID-19.

Shanice graduated from the traditional high school in the Center System in 2021 with a GPA of 2.224. She took classes in CTAE, such as Early Childhood Education, Introduction to Healthcare, Essentials of Healthcare, Allied Healthcare, and Spanish. During her senior year, Shanice doubled up and took two mathematics classes to meet college entrance requirements. She had been considering going to Valdosta State University, but after being suspended, she "just wasn't feeling it." Failing Spanish II kept her from meeting the requirements of entering a University System of Georgia school. Immediately following graduation, Shanice got a job. At the time of the interview, she lived at home with her mother and brother and was "working right now, but spring come around, I'm supposed to start tech classes for business." Shanice does not plan to work at the coffee shop when she starts taking classes.

#### Tiara

Tiara was an 18-year-old senior in high school at the time of the interviews. She met with me in my office and sat on my couch and faced me. She appeared to be very comfortable talking with me. It is my opinion that Tiara and I had a good relationship prior to the interviews.

Tiara had a fraternal twin sister. Tiara said when they were born, their parents lived together in the same house. A couple of months later, her father moved out of the house but remained in the same town. Tiara's mother and father "went their separate ways," and her father was in her life sporadically. At the time of the interview, Tiara did not have a relationship with her father. Tiara had other siblings, an older sister and two brothers from her father. The siblings did not have a relationship with Tiara or her father. She said, "Because they told us that he has more of a relationship with me and mine than he got with them." The last time she saw her father in person was at her paternal grandmother's funeral in 2018. Tiara's grandmother "always be on him about being around more." Tiara had "a close, fun relationship with her paternal grandfather." Her father had not reached out to her in the past three years.

Tiara lived with her mother, half-brother from her mother, and twin sister in her home as a child. At the time of the interview, she lived with her mother, twin sister, stepfather, and stepsister. Her mother remarried in September 2021, and Tiara said the relationship with her stepfather was "okay." Her mother worked at the medical center in town for nearly 23 years as a receptionist. Tiara became emotional, describing her mother's support during a debilitating childhood illness. She tearfully recounted the incident, sharing, "I don't even cry, but I had this disorder for dysphagia which is trouble

swallowing food and stuff." When Tiara was 12, she got sick and was in and out of the hospital for two years. Tiara shared her mother has "been around for everything." Tiara said her mother is her best friend.

While Tiara was having medical issues, she was hospital homebound. The school system uses hospital homebound when a student cannot attend school in person due to medical reasons. The school system hires a teacher to work with the student on assignments the teachers send to the student to complete. The hospital homebound teacher serves as a tutor. Tiara could not remember the name of the online program the school utilized. She said the program did not match the teachings in the classroom, meaning Tiara was not completing the same lessons students sitting in the classroom were completing. Tiara said, "it wasn't really the fit." While Tiara completed her schooling at home, she stayed with her grandmother. Her mother "just basically left [me] over there until she came home at 3:30, and she would pick me up." Her mother could not afford to take off from work. Her maternal grandmother spoiled Tiara. She said, "I ain't gonna lie. I'm one of her favorite grandchildren; she treats me like her own. My mom would try to get on to me, [but] she'd [her grandmother] be [standing] up for me." Tiara's maternal grandparents were still alive, but her grandfather had cancer and was not doing well. Her grandparents divorced six or seven years ago; however, they lived in the same apartment complex and spoke daily.

Tiara and her twin sister began school in a neighboring school system. They completed Pre-K through 5th grade. The sisters transferred to the Center System at the beginning of 6th grade. The elementary school she attended through 5th grade served predominantly White students. The staff was mainly White also. In 6th grade, Tiara

described the student body as "diverse." She said, "the middle school is a huge school, and when you first get there, I was so confused I had to learn what sides of the school to stay in and all." The 6<sup>th</sup> grade class at the middle school had as many students as the entire elementary school Tiara attended.

Tiara and her twin played basketball in high school. Tiara said,

My mama still tells me today that when we was a baby, and we were in
the hospital, my daddy looked at me and my feet, and he was like, we gon'
be basketball players. And it's crazy cause now that we've gotten older,
we play basketball and stuff. So, he got us a basketball goal when we were
like 7 or 8, and we've been playing ever since.

Tiara played basketball in her yard and at her friends' houses. She did not begin playing organized basketball until her sophomore year in high school. Her twin sister played basketball for the school since 6th grade. But Tiara did not play in middle school because of her sickness. Tiara got in trouble her freshman year and did not play. Tiara's mother "has always been supportive, but when COVID got back, she was a little iffy." Her mother threatened to withdraw them from the basketball team if they contracted COVID. Tiara's twin got COVID, and the twins were not allowed to finish playing their sophomore year.

Tiara said her passion was nursing, and she wanted to be a travel nurse. She said, "I'm trying to get my CNA license and then my LPN and RN licenses." Tiara originally dreamed about going to Florida State University or Mercer University but decided to "stay at the Tech (school) for two years and probably go to a big school or college."

Because Tiara has already begun the CNA program at the technical school, she can continue and complete her nursing degree.

Tiara received nine discipline events while in high school. Tiara had three cell phone violations, one class disturbance, one inappropriate behavior, one rude/disrespectful, one aggressive behavior, and two fights. Tiara's first discipline referral occurred in August of her freshman year when her math teacher accused her of refusing to take a math test. Tiara denied the allegation saying, "I was not refusing to take the test." She explained the teacher was helping other students but not her. Tiara continued, "I was just talking to my friends, and we were working in groups, that's the thing I remember. And we were trying to figure out a problem, and we were talking and laughing." Tiara went to the office when the teacher got upset and insisted she "wasn't doing no test. I don't play about tests; I need my grades." The assistant principal assigned Tiara three days of time out from the math teacher's class. She only reported to the ISS room during her math class.

Tiara's next disciplinary issue was a fight in the cafeteria a couple of weeks later. Tiara said, "To be honest, I didn't want to fight her. I didn't know I was gonna fight her." Tiara thought the girl had an issue with someone else on the basketball team. There was an altercation between the girl, the girl's mother, and another student at the Florida State game. Tiara said, "They was going at it, so I was never in it," and "I never knew we had beef." Tiara described the fight:

I got to school. I was outside. I think I came in. I was giving my best friend at the time a hug and was fixing to head...to PE and stuff. And she [the girl Tiara eventually fought] had stood from the table, and she was

just crying. And I had looked 'cause she called my name. So I looked, and she's crying, and she's mad, screaming and stuff, like she wanted to fight, and yeah, I should have walked away in that moment because I did start the fight. I did hit her, and we fought and got suspended for four days.

Tiara's mom was not mad at her for being suspended, "but she was disappointed because I made the decision. I did hit her first." Tiara believed the fight was inevitable because if they had not fought in the cafeteria, they would have fought when they got to the basketball locker room. Tiara thinks, "it was best to fight there [cafeteria] because if we would have fought in the locker room, one of us would have got hurt bad because of the lockers and benches and toilets and doors and stuff." When Tiara and the other girl returned to school, they did not speak for a long time. Tiara never asked why the girl wanted to fight her because "it's irrelevant; it's over." The two female students are still not friends but talk to each other about basketball.

During an assembly program held in the school gym, Tiara and a group of her friends were talking to each other and paying attention. The principal made the students stay behind after the assembly so she could talk to them. Tiara did not remember who was speaking at the assembly or what the topic was. Tiara remembered the principal being irate that the students had "embarrassed the school with our behavior." The principal assigned Tiara and her friend administrative detention.

One of the assistant principals suspended Tiara for fighting a second time three weeks later. The fight happened during the Powder Puff game. Powder Puff is a flag football game played by female students. During the Powder Puff game, Tiara's sister scored a touchdown. Tiara's team was losing by two touchdowns. Her sister and a girl from the

opposing team were "going at it." Tiara did not get involved because it was just "trash talk." She is "used to trash talk since she plays sports." The girls arguing with her sister were "girlie girls" who "don't really play sports." Tiara described the events leading up to the fight:

I grabbed her [the female student who had earlier had a verbal confrontation with Tiara's sister]; I think I had, I don't know how but her belt came off, and that's when I heard her talking stuff behind me. I turned around, and she grabbed her belt, swung it at my face, and hit me right here in the face with her belt. And me being me, I got angry issues. I'm not going to just stand there. I hit her, and that's when all the commotion happened. Everybody's coming into it and stuff, but that was self-defense. I'm not gonna stand there and [get] hit in the face with a flag belt and not retaliate.

The assistant principal suspended all the students involved in the fight. Because this was Tiara's second fight, the assistant principal suspended her for 10 days and requested a tribunal hearing. The tribunal panel found Tiara guilty of fighting and sentenced her to the remainder of the semester at the alternative school.

Tiara did not like the alternative school. She explained, "I was not comfortable at all." Every morning she had to walk through a metal detector. Tiara said, "It was weird. You have people in there for real stuff, and I was just over for two fights, and I'm just with these people." Tiara expressed she thought the students assigned to the alternative school were bad students who did drugs and were members of gangs. Tiara shared, "At this time, I was an introvert 'cause I wasn't used to something like this." Tiara only made

friends with two people while at the alternative school. The science teacher interacted with Tiara, but none of the other teachers did. In her English class, the teacher sat at the desk in the front of the room. The students read, answered questions, and wrote essays. Every assignment in English class was "the exact same thing."

Tiara said her favorite classes were not boring. An English teacher during her sophomore year made the class exciting because he was constantly changing things up. The students watched a short video clip and then read, and the class would then have a discussion. Tiara said she loved to read but found "reading an entire class period boring. I need to interact with people." When the classes went virtual in March 2020, Tiara communicated that her teachers were learning to teach online; "it was so new to them, that we really didn't have work." Eventually, the school decided to give everyone a minimum of 70 for the 4<sup>th</sup> nine-weeks. Tiara and her twin opted to continue working remotely in the fall of 2020. The school system superintendent asked remote students to return to traditional schooling in February 2021, and Tiara and her sister returned to inperson education. Tiara found remote learning "boring." She failed four classes while she was a remote student. However, by the end of her junior year, Tiara earned all passing grades.

Tiara graduated in May 2022 with a GPA of 3.143. She took healthcare science classes at the technical college during her senior year. Tiara completed two Career, Technical, and Agricultural Education (CTAE) pathways: Healthcare Science and Early Childhood Education and Introduction to Business and Technology.

#### Nekia

Nekia was an 18-year-old senior in the Center System attending a traditional high school when I interviewed her. Nekia graduated from CSSD traditional high school in May 2022. She agreed to speak with me in my office, and I prompted her to tell me about her childhood and growing up. She started by telling me about the people who lived in her household. Nekia lived in a single-parent home with her mother, sister, brother, and three cousins. She was the youngest of her siblings living in her house. The cousins were three, eight, and 14. Nekia's mother had custody of the three cousins because "their mother, she does whatever she wants to do." They lived in a small community in the Center area.

Nekia's mother had six sisters and one brother. Her 39-year-old mother is the oldest, and her youngest aunt is 20. Nekia has a large extended family with 22 cousins. However, her aunts were not very dependable, leaving her mother "to do everything by herself and get on her feet by herself." When Nekia's mother was 15, she became pregnant with Nekia's brother. Nekia and her brother share the same father. Nekia's mother "popped up" with her sister. The father of her sister stayed around for a little while, and after he left, Nekia's mother got pregnant with Nekia. Her mother had one more child a year after Nekia was born; however, she gave that baby girl up for adoption "because she just couldn't handle one more child."

Nekia said her father was "in and out" of her life. When Nekia and her brother were younger, their father was in their lives, but Nekia had no memory of it. She said, "He acted like a father figure to my sister, so she still keeps in contact with him" while he was in and out of jail. Nekia had two additional half-siblings on her father's side who

lived in South Carolina. The siblings were two and four, and Nekia's father frequently drove from Orlando to see them without stopping to see Nekia. Her father spent the holidays with his other family. Nekia shared:

I don't fool with him because he took my mama through everything, and then he'll say he gon' do something and then don't do it. He'll disappear on birthdays, holidays, anything that you could think of, and then he come back and be like, 'Oh, I had to do this, I had to do that.' So, I just cut him off.

Nekia moved around throughout her childhood. She was born in Orlando, Florida, and lived there until the 4th grade. Many of her mother's sisters and her maternal grandfather lived in Orlando, and her father's family lived in Orlando. Nekia moved to Michigan to live near her grandmother, Nana. Nekia's mother and Nana repaired their relationship. She said they were "close, but they're not that close." Nekia said her aunts also lived in Michigan with Nana, but Nekia was not close to them. She explained the strained relationships by saying that "my aunties did my Nana any kind of way, and my Nana said she wasn't putting up with that no more. So, they're not close, and they moved away first." The aunts told Nekia's mother that they needed help in South Georgia about four months later, so Nekia's family moved to a small South Georgia town to live with her four aunts.

Nekia attended school in a district neighboring the Center System during 5th and 6th grade. Nekia said, "Everything backfired, and they kicked us out." The aunts told Nekia's mother to leave the house. After two years, Nekia's family lived in their car. Her mother worked an assortment of jobs while the children were in school. The goal was to

get enough money to rent a home for the family. Nekia's mother saved enough to rent a home. Nekia began school in the Center System in 7th grade, and Nekia remained in the rental house and the Center System.

Nekia described the year she entered high school as her most challenging year.

She shared,

In 8th grade, I had a lot of discipline problems because we were just now getting back on our feet and stuff. And I didn't really have what every other kid had, so I would show off at school, and my mom would have to come up there, and I was on the verge of failing and stuff. And then the crowd that I was hanging around, some of them I still hang around now, but some of them I don't. They were a bad influence on me, and my mama kept telling me, but, you know, I just felt that I wanted to be friends with who I wanted to be friends.

Nekia was a self-described independent girl. She said that is how her mother raised her and her siblings. Nekia said she had a "strong-headed mind. To the point where I won't let nobody do me any type of way or talk to me any type of way." Nekia said her mother sometimes yells at her "because that's the only thing that will get through my mind." Nekia is "more outspoken" and will "say anything that comes to mind." Her mother accused her of walking around "with a nasty attitude." Nekia admitted her attitude got her into trouble a lot of.

When the three cousins moved in with Nekia's family, they did not have anything and had many needs. Nekia explained, "They really didn't have no clothes, no shoes, no haircuts, no nothing." Her mother took the money she spent on Nekia and her siblings

and instead spent it on the cousins. Nekia shared the siblings felt like "she [their mother] would treat them [the cousins] more like her children than she would actually treat her own kids." Later Nekia reflected, "It didn't really change anything financially because we already have 'bout everything anyway." The cousins were not the first extended family members to move in with Nekia's family. Nekia's mother allowed other cousins to live with them because they did not get along with their mother. Their mother was one of Nekia's aunts.

In high school, Nekia received nine discipline referrals. Three of the referrals were for dress code, one was for not serving detention, four were for student incivility, and one was for using profanity toward the Dean of Students. The resolutions for the discipline events included principal conference or warning, administrative detention, time out, ISS, and OSS.

Initially, an assistant principal suspended Nekia from school for 10 days for using profanity towards a school employee. Nekia was walking to her math class. Teachers and administrators required students to walk to the right in the center circle as if in a roundabout. As Nekia was leaving A-hall, she tried to go to the left instead of the right. She "was already running a little behind trying to cut the hallway." The Dean of Students asked Nekia to walk all the way around. Nekia said, "I guess I didn't hear him because I be having my air pods in." The Dean of Students told her she could not go to the left. Nekia had to walk all the way around. Nekia questioned, "I got to walk all the way around. I told him, 'Well, they didn't have to walk around; why I got to walk around if they didn't walk around?" The Dean of Students again told Nekia to walk all the way

around. Nekia refused to comply and "walked away talking junk." Nekia again discussed how her attitude got her in trouble.

The Dean of Students waited until Nekia made it to the door of the math class to stop her. Nekia felt he could have stopped her before then. Nekia "felt like he was trying to embarrass somebody or something, so I started talking junk." She emphasized, "I did not cuss at him." According to Nekia, she would have to be face-to-face with the person to cuss at someone. Nekia reflected, "I think I said, 'I don't know why he made me walk the F around." Nekia admitted that she used profanity but not towards the Dean of Students.

Nekia said, "at first, she [her mother] was like, 'That's why you need to watch what you say and how you say certain stuff." Initially, her mother was angry about a 10-day suspension as she thought 10 days was too many. Nekia shared that the principal watched the video recording of the event a few days later after talking with Nekia's mother. She determined that Nekia had not directed the profanity toward the principal but instead was talking to another student about the Dean of Students. The principal changed the suspension to 4 days. Nekia said, "I knew the video would show that I didn't curse at him."

Nekia treated her suspension as "a vacation." A friend came over every day and hung out with Nekia. When her mother got home from work each day, she asked Nekia if she had completed her schoolwork. She told her mother *yes*. However, Nekia admitted, "I didn't do it 'cause I'm at home. Who wants to do schoolwork while they are at home?" Her grades dropped. One teacher allowed her to complete the work when she returned to school. Other teachers gave Nekia zeros. Nekia did not want to return to school after the

four-day suspension. She said, "I get tired of coming to school." She did return to school.

Nekia had not received any other discipline referrals since the suspension.

The American Literature teacher from her junior year was Nekia's favorite teacher. She recalled, "She was hard on you, but it's because she knows that you can do it and have the potential to do it. She is like a mom to us at school. But you know not to play with her." The teacher made students "tell her what's going on about our day." Nekia's math teacher was also influential in her life. She said, "I love that lady to death. She [is] nice; she knows how to put up with my attitude." Nekia accused her other teachers of favoritism. She explained, "Two people will do the same thing, and since they like the other one better than they like the other, they'll discipline that one." Nekia said she felt like teachers were always watching her and getting on to her.

Nekia graduated in May 2022. She had a GPA of 2.942. While in high school,
Nekia completed several CTAE courses, such as Introduction to Early Childhood
Education I and II, Early Childhood Education Practicum, Work-based Learning (WBL),
Introduction to Business and Technology, and Spanish I and II.

Nekia said she wants to teach first, second, or third grade and her Work Based Learning (WBL) job was at a local elementary school. However, she wants to attend Wiregrass Technical School and complete the cosmetology program. She plans to get an education degree after becoming a licensed cosmetologist. Her mother recommended that she "have a backup plan." Nekia plans to move to Valdosta. She said, "I don't want to move too far away from my mom, but I'm trying to get away from her and my sister." Nekia wants to make her own decisions without having to ask for permission.

# **Chapter Summary**

In this chapter, I presented narratives to capture the two interviews with each of the six participants. These storylines provide a synopsis of the students' families, education, discipline events, and plans. The information provided the groundwork for data analysis and themes discussed in the next chapter. Rich, significant responses from participants and my observations created a joint account to create meaning of participants' experiences. The participants in the study all attended the same traditional high school at some point during their high school careers. The participants were familiar to me before the interviews due to my school administrator background.

# Chapter V

# Discussion, Implications, and Conclusion

Scholars have documented the existence of racial and gender disparities in school discipline (Gregory et al., 2016; Losen et al., 2015; Marchbanks & Blake, 2018; Onyeka-Crawford et al., 2017; Skiba et al., 2014). This study investigated African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and the impact exclusionary discipline had on their education in selected rural South Georgia schools. The findings in this research have a direct connection to the theoretical frameworks of CRT and BFT used for this study. Through the lens of CRT, African American women utilize counterstorytelling and intersectionality. According to BFT, African American women navigate a racist and sexist society (Collins, 2000).

The participants in this study spoke about their experiences that were distinct from African American men and White women (Collins, 2000). The participants did not separate their experiences into two categories based on race and gender but shared their stories as African American women navigating the space of the public school setting. Although not all participants saw a direct connection between their unequal treatment and race, some saw race as a factor in discipline practices in their school, especially in regard to the school system's dress code.

I developed three main themes developed from the stories of six African

American female students suspended from school during their high school careers. The three themes include strained relationships, power of one, and fighting to survive. The themes added to my understanding of African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and the impact exclusionary discipline had on their education.

The theme of strained relationships includes subthemes of zero-tolerance policies, racial bias, and no one will listen. I expanded the theme of fighting to survive to include subthemes of cell phones and social media, self-defense, conflict resolution and restorative practices. This study's findings may inform national policymakers, federal and state departments of education, regional educational service agencies, the local board of education, university and college teacher preparation programs, administrators, teachers, and parents on how to decrease the disparity affecting African American female students' suspensions and increase their academic success by sharing with them the experiences of other African American female students.

## **Description of Themes**

The participants expressed how their mothers raised them and how that determined how they acted in school. The themes reflected participants' voices regarding their high school experiences. In the following section, I present the experiences conveyed by the participants and the key findings I uncovered about each theme. Data analysis revealed the themes of strained relationships, power of one, and fighting to survive. I discuss the three themes separately, although similar concepts are echoed in the three themes simultaneously. Table 2 in Chapter 3 provides a review of the participants along with their similarities and difference. Five of the participants lived with their mothers in high school. Imani moved in with her father in 9th grade. While all participants received OSS during high school, the outcomes were different for each. Students received between three and ten days of OSS. Administrators assigned more days of OSS based on the level of the offense. I clarify the themes created from the data collected in subsequent sections.

## **Strained Relationships**

Participants recalled several events that highlighted the strained relationships that occurred between themselves and school personnel, school personnel and the students' primary caregiver, and themselves and the other students. Participants voiced their struggles with a Eurocentric school discipline style that emphasized zero tolerance policies and supported racial biases, which affected socialization, widened the trust gap, ignored the voices of the students themselves, and did not account for differences in family dynamics. Participants also recalled how a lack of parental support enhanced these negative issues occurring at school.

# Eurocentricity

Eurocentric school discipline style involves analyzing the result or the effect of a problem rather than determining the root cause of a problem (Nantambu, 2006). The predominance of Eurocentricity in the school curriculum, which is evident in books and texts educators use to discuss racism, hides African Americans' knowledge from the curriculum, the effects on students' identity, belonging, and sense of community are long-lasting (Soprunova, 2020). In a similar way, participants expressed that the type of discipline they experienced influenced their identity and sense of community by forcing them to hide their side of the story.

All participants expressed that teachers and administrators did not allow them to explain themselves when disciplinary events occurred. Participants often indicated that the reasons for being suspended from school were unclear or unfair. The participants shared that their mothers were upset about their suspensions because the reasoning behind the suspension was fuzzy. The participants felt it might have changed the

discipline resolution if they were allowed to tell their side. Similarly, Lightfoot (2021) found educators give minimal concern to the background or justification that explains the behavior.

Teachers and administrators believe upholding effective discipline systems must balance "recognizing students' unique circumstances and creating a safe and welcoming campus for everyone" (Youth Truth Student Survey, n.d., para. 2). According to the Youth Truth Student Survey, the balancing act has not been successful in the eyes of the African American students. Only 33% believed the punishment was appropriate at their school (Youth Truth Student Survey, n.d.). According to Wirtz (2021), referrals are a turning point in the student-teacher relationship. Once a teacher completes a referral, the student views the relationship between herself and the teacher as punitive (Wirtz).

Precious chose OSS instead of ISS because a teacher accused her of taking food out of the teachers' workroom. Precious felt like no one would listen to her. She said,

I feel like sometimes teachers could actually sit down and talk with the student instead of like, I feel like ISS or OSS really doesn't work or help because if they still don't like the teacher or the teacher that sent them to ISS or whatever, they still gonna have a problem when they get back. I feel like they should actually talk it out.

Precious felt that not communicating ruins the relationship and the pattern will keep repeating. The student and teacher will keep animosity there. She also recommended teachers get to know their students because students may be acting up because they have things going on at home.

Nekia hit a student with her bookbag. The other student retaliated, and the two began yelling at each other. The teacher intervened. Nekia described the interactions between the teacher and herself:

I was trying to reason with her, but she continued to fuss. Your freaking writing me up for no freaking reason. Then she said, 'Is that you? That sounds like you, don't it? Intentionally hitting another student, so you got ISS for that.'

Nekia said teachers and administrators do not allow students to tell their sides. Educators administer the discipline quickly and move on to the next issue.

Aliyah expressed that many times the principal would not listen to her. Aliyah's perception was that the principal and the SRO believed the student who filed the complaint against her. Aliyah said, "I ended up getting in trouble. I ended up becoming the one that said the threats. I don't know how. It wasn't even on my phone." Aliyah was visibly irritated as she remembered the events leading up to her suspension. Aliyah talked about her mother's reaction to her suspension from school. Aliyah said, "She was hot because she knew I had nothing to do with it because my mama already knew what was going down." Aliyah had explained to her mother about her two friends who were fussing and cussing each other out. Her mother told her to stay out of it because "you don't got nothing to do with that." Once the principal suspended Aliyah, her mother came to the school to defend Aliyah. Her mother planned to fight for Aliyah at the tribunal hearing but ultimately signed the waiver, placing Aliyah at the alternative school for the remainder of the school year. The tribunal paperwork read the punishment ranged from a

return to school to expulsion from the school system. Aliyah's mother did not trust the tribunal panel not to expel her daughter from school for an entire year.

Tiara conveyed her teachers did not listen to her. During Tiara's sophomore year, there was an incident involving Tiara and her healthcare science teacher. Tiara did not answer the roll when the teacher called her name. She kept her head down on the desk. When the teacher tapped her shoulder, Tiara yelled, "Get out of my face!" The teacher told Tiara to go to the office. Tiara never responded to the teacher, so the teacher called an administrator to the classroom to remove Tiara. Tiara shared, "No one ever asks you if you are okay. Or what is going on? They just immediately send you to the office." The assistant principal escorted Tiara to the ISS room.

Referrals are a decisive moment in the relationships students and teachers form. A student views the student-teacher relationship as punitive following a referral submission. The use of suspension negatively impacts achievement school-wide (American Academy of Pediatrics Council on School Health, 2013). Gibson and Haight (2013) reported parents described suspensions as morally problematic, unfair, and inappropriate. The literature has shown exclusionary punishments are associated with damaging academic outcomes, including school failure and retention, negativity toward school, and an increased likelihood of dropping out (Welch & Payne, 2011). These policies do not consider why events occur, why a student is involved, or what part of the student's history is attributed to the behavior (Skiba & Knesting, 2001). While administrators and teachers have a legal obligation to keep their schools safe, there are many instances where schools get it wrong (Barrett et al., 2017).

The predominance of Eurocentricity in the school curriculum is evident in books and texts educators use to discuss racism. Schools use books similar to 'To Kill a Mockingbird' to launch discussions about racism; however, White men and women write most of the books schools use. Schools use a Eurocentric lens to tell the stories of African Americans instead of promoting the stories written and narrated by those impacted by racism. When school districts hide African Americans' knowledge from the curriculum, the effects on students' identity, belonging, and sense of community are long-lasting (Soprunova, 2020).

Georgia legislature banned schools from teaching "divisive racial concepts" in April 2022 (Bernstein, 2022). The bill signed by the governor prohibits any assertions that the United States is essentially racist (Bernstein, 2022). Precious expressed that the schools should include the perspectives of African Americans when teaching history courses, and she thought teachers glossed over anything considered controversial, including racism and slavery. Imani commented that she had never heard much about the history of African Americans in high school. She stated that the school would share information on the daily news program during February, Black History Month, but that was pretty much it.

Eurocentric school discipline style involves analyzing the result or the effect of a problem rather than determining the root cause of a problem (Nantambu, 2006). This Eurocentric mindset was evident in remarks the participants made. All participants expressed that teachers and administrators did not allow them to explain themselves when disciplinary events occurred. Participants often indicated that the reasons for being suspended from school were unclear or unfair. The participants shared that their mothers

were upset about their suspensions because the reasoning behind the suspension was fuzzy. The participants felt it might have changed the discipline resolution if they were allowed to tell their side. Similarly, Lightfoot (2021) found educators give minimal concern to the background or justification that explains the behavior.

Trust is a measure of legitimacy and satisfaction with a school system (Loveless, 1997). A considerable amount of literature examines school trust (Bryk & Schneider, 2002; Ladson-Billings & Tate, 1995; Loveless, 1997; Yeager et al., 2017). When parents and students do not trust teachers and administrators, the loss of community investment is detrimental to the school system (Bryk & Schneider, 2002).

Participants in this study conveyed that African American female students experienced strained relationships with teachers and administrators in CSSD. The participants depicted the lack of students' voices and perceived biases for the lack of trust. In the literature, African American parents' interactions and attitudes toward their children's schools, teachers, and administrators confirm their lack of trust and confidence (Bryk & Schneider, 2002). Building trust is difficult between African American parents and educators due to socio-cultural discrepancies and power imbalances dating back to slavery (Bryk & Schneider, 2002). As described by the participants, educators adhere to a belief that equality for all necessitates conforming to the norms of the dominant culture, the White middle class. Therefore, the mothers have racially socialized their daughters.

#### Zero-tolerance policies

The participants discussed how zero-tolerance policies played into their suspensions. When administrators or teachers did not allow the participants to explain any extenuating circumstances surrounding their discipline events, the participants

described how they felt ignored. Many participants shared the racial bias they experienced in high school when teachers and administrators acted and viewed things through a Eurocentric lens.

Zero-tolerance policies demand schools suspend a student for a predetermined number of days when the student violates certain items in the code of conduct (Gjelten, 2019). Administrators rarely take into consideration why a student broke a rule. Zero-tolerance policies in the CSSD's code of conduct punish students for non-criminal as well as criminal offenses. Students in this study were subject to mandatory suspensions for fighting, using profanity towards adults, theft, and threatening other students. Participants described not being allowed to tell their side of what happened. They felt administrators were rushing to send them home.

According to Gjelten (2019), however, zero-tolerance does not improve school climate or safety because zero-tolerance policies have not been proven effective in changing student behavior for the better (Gjelten). In this study, I found that zero-tolerance policies most affect African American students (see Table 1). African American female students are disciplined at a higher rate than White female students (Blake et al., 2017; Morris & Perry, 2017; Skiba et al., 2010). Gullo (2017) documented similar results in her study of biases in discipline decisions.

*Behavior Violations*. School administrators suspended participants in this study for various reasons. Precious's discipline event was the only event that did not fall into the zero-tolerance category because she was originally assigned ISS. An administrator initially gave Precious ISS, and she chose to take OSS instead. All other participants fell

into the zero-tolerance category, and Imani, Aliyah, and Tiara received the most severe punishment. CSSD assigned them to the alternative school.

Aliyah was the most adamant about being falsely accused. School authorities placed Aliyah at the alternative school for sending a threatening message to her girlfriend via the anonymous texting app, Text Now. Aliyah said, "I honestly had nothing, I mean nothing at all, to do with it." The SRO called Aliyah to her office and asked to see Aliyah's phone. Aliyah refused to give the SRO her phone until her mother was present. Aliyah angrily shared, "I don't understand why would you take something that didn't happen at school to the schoolhouse?" Aliyah expressed throughout the interview that things that happen off campus should not be subject to school discipline.

Tiara fought twice while in 9<sup>th</sup> grade. The first fight resulted in Tiara's suspension from school for four days. According to the Code of Conduct for CSSD, the second offense of fighting results in a disposition of 10 days OSS, parent notification, tribunal notification, and notification of law enforcement. The tribunal panel assigned Tiara a 9-week placement at the alternative school. Tiara was the only female student sent to the alternative school for fighting twice in the same school year during the 2018-2019 school year. More recently, in the 2021-2022 school year, the school suspended 46 students out of school for fighting. Twenty were African American female students. Either school administrators or tribunal panels placed 10 of them at the alternative school.

Shanice was suspended from school for four days for fighting when she was a sophomore. Next, she was suspended again for nine days in her senior year for theft.

Fourteen students were suspended from school for theft the year Shanice was suspended

for stealing money from a purse in the cafeteria. CSSD did not differentiate the disposition based on the value of the item(s) stolen.

CSSD administrators suspended five of the six participants from school using the zero-tolerance policy. Blake et al. (2016) and Cheng (2017) attributed the disparities in the discipline at a school to the racial composition of the faculty. The faculty in the CSSD school system is predominantly White. Implicit and racial bias of White teachers may be connected to the disparities in discipline (Gregory et al., 2010; Staats, 2015).

The participants agreed that OSS (out of school suspension) does not change a student's behavior. Imani shared, "I'd say OSS doesn't change anything. It's like most of the students who act out have problems at home or other things like that. OSS and ISS won't change that." Tiara also stated, "I think the students come back from OSS and continue doing what they were doing." LiCalsi et al. (2021) supported the participants' opinions. They found that assigning ISS or OSS does not decrease future misconduct for the disciplined students or their peers. Neither the students' academic achievement improved nor did the students' perceptions of a positive school climate improve. The participants expressed that being suspended took them out of class and made them fall behind in their schoolwork.

Dress Code Violations. Participants voiced concern about the school's enforcement of the dress code. They expressed that it discriminated against them. CSSD's dress code prohibits the length of dresses, skirts, and shorts from being more than four inches above the knee, and shirts cannot expose undergarments or a student's midriff, and students may not have holes in jeans above the knee (see Appendix D). For example, in the traditional high school, Nekia received three dress code violation referrals for wearing

jeans with holes above the knee, a crop-top shirt that exposed her midriff, and a dress that was too short. Nekia felt unfairly disciplined because other students wore similar outfits and were not reported to administrators. Nekia said, "Sometimes I feel like its [dress code] a little extreme." She continued,

Like the slits in the pants [jeans that have holes but still have strings going across], I just feel like what is splits in the pants gonna do...but they don't show that much skin. I feel that if we get dress coded for something like that, then that's a little extreme. I just feel like it's a little extra, you know.

Nekia voiced concern about a White female student who laughed when Nekia received a dress code referral. The White female student had three large holes in her jeans but did not get sent to an administrator. Nekia shared that teachers always checked to see if she met the dress code.

At the traditional high school, a teacher sends a student to an administrator if the teacher determines the student does not meet the dress code. On the first offense, the administrator asks the student to correct the violation. This could include calling a parent to bring a change of clothing, asking a friend for an article of clothing, or changing into other clothes the student brought with them to school. The second offense results in administrative detention, and all future offenses result in ISS. With each incident, the student is asked to correct the dress code violation. The administrator notifies the parent of each dress code offense.

Precious received 10 dress code referrals while a student at the traditional high school. The teachers sent Precious to the office for violating the dress code. She received administrative detention several times and was assigned ISS once for dress code

violations. A student serves administrative detention in the ISS room either before school or after school. Administrative detention lasts 30 minutes. When a teacher judges a student to be out of the dress code, the teacher sends the student to the center office. The student misses class time while waiting for someone to bring her a change of clothing. If the student cannot obtain a suitable change of clothing, the student must sit in the inschool suspension (ISS) room. Precious wore jeans with holes above the knee and dresses that were too short. Precious did not think the dress code was fair. Precious said, "Other girls walk around in the same outfit, and no one sends them to the office. It is always us, 'thick girls,' getting in trouble."

In the Infinite Campus data pulled from the CSSD traditional high school, teachers referred 179 students for violating the dress code during the 2021-2022 school year. Female students represent 131 of the referrals, and African American female students represent 93 of the students referred. When a teacher enters a referral for dress code, the teacher includes a description of the violation. Teachers referred female students mainly for holes in their jeans. Precious voiced concern about gender discrimination, saying that often male students were out of the dress code for having hoods on in the building or sagging pants, and teachers told them to take their hoods off or pull their pants up. Nekia said teachers and administrators unfairly applied the dress code,

I feel like if you do the dress code, then you gotta make sure everybody is following the dress code because if one person sees one person mess up in the dress code and they don't get in trouble for that, and somebody go back and tell that they didn't get in trouble for that then it's gone cause a

bigger situation and black people now days they wanna fight about everything.

Imani's thoughts were similar to Nekia's. Imani criticized the school's lack of consistent enforcement of the dress code. She said she wore the same jeans with holes in them above the knee several times. Some days she was sent to the office, and others, she was not.

On the first dress code offense for students at the charter school, the administrators have the parents bring a change of clothing for the student. On the second and third offenses of dress code violations, the parents bring a change of clothing, and the student is assigned lunch detentions. On the fourth offense, the student is suspended from school for the day. Any future dress code offenses at the charter school result in the student being withdrawn and sent back to her home school.

The administrator at the alternative school on the first offense gives students at the alternative school a change of clothing to remedy the dress code violation. Because the students all enter the alternative school through the same door, the administrator can address dress code violations at the beginning of the day. The school provides a shirt or a pair of pants that meet the dress code. The student receives a warning. The administrator notifies the parents. Any dress code referrals after that result in the student being sent home. However, during the 2021-2022 school year, the charter school and alternative school administrators did not record any dress code violations in Infinite Campus as discipline events.

The participants' complaints about the dress code add to the idea of the unfair application of the dress code to girls. School dress codes are under scrutiny for shaming

girls (Pomerantz, 2008). A federal appeals court ruled in August 2021 that Title IX's promise of equal opportunity for young women applies to discriminatory dress codes (Walsh, 2021). Title IX states, "No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance" (U.S. Department of Education, 2021a, para. 1). The Office of Civil Rights (OCR) enforces Title IX (U.S. Department of Education, 2021a). Dress codes are biased against women because many rules apply only to women (Pomerantz, 2008). Six items in the CSSD's dress code specifically address female students. The other 10 items are gender-neutral. Wilder and Key (2018) stated schools use dress codes to teach students to conform and obey authority; however, dress codes suppress individuality and student's voice.

#### Racial Bias

Participants in the study also perceived racial bias towards them as expressing teachers expected them to misbehave because of their race and gender. This notion is consistent with researchers, who suggested that social and ethnic differences between students of color and primarily White teachers add to the selection of students of color for disciplinary concerns (Bireda, 2010; Gay, 2010).

Amemiya et al. (2020) also aligned with participants' complaints of racial bias when arguing that students lose respect for teachers when the students observe biased punishment. Four of the participants spoke about administrators monitoring them more closely than their White peers. Nekia shared that White students were sneakier about the rules they broke, or maybe the teachers ignored what the White students were doing.

African American female students attending CSSD were three times more likely to receive an out of school suspension and eight times more likely to be placed at an alternative school. Green et al. (2020) reported data similar to CSSD's discipline data, indicating that schools suspend African American female students out of school five times more often than White female students.

When educators hold White students to a lower standard of behavior, African American students perceive the school as not welcoming (Ispa-Landa, 2018). In multiple studies, African American students reported feeling that teachers and administrators would discipline them regardless of their actual behavior because of the color of their skin (Annamma et al., 2016; Latimore et al., 2017; Skiba et al., 2014; Wirtz, 2021). When African American students carry their culture with them in school, teachers and administrators will use hyper-surveillance and quickly punish them (Annamma et al., 2016, p. 213).

Participants' statements suggest that the school did not honor and respect their beliefs, interpersonal styles, attitudes, and behaviors as African Americans. When examining the discipline data provided by CSSD Information System Coordinator, I found that teachers in CSSD referred African American female students to administrators for reasons that reflect common stereotypes about this population. The common stereotypes of African American women from the literature include Jezebel, Mammy, Sapphire, and Strong Black Woman (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020).

Adding another lens to the female students' dress code debate, for example, Butler-Barnes et al. (2020) reported that when teachers referred to African American female students for dressing too provocatively, teachers either consciously or

unconsciously applied the Jezebel stereotype. In other words, White teachers consider

African American female students were breaking the dress code by dressing

provocatively. Wearing a crop top was interpreted as being provocative by White

teachers because participants were showing their stomachs. As such, the provocative

dress was punished. When participants were punished for dressing provocatively, they

were removed from class. This removal from class made it more difficult for participants

academically because the participants did not receive direct instruction from the teacher.

Precious said her teachers always looked at her to find something wrong with what she was wearing. Nekia assumed that Black girls who were bigger were subjected to more dress code referrals. She cried, "We are big and cannot hide."

Another example hints at a bias toward the tone and volume participants use when speaking with school personnel and their peers. Participants expressed that when administrators at the traditional high school asked them to stop yelling during conversations, they were not yelling; it was just the way they talked. Behaviors deemed rude and disrespectful followed a pattern of racial stereotypes about young African American women who are too loud or have a bad attitude, like the Sapphire stereotype (Blake et al., 2010; Butler-Barnes et al., 2020; Fordham, 1996; Morris, 2007). Nekia explained, "More of the Black people are getting disciplined than the White people cause the Black people, they more 'ghetto' with it." African American female students at CSSD traditional high school were referred more than any other subgroup for rude/disrespectful behaviors, including yelling at teachers. Shanice explained, "I feel like Black people come off stronger and louder. Because that's how mom is, she will yell, but she doesn't think she is yelling. It sounds like she's yelling. It is just how she talks."

Shanice mentioned that teachers need more training in interacting with African American students. She continued by saying that White teachers try to make African American students act White. A fundamental issue African American students face in school and society is whether they want to succeed in the Black community or the White community (Fordham, 1996). This struggle is highlighted in the widening trust-gap.

The Trust-Gap. The trust-gap emerges when African American students perceive that teachers and administrators treat them unfairly (Walker, 2017). Participants expressed school officials do not treat them fairly because they are African American. Some participants reported instances of perceived racial discrimination at the hands of their teachers.

The pervasive trust gap starts with the original sin of this country – slavery.

Unlike Europeans who colonized America to escape oppression, Africans came in chains as enslaved people to a nation of oppressors (Redding, 1950/1973). He emphasized educators must recognize the differences in social existence between Europeans and Africans to understand the contrast in their views on racial discrimination and barriers.

While *Brown v. Board of Education* (1954) ended segregation, an unintended consequence following the ruling was less control of African American students' education within their communities (Bryk & Schneider, 2002). As students attended schools outside their local community, a barrier between parents and educators emerged (Cooper, 2007). African American parents distrust schools molded by generations of institutional inequality and racial discrimination (Uslaner, 2002). Public schools have a long history of racism, from funding inequities to over-policing African American students (Lynch, 2019).

African American parents intervene when discipline, respect, or safety are involved (Cooper, 2007). However, some educators view low-income mothers' culturally-based guarded stance as hostile and uncooperative (Cooper). When Nekia's sister was in high school, her mother accused an assistant principal of being racist, called him a "cracker," and spoke to him using profanity. Nekia's mother went to the board office to report the administrator for being racist. Her mother did not like the response from the superintendent and was served no-trespass papers by the sheriff's department. Nekia stated, "My mama was no longer allowed to come to the school. When she would sign me out, I would have to walk to the end of the driveway." All meetings between her mother and school officials were held at the board office, with an SRO always present.

Yeager et al. (2017) found African American students perceived racial bias in disciplinary dispositions, including expecting that they would be disciplined while their White peers are not for the same events. "Perceived bias and mistrust reinforce each other. And like a stone rolling down a hill that triggers an avalanche, the loss of trust could accumulate behavioral consequences over time" (p. 667). Participants also reported seeing and expecting disrespect and injustice. Once negatively stereotyped, the participants disengaged from school and lost trust in CSSD. They believed teachers and administrators mistreated them in the past and would continue to oppress them.

Nekia told of an incident in her Early Childhood Education class where she and a White female student argued over a seat in the classroom. The teacher accused Nekia of trying to fight the other student. The teacher "jumped down [Nekia's] throat and said you're not gonna fight." Nekia expressed that she felt the teacher mistreated her by only sending her to the office and not the other student. An administrator called Nekia's

mother about the incident. Her immediate reaction was to ask what had happened to the other student. When the administrator told Nekia's mother that she could not know what happened to the other student because of Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), she kept telling the administrator that "something had better have happened to the other girl." Under FERPA, school officials must safeguard the confidentiality of student education records (U.S. Department of Education, 2021b).

The deterioration in trust seemed to increase the likelihood of discipline infractions, creating the very social reality that triggered it (Yeager et al., 2017). The National Newspaper Publishers Association Every Student Succeeds Act (2017) reported low expectations from educators and increasing discipline disparities for misconduct add to the disparate oppression of African American students in schools nationwide, expanding the distrust for authority by students.

Socialization. Participants indicated their mothers prepared them for school and life using racial socialization. Racial socialization is how parents teach their daughters how to navigate and survive contradictory messages in the media and includes how mothers also teach their daughters what it means to be Black (Gaskin, 2015). Sometimes the lessons are intentional, and other times they are happenstance. It is apparent in the data that the participants felt their mothers had racially socialized them for success in predominantly Eurocentric school culture.

Nekia categorized herself as independent. She said, "We raised up to be independent 'cause that's how my mom was." Nekia described herself as strong-minded. She said, "I won't let nobody do me any type of way or talk to me any type of way." Her strong will and independence were evident in her reaction to teachers and administrators

while in school. Nekia said that she would often argue with adults in the building when she felt she was slighted or misjudged. Nekia pointed out that her mother had a rough childhood. She grew up in and out of foster care. Mothers want their daughters to have a strong education and even exceed their level of education (Bailey-Fakhoury, 2014). Nekia's mother did not complete high school. Her goal was for her children to finish high school and attend college if they wanted.

Aliyah's mother regularly had conversations with her about the importance of school. Aliyah elaborated, "I was always on top of my work." She completed high school in three years instead of four.

While participants reflected on their mothers' thoughts that education was important, they also indicated that their mothers distrusted school officials in the CSSD. Smith (2010) validated the idea that African American parents distrust educators and schools to protect their children. Lower-income African American parents approach school officials with attitudes perceived by teachers and administrators as guarded and confrontational (Cooper, 2007). However, African American mothers are especially protective of their daughters when there is a possibility of discrimination (Cooper).

Social science research has acknowledged the gap in generalized trust between African Americans and White Americans (Smith, 2010). Imani expressed her mother did not like high school. Following an altercation in a science classroom, her mother withdrew her from the traditional high school. Imani's father intervened and re-enrolled Imani a couple of weeks later. When the other students involved in the class disruption were not assigned ISS, Imani said, "I guess she was mad, and she never liked this school anyway." All involved in the classroom disruption were African American, but Imani's

mom accused the assistant principal of mistreating her daughter. The distrust among African Americans is not surprising and sprouted from a history of longstanding racism, socio-political ostracism, and discrimination (Smith, 2010; Uslaner, 2002).

Tiara's mother focused on self-worth and egalitarianism. Her mother never discouraged her from pursuing her dreams. Tiara said she wanted to be a nurse, and her mother never tried to change her mind. Tatum (1997) indicated others around us shape our self-perception through the messages we receive from them. However, Precious did not feel like her mother taught her how to have racial pride. Her mother chose to ignore discussions about race in their home. While other participants focused on their mothers, Shanice felt that her grandmother supported her more than her mother did. Her grandmother spoke with her about racial pride and self-worth. Both Imani's mother and father spoke with her about racial pride. Imani conveyed, "I am proud of my Black heritage." She said that she never tried to act White.

None of the participants mentioned racial discrimination from other students. Several participants spoke about teachers not treating all students the same. Nekia was the most outspoken about educators allowing White students to "get away" with behaviors that African American students could not. Shanice voiced that administrators target Black girls because "we are loud and draw attention to ourselves." Precious described how the dress code seemed to only apply to large Black girls. While none of the participants dropped out of high school, they communicated a lack of support because they did not feel school personnel understood where they were coming from and how their home life influenced their school behaviors.

No One Will Listen. Participants in the study frequently spoke about teachers and administrators not listening to them. Educators not providing students an outlet to tell their side of the story adds to the deficit already present in the trust gap. Aliyah shared that the school administrators never listened to her. She said that every time she was called to the office for being tardy or skipping, the administrator never asked why she broke the rule. When she was accused of threatening the other student via the texting app, she kept denying she had sent the text. The SRO and the administrator would not listen to her. Aliyah said, "It was not on my phone, but because she [the girl accusing Aliyah of threatening her] said I sent it, they took her word." Aliyah said she was angry that no one would listen to her.

Nekia talked about the incident with the Dean of Students. She said that because another teacher told him that she had used profanity toward him, he would not listen or believe her when she told him she was not cursing at him.

Tiara gave up on the school staff listening to her in her freshman year. She said that when the math teacher accused her of not taking the test. She tried to explain what she was doing. The teacher nor the administrator would listen. The administrator removed her from the classroom instead.

Lack of Paternal Support. More than one in four children live without a father (biological, step, or adoptive) in the home (Anderson et al., 2022). According to Martin et al. (2015), over 71% of African American babies are born to unwed mothers, and 57% of children are fatherless (Winquist et al., 2001). An absent father is not present in the life of his child, whether it is emotionally, physically, or both. Most single-parent homes are single-mother homes (Martin et al., 2015).

A fundamental cause for the disproportionate behavior problems among African American students living in single-mother homes is the challenges in balancing the demands of work and family (McLoyd et al., 2008). Gillette and Gudmunson (2013) concluded in a study of 532 subjects a fatherless home leads to economic stress in a family. The literature indicated that parents miss work to stay home with their suspended child, damaging the school-family relationship (Losen, 2013). However, the participants in this study did not stay at home with their mothers. Because they lived in single-parent households, the parent could not afford to miss work for multiple days. Instead, the students either stayed home alone or stayed with extended family members. Each participant in the study mentioned her mother working while she was suspended.

Lack of paternal involvement in an African American youth's life can result in adverse outcomes, including perceived abandonment (Allen & Daly, 2007). Robinson and Harris (2014) described parental involvement as

Practices that entail parent communication with their children about education, beliefs, or behaviors parents hold or engage in with the exclusive aim of increasing academic outcomes and parental engagement with schools and teachers. (p. 4).

Teenagers raised without their fathers may resent fatherly figures due to perceived estrangement (Poehlmann, 2005). Teenagers' feelings of lack of trust and heightened sense of anger may increase which makes making it difficult for them to create relationships (Poehlmann, 2005). Aliyah and Tiara revealed having anger issues. The anger issues were not always loud and rowdy. Shanice spoke about silent anger that builds up over time. This quiet anger becomes volatile for her. Imani and Tiara indicated

they are quick to anger. Schwartz (2004) substantiated the connection between being fatherless and having anger issues with tendencies toward violence. Schwartz described the coping mechanisms of fatherless young women to reduce violent responses when provoked eroded.

When a father leaves or is not involved in a child's upbringing, the child creates her own scenario and blames themselves (Baker, 2008). This blame leads to self-esteem issues. Tiara's father left shortly after she came home from the hospital. She questioned what would have made him stay throughout her childhood. Aliyah's father went to prison when she was three. When he was released from prison, Aliyah said, "My dad, he still wasn't there." Nekia's father was in and out of jail. She does not trust him and has no meaningful relationship with him. Shanice never lived in the same house as her father. She knows who her father is and talks to him occasionally. Precious's relationship with her father is "kind of iffy" and "not a real strong relationship" because she typically does not talk to him. Imani had the strongest paternal relationship of all the participants. Imani did not grow up living in the same house as her father, but she did see her father once or twice a month. Imani moved to live with her father when she was a 9th grader.

Establishing and continuing strong friendships was hard for most of the participants. Nekia admitted she only had two friends in school. Everyone else she called associates. Nekia described a friend as "somebody that you can count on or a shoulder to lean on when you call; they are there." Shanice said, "I'm not really big like on friends. Like I have my people I talk to." She kept her life private and remained socially isolated at school, and mostly hung out with her cousins at home. Imani did not want to make friends when she moved to Center System schools during her 9th-grade year. Because she

moved so frequently in elementary and middle school, Imani was not interested in starting new friendships and put walls up around herself. Thomas (2018) reaffirmed in her book, *Fatherless Daughters*, that daughters of absent fathers find it difficult to form lasting relationships. Participants referred to the people they hung out with as associates. The relationships described by the participants were superficial.

Researchers have found a connection between fatherlessness and poor academic performance for African American young women (Gillette & Gudmunson, 2013; Poehlmann, 2005; Schwartz, 2004). African American young women may perceive their future as stressful based on their childhood. In Gillette and Gudmunson's (2013) study, young African American women living in fatherless homes suffering economic stress choose employment after high school rather than post-secondary education based on survival instinct. The study results showed African American women who grew up fatherless and in an economic crisis decided to have a paycheck was more stable than getting a college education. Four of the six participants in this study graduated from high school and immediately entered the workforce. Imani worked at a clothing store in the mall. Precious worked at a meat processing plant. Aliyah worked at a pharmacy. Justice worked at a coffee shop. Nekia worked from the time she turned 16 and planned to work while attending a technical college. Tiara will continue taking classes at Southern Regional College in the fall and did not mention getting a job.

All the participants told stories about growing up without their fathers. Some participants had scheduled contact with their fathers. Others had minimal contact with their fathers. With the exception of Imani, the participants expressed a lack of support from their fathers. Each participant discussed their fathers having children from multiple

women. None of the participants spoke about a relationship with their half-siblings from their father's side.

#### Power of One

While racial bias contributes to strained relationships, the findings of this research are in sync with Ispa-Landa's (2018) and Skiba et al.'s (2014) notions that racial bias decreases as stronger relationships between teachers and students develop outside the classroom. Implicit bias decreases as teachers get to know their students (Latimore et al., 2017; Skiba et al., 2014; Wirtz, 2021). When teachers make an effort to show students they are interested in them, students sense that teachers care, which helps them become successful and more motivated to attend school (Sheldon & Epstein, 2004). da Luz (2015) also found that teachers making a personal connection with students increases a students' intrinsic motivation. Sanders et al. (2016) reported students were more successful when teachers demonstrated they were committed to them and accepted them when others in the school had rejected them.

All participants in the study had at least one teacher with whom they developed a strong relationship. The participants reported not getting in trouble or receiving referrals to the office in those teachers' classes because of the strength of the relationships. Shanice did not indicate she had a strong relationship with any teacher in the school after her 9th grade year.

Participants in the study reflected on the impact at least one adult in the building had on their success. When an educator pays attention to a student, it might be the first time a teacher has shown interest in her, and she may begin to feel optimism about her future (Wirtz, 2021). I have given the teachers and administrators pseudonyms.

Imani bonded with her science teacher, Ms. Grisham, and her math teacher, Ms. Butler. Imani liked that even though she fought in Ms. Grisham's class, it did not change their dynamic. She said, "Ms. Grisham never held a grudge against me for the way I acted that day in her class." Ms. Butler was always there for Imani. Imani felt like she could tell Ms. Butler anything, and it would remain confidential.

Shanice shared that Ms. Rogers had the most significant impact on her in school. She taught CTAE elective courses. Shanice said, "I loved that class. I only took it when she was there. I feel like she just had a better connection with her students. I was so sad when she left." Shanice did not bond any other teacher she connected with while in high school. Ms. Rogers left at the end of Shanice's sophomore year.

Students exposed to high levels of prolonged, widespread risk can build resilience through ordinary encounters with their teachers (Martin et al., 2015). Nekia described such encounters when she shared thoughts about her American Literature teacher. She said,

It's like with Ms. Martin's class; she's hard on you, but she was hard on you because she knew that you could do it and that you have the potential to do it. So, it's like with her; she's to some of us, a mom at school...She makes sure that we are doing good. She makes sure that we have no discipline problems, even if we're not in her class. While we were in her class, like most of us in her class last year, she made sure we stayed on our work and were not skipping her class. No phones were coming out in her class. When we are in the hallway, she made sure you told her what's

going on about our day and stuff. I will say that I probably got the closest relationship with her.

These daily encounters in the hallway and in the classroom were ordinary but kept Nekia "straight". Educators are responsible for acting as surrogate parents to show students that education is essential in hopes that the students will agree and continue being engaged in school (Sanders et al., 2016).

Nekia mentioned the second person she connected with would be her math teacher, Ms. Butler. Nekia said, "I love that lady to death of me. She is nice. She knows how to put up with my attitude. She knows when I have my attitude; she is like, 'Oh, don't mess with her. She got an attitude right now."

Precious shared the same love and respect as Imani and Nekia did for the math teacher. Precious said, "Ms. Butler made a difference in my life cause she actually got to know me. It was like we never really got into it; I never got in trouble in her class like we were just always cool. She was a good teacher too. She gets along with everybody. It's her personality too like she's just nice and like she helps you out a lot."

Precious also reflected on her relationship with the Dean of Students, Mr. Dunbar. He took time to let her sit in his office and calm down. He listened to what was "going on in her life." Precious said, "He knows my whole family. He calls himself the granddaddy and great-granddaddy of all the students in the school. He was either the principal or assistant principal here when my mama was in school." Mr. Dunbar met with Precious when her grades began to drop. She felt he acknowledged she needed support academically, but his ties with the community helped him understand that there were many factors contributing to her low grades. When a teacher acknowledges the risks

students face outside of school, students are more likely to remain engaged at school (Sanders et al., 2016). Additionally, for students to remain engaged, teachers are more successful in meeting the needs of at-risk students when they move beyond traditional roles and help compensate for the relational resources missing in their lives (Sanders et al., 2016).

Aliyah remembered her science teacher, Ms. Smith, as "her person." Ms. Smith taught regular and resource science courses at the traditional high school. She said,

Ms. Smith, my eleventh-grade year, before I went to the alternative school...I don't even think I was in school for two months. Yeah, I fell in love with Ms. Smith. I don't know why. She came to my graduation. She always checked on me when I was at the alternative school. She would help me with my earth science class even though I was at the alternative school. Yeah, she was good to help then too.

Aliyah described Ms. Mobley as having a significant impact on her also. Ms. Mobley was the director of the alternative school and former traditional high school counselor.

Ms. Mobley helped me out a lot; she really wanted me to go to college. I think that's probably one of my favorite administrators. I see Ms. Mobley now, you know, she'll still reach out asking if I still wanted to try to go to Spelman. She told me she'd pay for everything for me to go to Spelman, but I don't think college is for me. Ms. Mobley is why I graduated a year early. She was always on top of me, gave me work, just threw it at me like, do this so you can graduate early. I believe in you.

Aliyah was a virtual student at the alternative school. She had to visit the alternative school in person once a week. It was during this time that Aliyah met with Ms. Mobley. McDaniel (2014) recommended teachers foster a sense of community and inclusivity on a classroom level. While Aliyah was not on campus, Ms. Mobely acknowledged her as a part of the school community. Teachers who are influential with students build a relationship based on trust, mutual respect, and a genuine desire to instruct students the best they can (Bottiani et al., 2016; Latimore et al., 2017; Wirtz, 2021).

Tiara described Mr. Gibbs as her favorite teacher. He taught her literature class in tenth grade. Tiara said, "Mr. Gibbs made it fun. He made it exciting, like ok, I'm ready to go to his class and learn. For example, in my sophomore year, in Mr. Gibbs's class, we had a quiz every day, and you had to read." Tiara shared her love of reading. She said,

You had to read and then do the reading log. He would quiz you about what we read. We would also watch videos and stuff and then have a class discussion about what we just watched. We debated, and, like, that's so much fun. We would have to type paragraphs, and I didn't have a problem with that. We were actually doing something that was entertaining and wasn't boring.

Tiara talked about Mr. Gibbs meeting with each student individually at the beginning of the year to find out what motivated them and what activities they were interested in pursuing. Mr. Gibbs, like the other school personnel mentioned by the participants, made meaningful connections with his students.

Hattie (2003) wrote the way a teacher treats a student demonstrates whether the teacher respects the students as learners and people and whether the teacher cares and is committed to the students. An expert teacher recognizes possible learning obstacles and seeks ways to overcome these obstacles (Hattie). A teacher must be receptive to the needs of the students (Hattie, 2003; Sanders et al., 2016), and participants described teachers with these characteristics as their strongest allies. An essential adult in a student's life can potentially play a vital role in supporting the student who brings all her baggage to school daily (Sanders et al., 2016). Student engagement is more favorable if the student has a positive relationship with teachers (Martin et al., 2015; Sanders et al., 2016; Yazzie-Mintz, 2007). Support from adults is the foundation for student engagement and is critical for students to remain present in school (Yazzie-Mintz), an idea participants supported as they described who helped them persevere and graduate despite their academic and behavioral adversities.

### **Fighting to Survive**

Society traditionally views aggressive women as deviant and an abomination of feminine nature (Denson et al., 2018; Lombroso & Ferrero, 1895; Pollak, 1950). The African American female participants in this study lived in low-income neighborhoods while in high school. Five of the six participants in this study fought at some point during their K12 schooling. Brown (2003) argued that in areas where racism and poverty interlock, African American women use fighting to ensure protection and survival.

The participants discussed fights and altercations they had participated in as teenagers. Precious and Shanice said they did not think the schools could stop girls from fighting. Precious fought at school once, boosting or encouraging others to fight with

three others, and threatened to fight a student. Precious remarked that children "are not mature enough" and "they don't know how to just leave it alone or just ignore it." Aliyah never fought at school or at a school event; however, she said students are going to fight, and school officials cannot stop them.

Students who do not intend to fight feel they have to fight to save their reputation (Dance, 2002). Dance wrote African American students show the world their tough exteriors to circumnavigate the multidimensional interactions between the world's assumptions about them and the actual situations surrounding their lives. Shanice fought in middle school and in high school. Shanice stated, "I try to avoid fighting and try to stop other people from doing that type of stuff because I know it's not right but still, I ain't gone let nobody feel like they can bully somebody."

Similarly, Tiara is not one to walk away from confrontations but usually manages to avoid fights because, in general, she is easygoing. Tiara's first fight was in the school cafeteria. She passed by three adults to go to the other student. Tiara shared, "If you don't fight, you are labeled a snitch and weak." She conveyed, "[Students] are just not gonna walk away. Because people really hold that against you." The participants alluded to a label that being weak can result in other young women trying to fight a snitch. The participants viewed fighting as a way to improve their safety rather than to endanger it.

Shanice added girls generally fight at school because "they know if they go at it in public, weapons could be involved" and "mothers could join the fight also." As a result, students predominantly bring neighborhood fights to the school. From my own experience at CSSD traditional high school, students, who live within a block from each other, have waited until they are at school to fight rather than fighting in their

neighborhood. Tiara said that to bring a fight to a woman's home is total disrespect and can often lead to the mother coming out to fight also. Mothers' steadfast commitment to their daughters' safety also encourages the daughters to escalate the violence because of the assurance of reinforcements (Ness, 2010). The dual generational dynamic is often an essential feature of fighting in low-income communities (Ness).

Being feminine is equated with being docile, fragile, and White (Morris, 2007). In contrast, African American girls defend themselves against real and perceived threats through physical and verbal confrontations because they do not have the luxury of being docile (Morris, 2007). Unlike White and middle-class women, African American women do not defy the feminine norms or social expectations of their neighborhoods where aggression is considered normal (Anderson, 1994). Instead of being encouraged to ignore others who disrespect them, the participants' mothers have taught them not to back down when someone disrespects them. Nekia's mother has told her on more than one occasion to fight her own battle and stand her ground.

Participants noted that fighting is the only way to communicate sometimes. Nekia attested, "At some point, every girl fights. I don't know a girl that hasn't fought except those trying to act White." Following a fight, administrators will ask the students why they did not tell someone they had a conflict. All the participants in the study said telling an adult about the possibility of a fight would result in being labeled a snitch. A common remark from the participants in this study was they were told not to back down from a fight by their mothers. Three of the participants said their mothers told them not to start a fight at school but not to walk away from a fight either.

African American female students display force to build a reputation as someone not to bother. Tiara, Shanice, and Nekia said that being known as a good fighter has great value to them. Reputation and popularity save African American female students from constantly fighting. However, all fights are not related to self-defense; students may use fights to make a statement about who they are. Nekia shared, "When a girl loses a fight, it's going happen again because doesn't want to go down in history as losing." Shanice explained, "Girls use fighting to prove they ain't scared." Worse than losing a fight is walking away from a fight. Tiara commented that other girls would say, "Oh, you better hurry. You scared." According to the participants, a reputation as being a good fighter earns African American women respect in their communities.

### Cell Phones and Social Media

Cell phones have created a medium for students to record and share fights. Nekia said, "You know when a fight is getting ready to happen because you see a group with their cell phones out, ready to record." Tiara commented, "You see people recording before a fight even happens like people are already knowing that it's about to happen, and they will be the ones boosting a fight up." Elsaesser (2021) corroborated the participants' opinions in her study about social media. "Internet banging" is the term used to describe the taunts and "disses" between competing groups. Livestreaming, commenting, video sharing, and tagging escalate conflicts (Elsaesser). When someone "slides-up" on her posting and makes a derogatory comment or screenshots of one of her postings on Snapchat, Imani feels that is enough to warrant a fight. Benson (2016) substantiated that Black girls do not like for others to screenshot or troll their social media postings.

Shanice mentioned seeing a Snapchat video of a fight at Center System's traditional high school the week before our second interview. African American female students fought in the commons area during the first lunch period. An administrator was walking two students away from a verbal confrontation when a group of four other students ran up and began punching the students walking with the administrator. Shanice remarked that she "could not believe that was going on at the schoolhouse." Ranney and Mello (2011) contended that female adolescents are more likely to fight in response to a previous verbal altercation. Teenagers are defined by their peers and through their peer groups (Elsaesser, 2021). Elsaesser said that teenagers are very attuned to slights to their reputations, making it difficult to resolve social media conflicts peaceably.

African American female students fight for various reasons. From my observations as an assistant principal in the traditional high school, the most frequent reason that African American female students physically fight is not liking the way a person looks at them. Participants gave reasons such as someone rolling her eyes at them or insulting their mother, being loyal to friends, or fighting over their love interest. Ness (2010) found that "loyalty is in fact pledged to a wide range of associates, though sometimes only on a very temporary basis" (p.41). Shanice had someone's back in one of her fights. Shanice shared that the fight she was involved in after the basketball game was not about an issue she had with any of the participants. She fought to show support for her friend. Women share an understanding that talking to someone else's love interest is forbidden and enough to start a fight. In April 2022, a group of more than 10 females met at an apartment complex to fight. Tiara and Shanice were present and participated. Girls ranging in age from 15 to 24 were in the parking lot fighting. The girls fought over one

girl stealing another's girlfriend, and ultimately it was so large because of loyalty. The fight was both live streamed and recorded. It was then posted on YouTube, Instagram, and Snapchat.

### Self-Defense

Students regularly use self-defense as a reason for fighting. Tiara was the only participant to claim self-defense when questioned about her second fight. Tiara described how the other fighter struck her with the flag football belt. She felt justified in hitting the other girl back. According to Georgia state law, it is not illegal to fight as long as the person is defending herself (Tagami, 2017). The Georgia Supreme Court ruled that school districts must allow students to use self-defense as a defense and not automatically apply zero-tolerance policies (Tagami). However, the court left the burden of proof to the student and not the school district (Tagami). Tiara did not convince the tribunal panel that she acted in self-defense. As a result, the tribunal panel placed Tiara at the alternative school for a nine-week grading period.

### Conflict Resolution and Restorative Practices

The literature references conflict resolution and peer mediation as a resource to prevent or reduce fighting (Bickmore, 2001). Peer mediation includes participants talking through their disputes with the help of trained students as mediators (Johnson et al., 1992). Conflict resolution requires students who disagree to sit face to face and talk so each point of view is heard and then create a solution together (Lee & Williamson, 2015). However, girls have to agree to participate in mediation. Participants in this study reported talking to a counselor would not have prevented any of the fights they participated in at the time. Tiara said that girls would meet and act like everything is fine

in the guidance office and then post something on social media as soon as they leave the meeting. The point of conflict resolution is to address facts, feelings, and the future by allowing students to be heard, develop new ways of thinking, and enable students to create their own solutions (Lee & Williamson).

Participants reflected that fighting is a ubiquitous action. Students (male and female) generally choose to begin a fight in front of adults at school because they know the adults will intervene and break up the fight (Johns & Carr, 1996). I personally observed two fights during the 2021-2022 school year, where the students stood yelling at each other for over a minute. When adults walked up to them to intervene, the students began throwing punches. The losing student oftentimes attempts to go after the other fighter after being separated in order to appear tough.

### **Discussion and Conclusions**

The fundamental belief underlying CRT is that in the public school system, racism is present and is manifested when educators use value-based judgment to control African American students' behaviors and determine what is considered acceptable (Wirtz, 2021). When educators do not apply the same judgments and expectations to all students, the relationship between educators and students is damaged (Wirtz). Utilizing BFT allowed the participants to describe how racism affected them as African American women.

The purpose of this study was to investigate African American female students' perceptions of exclusionary discipline and the impact exclusionary discipline had on their education.in selected rural South Georgia schools. Notably, the study focused on African American female students' life, school, and discipline experiences, and the goal was to

guide others in reducing gender and racial bias in school discipline. I recruited six

African American current or former female students between the ages of 18-19 from a

South Georgia school district.

The following research question guided this study:

RQ - What are the life and school experiences of African American female students with exclusionary discipline in selected rural South Georgia schools?

I interviewed six African American female participants' about their experiences with discipline in high school. I used an open-ended interview guide (Appendix E) for with each participant. During the first interview, I focused the questions and discussions on the participant's life and school experiences. I wanted to learn about the disciplinary event(s) that led to the participant being suspended from school in the second interview. The participants reviewed interview transcripts to verify accuracy. I made corrections to the transcripts as requested by the participants.

I used three data collection methods: interviews, documents (school attendance, enrollment, academic and discipline documents), and memos of my thoughts on the research. Data analysis included coding, categorizing, and reflective writing. The data collected through the interviews led to conclusions about the perceptions that these six participants had about discipline practices in their schools. General discipline data reports from the schools, parent/teacher handbooks, and board system policies provided information about the schools and expectations for student behavior.

Narrative inquiry approach guided the data analysis process (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). I paid specific attention to meaning and purpose (Clandinin & Connelly). I addressed the trustworthiness of the study by collecting enough data to

provide rich, thick descriptions and conducting member checks to identify researcher bias.

Data analysis started with listening to the audio recordings and transcribing the interviews. I read the transcripts line by line and took notes in my journal. In my first round of coding, I used In Vivo coding. This allowed me to highlight the participants' voices (Saldaña, 2016). During the second phase of coding, I generated codes. This coding cycle included recognizing events, phrases, or behaviors and distinguishing them with codes (Given, 2008). I then condensed the codes into broader categories (Saldaña, 2016). Further analysis of categories allowed for the development of themes (Patton, 2015). I developed three significant themes from the data: strained relationships, power of one, and fighting to survive.

# **Research Question: Summary Discussion**

This section connects the research question to the study's findings through the three themes. I also connected the question to the related literature in order to comprehensively examine African American women's experiences with exclusionary discipline.

RQ - What are the life and school experiences of African American female students with exclusionary discipline in selected rural South Georgia schools?

Participants shared their personal histories in the first interview and their school discipline experiences in the second interview. These stories disclosed the specifics essential to answer the research question. Narrative inquiry provided a way to better understand African American female students and how they change as students and adults (Bell, 2002).

All participants attended CSSD traditional high school at some point in grades 912. Five participants grew up in South Georgia. Nekia lived in Florida and Michigan
before moving to South Georgia as a 7<sup>th</sup> grader. The participants grew up in single-parent
homes with their mothers. Imani moved to live with her father and stepmother when she
entered high school. Tiara's mother remarried when she was a senior in high school. All
participants conveyed that their grandparents were a significant part of their childhood
and adolescent years. Five spoke fondly of their maternal grandparents. After living with
her grandmother in Michigan, Nekia harbored ill feelings towards her.

Each participant had experiences as a child that affected her school enrollment. Tiara developed a disease that required hospitalization and home-schooling. Nekia was homeless and lived in a car with her mother. Tiara, Imani, Aliyah, and Precious enrolled in the school system later from somewhere else. Tiara began school in a neighboring system and enrolled in the CSSD system as a 7<sup>th</sup> grader. Imani entered the school system as a freshman. Precious entered the CSSD as a 3<sup>rd</sup> grader. Aliyah bounced between a neighboring school system and CSSD. Shanice was required to live with her grandmother for one year and attend a strict, Black, Christian school. The following year, Shanice returned to CSSD. None of the participants' mothers attended CSSD as a student. Five attended a rival neighboring school system. Except for Imani, the participants mentioned their mothers enrolling them in CSSD because it focused more on academics than neighboring school systems.

All participants had mothers that worked outside the home. When the mother worked, family members were left to take care of the students. Imani, Precious, and Nekia had older siblings to help care for them while their mothers worked, Tiara and

Aliyah had grandparents to look after them while their mothers worked, and Shanice stayed with older cousins. Five of the participants did not have a strong relationship with their fathers. Imani saw her father once or twice a month and eventually moved to live with him when she entered 9<sup>th</sup> grade. The other participants have no memories of ever living with their fathers.

Earlier studies about girls who grow up in single-parent homes indicated that girls feel the need to work because of economic stress (Gillette & Gudmunson, 2013). Gillette and Gudmunson also reported feeling safe is more important than education. Participant responses in this study mirrored these ideas. After completing high school, Imani worked at a clothing store in the mall. She planned to begin classes at a technical college in the fall of 2022. Precious enrolled in the cosmetology program at a technical college and began working at a meat production plant. Aliyah worked at a meat production plant and then switched to Walgreens. She planned to start classes through Walgreens to become a pharmacy lab technician. Shanice worked at a coffee shop. She wanted to start school in January 2022 but had not applied to any school. Nekia worked at Walmart and began cosmetology classes in the fall of 2022. Tiara continued taking nursing courses at a technical college.

Three of the participants played basketball in high school, although only Tiara completed a season. Imani, Precious, and Nekia took dance classes while in high school. Five of the six students completed a pathway while in school. Imani completed a pathway in Fine Arts. Aliyah completed a pathway in Business Management and Administration. Shanice completed a pathway in Education and Training. Tiara completed two pathways:

Education and Training and Health Science. Nekia completed a pathway in Education and Training. Precious did not complete a pathway.

Strained relationship theme was generated after listening to the students describe their relationships and their mothers' relationships with personnel in CSSD. Although the mothers recognized CSSD as being strong academically, according to the participants, their mothers did not like or respect the choices made regarding school discipline. Finally, the theme of fighting to survive was constructed from the students talking about interactions with other students and educators in CSSD. Administrators, teachers, and counselors may want students to tell them about ongoing conflicts, but it is not in the nature of the participants to divulge anything for fear of being viewed as weak and labeled a snitch.

I framed this study through the lenses of CRT and BFT. The experiences of the participants aligned with both of these theories. The most fundamental notion of BFT is that race and gender are integrated such that racial identity accompanies gender identity (Higginbotham, 1992). The female participants in this study noticed the racial and gender disparity as they navigated through high school. They felt the effects of not being men and not being White. Students reported the code of conduct and, more specifically, the dress code was written against girls and enforced more strongly against African American girls. The stereotypes (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020) applied to African American women were experienced by the participants. Educators applied the Jezebel stereotype (Butler-Barnes et al., 2020) when clothing was too tight or too revealing. Teenagers are adept at detecting unfair treatment based on bias and stereotyping, and these perceptions,

in turn, may cause disengagement in school (Gregory et al., 2017). These concepts were highlighted in the strained relationships theme.

A fundamental belief of CRT is that institutional policies and practices benefit one racial group over all others (Anyon et al., 2018). Bell (1980), Delgado and Stefancic (2017), and others led the CRT movement in the mid-1970s. CRT contends most racism remains hidden beneath a facade of normality. However, CRT is used by educators to identify and challenge the microaggressions that minorities experience (Yosso et al., 2004). CRT is grounded in the unique experiences of minority races and challenges White experiences as the standard (Ladson-Billings, 2016b; Taylor, 2016).

Five of the six participants experienced changes to the educational landscape during the COVID-19 shutdown. Three were juniors in the spring of 2020: Imani, Precious, and Shanice. Tiara and Nekia were sophomores when the school went virtual. Aliyah graduated in 2019, a year ahead of her classmates. All of the participants graduated and received their high school diplomas.

In March 2020, when the school doors closed and lessons were assigned virtually, many participants admitted that they did not do any schoolwork. The teachers began implementing lessons taught virtually. The students in the CSSD high schools already had 1:1 access to Chromebooks. However, the students in rural areas did not have Wi-Fi access. CSSD sent vans to the community libraries with hotspots on the vans for students to access their lessons. CSSD also provided hotspot internet access in the board office parking lot. Although 90% of African American students have home internet access, 11% only have access to the internet through a smartphone (Cai, 2020). School districts in Georgia have the opportunity to democratize learning with high-speed internet because

the internet offers students access to unlimited information (Evans, 2019). Yet, students in the Black Belt of Georgia are nearly twice as likely to lack access to high-speed internet (Evans, 2019).

Imani and Nekia lived in a small rural community about 20 minutes from the school. While the public library in their community was closer than the school, it was still more than two miles from their houses. Precious, Shanice, and Tiara had city addresses. If they needed access to the internet at the CSSD board office, it was within a couple of miles. The distance was still great for students without access to a vehicle and would have required Shanice and Tiara to cross a major four lane highway if walking. Precious lived within a half mile of the CSSD board office. CSSD did not want to punish students for not having access to the internet, so a decision was made system-wide that students who were passing up until March 2020 would not receive a grade lower than 70 for the 4th nine-week period.

In the fall of 2020, schools opened a month later than the usual first Monday of August. CSSD gave students and parents several options to help meet the needs of their families. Students could complete classes in person, using a hybrid model of teachers in the CSSD system teaching via Zoom or through a virtual school platform. Imani, Precious, and Nekia returned to CSSD traditional high school in person. Shanice and Tiara opted for the hybrid model of learning from their teachers via Zoom and completed assignments through Google Classroom.

Only one of the participants said her suspension impacted her thoughts about dropping out. Shanice said after her suspension in January 2020, she did not really care about school. While Shanice had always been a B and C student, her grades did drop to

include Fs. Her attendance also deteriorated. During the 1<sup>st</sup> nine weeks of school in fall of 2020, Shanice failed 5 out of 7 classes. Most of the grades in her courses were zeros. According to CSSD policy, teachers are not to give students a grade lower than 60 for the 1<sup>st</sup> nine-week grading period. By receiving a 60, students will have a better chance of passing if they show improvement during the three remaining grading periods. Shanice returned to in-person classes for the second nine-week period. Her grades improved, and she passed 5 out of 7 classes. Shanice ended up only failing two classes for the year. These courses were not required for graduation but did keep her from meeting admission requirements to schools within the University of Georgia System. Shanice said that the shutdown happened soon after her suspension for taking the girl's money. She lacked the desire to do any schoolwork and lost all motivation.

The other participants struggled to maintain good grades during the middle of the pandemic. Imani missed at least 23 days during the first semester before her suspension in the 2020-2021 school year. She failed two classes in the 1<sup>st</sup> nine-weeks. Imani's grades improved once she enrolled and began completing coursework at the alternative school. She passed all of her classes and was able to graduate with her cohort. Imani shared, "All of the downtime and fluff was removed." She simply had to complete the assignments at her own pace.

During the 1<sup>st</sup> nine-week period of 2020-2021, Precious missed anywhere from 16 to 32 classes. Teachers take attendance by class period, so the number of classes missed varies. Precious opted to take classes using the hybrid model at the beginning of the second nine-week period. Precious failed six classes and only passed Forensics. At the end of the semester, Precious and her mother knew she needed to make a change if she

was going to graduate. Precious applied and was accepted into CSSD charter high school. The counselor at the charter school assigned Precious the minimum number of classes for her to graduate with her original cohort. Precious focused on the four classes: an ELA class, two math classes, and a science class. In total during her high school years, Precious served 25 days in ISS and 3 days OSS. Her grades dropped each time she was suspended. Precious said, "I need to be in the classroom to learn. I cannot learn in ISS." I found it interesting that she opted for remote learning when she so felt so strongly that she could not learn while in ISS.

Tiara's mother was fearful of her students catching COVID-19, so she kept Tiara and her twin sister at home. Tiara struggled with her American Literature class due to the remote learning style. At the end of the first semester, Tiara had 1 A, 2 B's, 3 C's, and 1 F. Tiara returned to in-person learning at the end of the first semester. Her grades rapidly improved. She had 6 A's and 1 B for the 4th nine weeks and ended the year with 2 A's, 3 B's, and 2 C's. Tiara admitted that virtual learning was not for her.

One of the coping strategies mentioned by the participants was the importance of having an adult in the building that supported them, which was highlighted in the theme power of one. While the participants mentioned a lack of connection with the school, all of the participants mentioned at least one staff member that positively impacted their lives. Yazzie-Mintz (2007) indicated that support from adults is critical for students to remain present in school and is a foundation for student engagement. Looking at where that adult support came from, participants reported feeling the most support from teachers and the least support from administrators.

Secondly, African American female students cope to reduce the likelihood of being suspended is by adopting a race-less persona. Evans-Winters and Esposito (2010) defined being race-less as "the absence of behavioral and attitudinal characteristics related to a particular race" (p. 12). Fordham (1988) described race-less for African American women as denying who they are and adopting the characteristics of the White culture. Students practice silence to get ahead in class (Evans-Winters & Esposito, 2010). Participants mentioned not talking in some teachers' classes. The students wanted to blend in and not call attention to themselves. Rather than viewing students' behaviors and attitudes as a response to the microaggressions the African American women faced, educators interpret the behavior as obedience (Evans-Winters & Esposito, 2010).

## **Implications**

The data collected from participants through individual interviews sought to answer the research question about the experiences of African American female high school students dealing with racial disparity and exclusionary discipline practices. The data collected through the interviews led to the conclusions about the perceptions that these six students had about discipline disproportionality and discipline practices in CSSD. This section will discuss implications for educators and teacher preparation programs based on the findings of the study in hopes of leading to possible changes in discipline practices in schools as well as potential policy changes.

## **Implications for Educators**

The voices of the African American participants about experiencing teacher bias and racism in school could foster activism within schools. Their views can inform educational reform in teachers locally and regionally. The participants had insights that

merit the attention and responses of educators who hold decision-making power. Clearly, the African American female participants expressed feeling discriminated against with their experiences in school.

There is clearly a need for educators to become cognizant and more sensitive to the unique needs of African American female students who come from challenging backgrounds during their high school years. Because the majority of teachers in the United States are White women (Will, 2020), they are unaware of the reasons why African American students behave as they do. They do not understand that the student behaviors considered inappropriate at school are crucial for survival in the homes and communities. Educators base their code of conduct on White, middle-class norms (Horton-Williams, 2020). African American female students are doomed to fail because they have not been taught the skills necessary to survive in the school setting (Horton-Williams, 2020). According to Ladson-Billings (1995b), African American students are blamed and punished for things they do not know. Educators should provide students with acceptable alternative behaviors instead of punishing them for social norms they have not been taught.

Because freshman year is a difficult period of transition for many students, extra precautions should be implemented during the entire freshmen year to support students in adjusting to high school (Swayne, 2018). In addition to offering tutoring for academically struggling students, educators should also provide onsite counseling services for students. School counselors spend the majority of their time creating course schedules and are not trained to provide the psychological counseling that would serve the needs of African American female students (Whaley, 2001).

Administrators are tasked with being instructional leaders as well as disciplinarians in schools. Administrators should be the last line of defense when classroom infractions occur but are regularly used as the first line of defense by teachers (Anderson, 2018). Too often, administrators are not giving students a voice, and they only believe what teachers tell them. Administrators do not give students the same opportunity to tell their side of the story and are being disciplined by administrators based on one side of the story. Administrators need to properly investigate these situations and provide students with their right to due process.

To help African American female students experience success, administrators must look beyond White-centric approaches and design a program to meet the needs of this specific population (Hyland, 2005). Creativity and new ways of examining problems are required of administrators. Schools and classrooms must become more inclusive and less exclusive. Principals and other administrators should be visible and should attempt to get to know as many students on a personal basis as possible.

School districts need to offer gender and racial bias training to all school level staff in order "to root out discriminatory discipline practices" (Smith-Evans et al., 2014, p. 39) and guarantee that schools are not damaging the success of African American female students (Smith-Evans et al.). All educators and staff members need training to identify signs of distress that may be underlying perceived disrespectful behavior (Rahimi et al., 2021). District personnel and administrators should regularly audit the discipline data and policies at all grade levels K12 (Chapman & Hatt, 2021). Chapman and Hatt recommended districts review discipline data by student subgroups and report them to all stakeholders to determine a plan to address them.

## **Implications for Teacher Preparation Programs**

Nearly 80% of public school teachers and 68% of school administrators are White, according to National Center for Education Statistics (NCES, 2019). In rural areas, 89% of teachers are White. According to Carver-Thomas and Darling-Hammond (2017), African American women comprise approximately 5% of the U.S. teacher workforce. In 2017-2018, African Americans comprised only 7% of schoolteachers (NCES, 2019). In addition, 11% of school principals were African American (NCES).

First, teacher preparation programs need to recruit more African American teachers. The idea that the teacher workforce needs more diversification is not new (Blazar, 2022). Ladson-Billings (1995b) supported the claim that it benefited African American students to have African American teachers. In order to recruit African American teachers, Blazar (2022) recommended exposing potential teachers to the Career Technical and Agricultural Education (CTAE) Education and Training program of study while students are still in high school. This provides students with the opportunity to learn more about teaching as a career. Students completing the pathway would gain real-world experience in the classroom and could potentially earn college credits through technical colleges.

Second, teacher preparation programs need to include culturally responsive pedagogy in the curriculum. Culturally responsive pedagogy connects students' culture and life experiences with what they learn in school (Ladson-Billings, 1995a, 1995b). These connections help students access rigorous curricula and develop higher-level academic skills (Ladson-Billings, 1995b). By utilizing culturally responsive teaching, educators can better meet students' needs. African American students and other students

of color face implicit bias because of their race, culture, or language, and their needs usually go undetected (Okonofua et al., 2016). Diversity should be a continual thread during the teacher preparation programs.

Empathy training can influence how teachers handle discipline situations (Okonofua et al., 2016). Professional development needs to be continuous. Fenning and Jenkins (2018) reported a teacher trained to be empathetic is less punitive in their solutions to discipline incidents and less likely to label students as troublemakers. Culturally responsive teaching builds empathy because it allows teachers and students to understand diverse perspectives. Students feel valued when they see themselves represented in the curriculum. This value gives students a sense of belonging.

#### **Delimitations**

One delimitation is the small sample size. I narrowed this study to the narratives of six African American female participants who attended schools in one rural South Georgia school district. The school district selected had three high schools: traditional, charter, and alternative. The study recorded the experiences of African American female students who graduated from high school and not students who had dropped out of school. Other delimitations included age, race, and gender.

### Limitations

Recognizing the limitations of a study adds to its trustworthiness (Patton, 2015). Because the participants were all African American, transferability to other racial groups could be a limitation. Findings from this study are only generalizable to other school districts with a comparable population and similar discipline code of conduct.

For unknown reasons, many former students did not answer the email. I interviewed two participants virtually in the fall of 2021 because of COVID-19 related issues. I utilized FaceTime to complete the virtual interviews. I could see participants' faces and expressions. I interviewed one participant (Shanice) in person for the first interview and during the second interview; she decided she would rather answer questions via email.

My personal bias was a limitation. According to Milner (2008), a researcher must be aware of the role of her racial positionality and the positionality of others to avoid possible harm to persons of color. I acknowledge that my experiences with school discipline may influence or bias my thoughts and opinions. Collecting thick, detailed data and utilizing member checking allowed me to limit my biases. I provided thorough background narratives for each participant. Following each interview, I emailed each participant a copy of her interview transcript to verify her responses in a member-checking process.

I began collecting data in August 2021 and continued through May 2022. My aim was to tell the stories of African American female students in a rural South Georgia school district who received exclusionary discipline while in high school. The participants shared personal stories about their life experiences throughout their K12 years and included their discipline history in high school. Participants gave me permission to view their enrollment, discipline, and attendance records along with their academic transcripts. These data allowed me to verify the information presented by the participants during the interviews (Maxwell, 2013). Embellishments and omissions in stories would be difficult to preclude.

I limited this narrative inquiry to the stories of the African American female students who participated in the study. I did not discuss the perceptions of exclusionary discipline from other stakeholders.

#### **Recommendations for Future Research**

More research is warranted on factors that identify the connections between suspensions and outcomes (Noltemeyer et al., 2015). This study could be replicated in other school systems and with a larger sample to establish further a connection between exclusionary suspensions and the impact on academics. Future research could include current middle school or high school students. Other studies needed include the experiences and perceptions of exclusionary discipline from educators and students who dropped out of school after experiencing exclusionary discipline. Further qualitative studies are warranted to shed more light on the experiences and counter-narratives of African American female students.

#### **Final Conclusions**

Wallace et al. (2008) highlighted the racial gap among female students. Blake et al. (2010) provided empirical evidence of rates of suspensions for Black female students as compared to Black male students. However, research continues to omit a critical portion of understanding the disciplinary experiences of African American female students. This dissertation offers a better understanding surrounding disproportionate disciplinary experiences for female students at the district level. This research is important for understanding the extent to which disproportionality exists between races and the categories of violations that female students who are most likely to be suspended.

This information is essential for knowing where more research is needed and how to intervene based on female students' experiences.

Zero-tolerance policies continue to perpetuate an already existing cycle of unfair and unequal disciplinary experiences for African American students. These policies contribute to the broadening racial suspension gap and, finally, the achievement gap. Additionally, administrators use suspensions to remove students from the learning environment rather than working with teachers and counselors to create positive and proactive strategies to respond to students' undesirable behaviors. These data continue to support previous findings. The focus of working with African American female students needs to move to attitude changes and shifts in mindset.

#### **Final Reflection**

# Participant Update

I have maintained contact with the participants in this study. Imani has not started classes yet. She has completed the application, and the technical college accepted her for admission. She will start cosmetology classes in January 2023. Imani is still living with her father. Precious has nearly completed her cosmetology coursework, and she is still working at FLP. Aliyah began classes through Walgreens to become a licensed pharmacy technician in June 2022. She continues to live with her mother. Shanice resigned from her job at the coffee shop. I am not sure what she is doing now. I have attempted to contact her a few times via email. She has not responded. Tiara is attending the technical college full time to complete her nursing degree. Nekia moved to Valdosta and began cosmetology classes in August 2022.

## Personal Reflection

After completing this study, I have changed how I conduct interviews with students when I receive a discipline referral. I ask students to explain what happened, and I listen. I never want another student to feel like she was not heard. Prior to this study, I always took the teacher's side when a referral was submitted. I was guilty of trying to clear the discipline log as fast as I could. The relationships that I have formed with students and specifically African American female students have strengthened because I took what the participants told me and applied it.

Throughout this study, I have shared comments made by the participants with my administrative colleagues. There are still zero-tolerance policies in place; however, the administrative staff is providing students the opportunity to share extenuating circumstances that might have influenced the behavior. The bottom line is this study changed me.

### References

- Alexander-Floyd, N. G. (2010). Critical race black feminism: A "jurisprudence of resistance" and the transformation of the academy. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, *35*(4), 810–820. https://doi.org/10.1086/651036
- Allen, S., & Daly, K. J. (2007). The effects of father involvement. *An Updated Research Sum*, 603, 1-27.
- Allman, K. L., & Slate, J. R. (2011). School discipline in public education: A brief review of current practices. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparations*, 6(2), 1–8.
- Amemiya, J., Mortenson, E., & Wang, M. T. (2020). Minor infractions are not minor: School infractions for minor misconduct may increase adolescents' defiant behavior and contribute to racial disparities in school discipline. *American Psychologist*, 75(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000475
- American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. (2019). Corporal punishment in schools. American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry.

  https://www.aacap.org/AACAP/Policy\_Statements/1988/

  Corporal\_Punishment\_in\_Schools.aspx
- American Academy of Pediatrics Council on School Health. (2013). Out of school suspension and expulsion. *PEDIATRICS*, *131*(3), e1000–e1007. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-3932
- American Civil Liberties Union. (n.d.). *School-to-prison pipeline*. American Civil Liberties Union. https://www.aclu.org/issues/juvenile-justice/school-prison-pipeline

- American Psychological Association. (n.d.). *The pathway from exclusionary discipline to the school to prison pipeline*. https://www.apa.org/advocacy/health-disparities/discipline-facts.pdf
- American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force (2008). Are zero tolerance policies effective in the schools?: An evidentiary review and recommendations. *American Psychologist*, 63(9), 852-862
- Anderson, M. (2018, September 1). *Getting consistent with consequences*. ASCD. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/getting-consistent-with-consequences
- Anderson, E. (1994, May). *The code of the streets*. The Atlantic.

  https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/1994/05/the-code-of-the-streets/306601/
- Anderson, J. (2015). *Gun-free schools act*. Education Law. https://usedulaw.com/323-gun-free-schools-act.html
- Anderson, L., Hemez, P., & Kreider, R. (2022). Living arrangements of children: 2019.

  In *census.gov* (pp. 1–20). U.S. Census Bureau.

  https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2022/demo/p70-174.html
- Annamma, S. A., Anyon, Y., Joseph, N. M., Farrar, J., Greer, E., Downing, B., & Simmons, J. (2016). Black girls and school discipline: The complexities of being overrepresented and understudied. *Urban Education*, *54*(2), 211–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916646610
- Anyon, Y., Atteberry-Ash, B., Yang, J., Pauline, M., Wiley, K., Cash, D., Downing, B., Greer, E., & Pisciotta, L. (2018). It's all about the relationships": Educators' rationales and strategies for building connections with students to prevent

- exclusionary school discipline outcomes. *Children & Schools*, 40(4), 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdy017
- Ary, D., Cheser Jacobs, L., Sorensen Irvine, C. K., & Walker, D. A. (2019). *Introduction to research in education*. Cengage.
- Bailey-Fakhoury, C. (2014). Navigating, negotiating, and advocating: Black mothers, their young daughters, and white schools. *Michigan Family Review*, 18(1), 57. https://doi.org/10.3998/mfr.4919087.0018.105
- Baker v. Owen, 395 F. Supp. 294 (M.D.N.C. 1975).
- Baker, A. (2008). Parental alienation syndrome--The parent/child disconnect. *Social Work Today*, 8(6), 26.
- Balderas, G. (2014). *Objective versus subjective discipline referrals in a school district* [EdD Dissertation]. University of Oregon.
- Balfanz, R., Byrnes, V., & Fox, J. H. (2015). Sent home and put off track. In D. Losen (Ed.), *Closing the School Discipline Gap*. Teachers College.
- Baron, S. (2014). State of the states report 2014 local momentum for national change to cut poverty and inequality. In *Center for America Progress Action Fund*.

  https://cdn.Americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/StateofStates2014-report.pdf
- Barrett, N., McEachin, A., Mills, J., & Valant, J. (2017). Disparities in student discipline by race and family income. In *Education Research Alliance*.

  https://educationresearchalliancenola.org/files/publications/010418-Barrett-McEachin-Mills-Valant-Disparities-in-Student-Discipline-by-Race-and-Family-Income.pdf

- Beachum, F. D., & Gullo, G. L. (2019). School leadership: Implicit bias and social justice. In R. Papa (Ed.), *Handbook on Promoting Social Justice in Education* (pp. 1–26). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74078-2\_66-1
- Beachum, F. D., & McCray, C. R. (2011). *Cultural collision and collusion reflections on hip-hop culture, values, and schools*. Lang.
- Bell, C. (2015). The hidden side of zero tolerance policies: The African American perspective. *Sociology Compass*, 9(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12230
- Bell, D. (1980). Brown v. board of education and the interest-convergence dilemma. *Harvard Law Review*, 93(518), 518–533. https://harvardlawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/1980/01/518-533\_Online.pdf
- Bell, D. (2016). Who's afraid of critical race theory? In E. Taylor, D. Gillborn, & G.Ladson-Billings (Eds.), Foundations of Critical Race Theory in Education (pp. 31–42). Routledge.
- Bell, J. S. (2002). Narrative inquiry: More than just telling stories. *TESOL Quarterly*, 36(2), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.2307/3588331
- Benson, J. (2016, May 13). Why are black girls killing each other or trying to? Media Diversified. https://mediadiversified.org/2016/05/13/why-are-black-girls-killing-each-other-or-trying-to/
- Bernstein, S. (2022, April 29). *Georgia becomes latest U.S. state to ban "divisive"*concepts in teaching about race. Reuters.

  https://www.reuters.com/world/us/georgia-becomes-latest-us-state-ban-divisive-concepts-teaching-about-race-2022-04-28/

- Berry, T. R., & Cook, E. J. B. (2018). Black on black education 2.0: Critical race perspectives on personally engaged pedagogy for/by black pre-service teachers. *Teaching Education*, 29(4), 343–356.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2018.1514000
- Bhambra, G. K. (2017). Brexit, trump, and "methodological whiteness": On the misrecognition of race and class. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 68(S1), S214–S232. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-4446.12317
- Bickmore, K. (2001). Student conflict resolution, power "sharing" in schools, and citizenship education. *Curriculum Inquiry*, *31*(2), 137–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/0362-6784.00189
- Bireda, M. R. (2010). Cultures in conflict. R&L Education.
- Birks, M., Chapman, Y., & Francis, K. (2008). Memoing in qualitative research. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 13(1), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987107081254
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blake, J. J., Butler, B. R., Lewis, C. W., & Darensbourg, A. (2010). Unmasking the inequitable discipline experiences of urban black girls: Implications for urban educational stakeholders. *The Urban Review*, *43*(1), 90–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-009-0148-8
- Blake, J. J., Keith, V. M., Luo, W., Le, H., & Salter, P. (2017). The role of colorism in explaining African American females' suspension risk. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 32(1), 118–130. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000173

- Blake, J. J., Smith, D. M., Marchbanks, M. P., Seibert, A. L., Wood, S. M., & Kim, E. S. (2016). Does student–teacher racial/ethnic match impact black students' discipline risk? A test of the cultural synchrony hypothesis. In R. J. Skiba, K. Mediratta, & M. K. Rausch (Eds.), *Inequality in School Discipline: Research and Practice to Reduce Disparities* (pp. 79–98). Springer Nature.
- Blake, J. J., Smith, D. M., Unni, A., Marchbanks, M. P., Wood, S., & Eason, J. M. (2020). Behind the eight ball: The effects of race and number of infractions on the severity of exclusionary discipline sanctions issued in secondary school. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 28(3), 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426620937698
- Blazar, D. (2022, February 16). "Grow-your-own" to diversify the teacher workforce:

  Examining recruitment policies and pathways to recruit more black teachers.

  Inside IES Research. https://ies.ed.gov/blogs/research/post/grow-your-own-to-diversify-the-teacher-workforce-examining-recruitment-policies-and-pathways-to-recruit-more-black-teachers
- Bolderston, A. (2012). Conducting a research interview. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, 43(1), 66–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2011.12.002
- Bonilla-Silva, E. (2014). Racism without racists: Color-blind racism and the persistence of racial inequality in America (4th ed.). Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Bottiani, J. H., Bradshaw, C. P., & Mendelson, T. (2016). Inequality in black and white high school students' perceptions of school support: An examination of race in context. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *45*(6), 1176–1191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0411-0

- Bradshaw, C. P., Mitchell, M. M., O'Brennan, L. M., & Leaf, P. J. (2010). Multilevel exploration of factors contributing to the overrepresentation of black students in office disciplinary referrals. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102(2), 508–520. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018450
- Brah, A., & Phoenix, A. (2016). Ain't i a woman? Revisiting intersectionality. In E.

  Taylor, D. Gillborn, & G. Ladson-Billings (Eds.), *Foundations of Critical Race Theory in Education (2nd ed).* (pp. 251–260). Routledge.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brewster, J., Stephenson, M., & Beard, H. (2014). Promises kept: Raising black boys to succeed in school and in life. Random House.
- Brown, B. (2018, August 16). *Black Americans are still victims of hate crimes more than any other group*. The Texas Tribune; Texas Tribune.

  https://www.texastribune.org/2018/08/16/African-Americans/
- Brown, L. M. (2003). *Girlfighting: Betrayal and rejection among girls*. New York University Press.
- Brown University. (n.d.). *Rural schools: Teaching diverse learners*. www.brown.edu.

  Retrieved April 20, 2021, from https://www.brown.edu/academics/education-alliance/teaching-diverse-learners/policy/rural-schools
- Brown v. Board of Education, (U.S. Supreme Court May 16, 1954). https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/347/483/

- Bryk, A. S., & Schneider, B. (2002). *Trust in schools A core resource for improvement*.

  Russell Sage Foundation.
- Burke, M. A. (2019). Colorblind racism. Polity Press.
- Butina, M. (2015). A narrative approach to qualitative inquiry. *American Society for Clinical Laboratory Science*, 28(3), 190–196. https://doi.org/10.29074/ascls.28.3.190
- Butler-Barnes, S., Allen, P., Williams, M., & Jackson, A. (2020). Stereotypes of African Americans. In J. Nadler & E. Voyles (Eds.), *Stereotypes: the incidence and impacts of bias* (pp. 109–127). ABC-CLIO, Inc.
- Butler, B., Lewis, C., Moore III, J., & Scott, M. (2012). Assessing the odds:

  Disproportional discipline practices and implications for educational stakeholders.

  The Journal of Negro Education, 81(1), 11.

  https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.81.1.0011
- Cagle, J. F. (2017). The cost of color in public education an examination of disproportionate suspensions. *Journal of Organizational & Educational Leadership*, 3(1), Article 3, 1-33. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1161987.pdf
- Cai, J. (2020, June 23). Black students in the condition of education 2020. Nsba.org;
  National School Boards Association. https://nsba.org/Perspectives/2020/black-students-condition-education
- Carson, C. (Ed.). (2003). Civil rights chronicle: The African-American struggle for freedom. Omnigraphics Incorporated.
- Carter Andrews, D. J., Brown, T., Castro, E., & Id-Deen, E. (2019). The impossibility of being "perfect and white": Black girls' racialized and gendered schooling

- experiences. *American Educational Research Journal*, *56*(6), 2531–2572. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219849392
- Carter, P. L., Skiba, R., Arredondo, M. I., & Pollock, M. (2017). You can't fix what you don't look at: Acknowledging race in addressing racial discipline disparities.

  \*Urban Education, 52(2), 207–235. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916660350
- Carver-Thomas, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2017). Why black women teachers leave and what can be done about it. *Advances in Race and Ethnicity in Education*, 6, 159–184. https://doi.org/10.1108/s2051-231720170000006009
- Casad, B., & Bryant, W. (2017). Teacher bias. *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Psychology* and Gender. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483384269.n
- Cheng, D. A. (2017). Teacher racial composition and exclusion rates among black or African American students. *Education and Urban Society*, *51*(6), 822–847. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124517748724
- Cerrone, K. (1999). The gun-free schools act of 1994: Zero tolerance takes aim at procedural due process. *Pace Law Review*, 20(1). Article 7, 131-188. https://digitalcommons.pace.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=&httpsredir=1&article=1265&context=plr
- Chapman, T., & Hatt, B. (2021, January). *Discipline equity audits: Courageous conversations and a plan for the future*. Illinois Association of School Boards. https://www.iasb.com/about-us/publications/journal/2021-illinois-school-board-journal/january-february-2021/discipline-equity-audits-courageous-conversations/ Charmaz, K. (2014). *Constructing grounded theory* (2nd ed.). Sage.

- Children's Defense Fund. (1975). School suspensions: Are they helping children?

  Washington Research Project, Inc. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED113797.pdf
- Child Trends, & EMT Associates. (2020). Georgia compilation of school discipline laws and regulations. In *National Center for Safe and Supportive Learning Environments*. https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/sites/default/files/discipline-compendium/Georgia%20School%20Discipline%20Laws%20and%20

  Regulations.pdf
- Cholewa, B., Hull, M. F., Babcock, C. R., & Smith, A. D. (2018). Predictors and academic outcomes associated with in-school suspension. *School Psychology Quarterly: The Official Journal of the Division of School Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 33(2), 191–199. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000213
- Clandinin, D. J. (2016). *Engaging in narrative inquiry*. Routledge.
- Clandinin, .D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (1994). Personal experience methods. In N. K.

  Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (pp. 413–427).

  SAGE.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Cole, N. L. (2020, October 21). What you need to know about the school to prison pipeline. ThoughtCo. https://www.thoughtco.com/school-to-prison-pipeline-4136170
- Collins, P. (1986). Learning from the outsider within: The sociological significance of black feminist thought. *Social Problems*, *33*(6), S14–S32. https://doi.org/10.2307/800672

- Collins, P. (2000). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment (2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Collins, P. (2019). *Intersectionality as critical social theory*. Duke University Press.
- Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1990). Stories of experience and narrative inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, 19(5), 2–14. https://doi.org/10.2307/1176100
- Cooper, C. W. (2007). School choice as "motherwork": Valuing African-American women's educational advocacy and resistance. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 20(5), 491–512. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390601176655
- Costenbader, V., & Markson, S. (1998). School suspension: A study with secondary school students. *Journal of School Psychology*, *36*(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-4405(97)00050-2
- Council of State Governments Justice Center. (2011). Breaking schools' rules: A statewide study on how school discipline relates to students' success and juvenile justice involvement. In *CSG Justice Center*.

  https://csgjusticecenter.org/publications/breaking-schools-rules/
- Cramer, E. D., Gonzalez, L., & Pellegrini-Lafont, C. (2014). From classmates to inmates:

  An integrated approach to break the school-to-prison pipeline. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 47(4), 461–475.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2014.958962
- Creger, M., & Hewitt, D. (2011). Dismantling the school-to-prison pipeline: A survey from the field. *Poverty & Race*, 20(1), 5–7.

- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics.

  \*University of Chicago Legal Forum, 1989(1), 139–167.\*

  https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1052&context=uclf
- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Review*, *43*(6), 1241. https://doi.org/10.2307/1229039
- Crenshaw, K. (2015). Mapping the margins intersectionality, identity politics and violence against women of color. In E. Taylor, D. Gillborn, & G. Ladson-Billings (Eds.), Foundations of Critical Race Theory in Education (pp. 223–250).

  Routledge.
- Crenshaw, K., Gotanda, N., Peller, G., & Thomas, K. (Eds.). (1995). *Critical race theory:*Thekey writings that formed the movement. The New Press.
- Crenshaw, K., Ocen, P., & Nanda, J. (2015). *Black girls matter: Pushed out, overpoliced, and underprotected.* http://www/atlanticphilanthropies.org/sites/ default/files/uploads/ BlackGirlsMatter Report.pdf
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative & mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Sage.
- da Luz, F. S. (2015). The relationship between teachers and students in the classroom:

  Communicative language teaching approach and cooperative learning strategy to improve learning [Master's Theses].

- Dance, L. J. (2002). *Tough fronts: The impact of street culture on schooling*. Routledge-Falmer.
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2017). *Critical race theory: An introduction* (3rd ed.). New York University Press.
- Deliovsky, K., & Kitossa, T. (2013). Beyond black and white: When going beyond may take us out of bounds. *Journal of Black Studies*, 44(2), 158–181. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934712471533
- Denson, T. F., O'Dean, S. M., Blake, K. R., & Beames, J. R. (2018). Aggression in Women: Behavior, Brain and Hormones. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12(81). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00081
- Dillard, C. (2020). The weaponization of whiteness in schools. *Teaching Tolerance*, (65), 19–24.
- Dixson, A. D., & Rousseau, C. K. (2005). And we are still not saved: Critical race theory in education ten years later. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 8(1), 7–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/1361332052000340971
- Dupper, D. R., & Montgomery Dingus, A. E. (2008). Corporal punishment in U.S. public schools: A continuing challenge for school social workers. *Children & Schools*, 30(4), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/30.4.243
- Edwards, E. (2017). (Bad) girls: Black girls' and school administrators' perceptions of re-entry after exclusionary discipline through a womanist approach to narrative inquiry [Thesis]. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/eps\_diss/180

- Elsaesser, C. (2021, April 19). How social media turns online arguments between teens into real-world violence. UConn Today. https://today.uconn.edu/2021/04/how-social-media-turns-online-arguments-between-teens-into-real-world-violence-2/#
- Evans, K. W. (2019, October 10). Education in Georgia's black belt: Policy solutions to help overcome a history of exclusion. Georgia Budget and Policy Institute. https://gbpi.org/education-in-georgias-black-belt/
- Evans-Winters, V. E., & Esposito, J. (2010). Other people's daughters: Critical race feminism and black girls' education. *Educational Foundations*, 24(1), 11–24.
- Farber, D. A., & Sherry, S. (1997). Beyond all reason: The radical assault on truth in American law. Oxford University Press.
- Fenning, P., & Jenkins, K. (2018). Racial and ethnic disparities in exclusionary school discipline: Implications for administrators leading discipline reform efforts.

  NASSP Bulletin, 102(4), 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192636518812699
- Fenton, R. (2021, March 23). We ignore the pain of black children. *Education Week*. https://www.edweek.org/leadership/opinion-we-ignore-the-pain-of-black-children/2021/03?utm\_source=nl&utm\_medium=eml&utm\_campaign=eu&M=59 914452&U=&UUID=41f8767a1a5c9bbc122b0b3ee4c3a85a
- Finn, J. D., & Servoss, T. J. (2015). Security measures and discipline in American high schools. In D. J. Losen (Ed.), *Closing the School Discipline Gap: Equitable Remedies for Excessive Exclusion* (pp. 44–58). Teachers College Press.
- Fordham, S. (1988). Racelessness as a factor in black students' school success: Pragmatic strategy or pyrrhic victory? *Harvard Educational Review*, *58*(1), 54–85. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.58.1.c5r77323145r7831

- Fordham, S. (1996). Blacked out: Dilemmas of race, identity, and success at capital high.

  University of Chicago Press.
- Foster, H., & Kight, H. (1988). A study of current in-school suspension programs in New York state. https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/Photocopy/127709NCJRS.pdf
- Ferguson, A. A. (2020). *Bad boys: Public schools in the making of black masculinity*.

  University of Michigan Press.
- Gaskin, A. (2015, August). Racial socialization: Ways parents can teach their childen about race. American Psychological Association.
  - https://www.apa.org/pi/families/resources/newsletter/2015/08/racial-socialization
- Gay, G. (2010). Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, research, and practice (2nd ed.).

  Teachers College Press
- Geertz, C. (1973). The interpretation of cultures. Basic Books.
- Georgia Department of Education. (2018, January 31). *Alternative/non-traditional*eductation programs. Georgia Department of Education.

  https://www.gadoe.org/External-Affairs-and-Policy/State-Board-of-Education/SBOE%20Rules/160-4-8-.12.pdf
- Georgia Department of Education. (2019). GADOE CCRPI reporting system.
- Georgia Department of Education. (2020, November 20). Georgia graduation rate

Ccrpi.gadoe.org. http://ccrpi.gadoe.org/Reports/Views/Shared/ Layout.html

increases again, to 83.8 percent. Georgia Department of Education.

https://www.gadoe.org/External-Affairs-and-Policy/communications/Pages/Press
ReleaseDetails.aspx?PressView=default&pid=813#:~:text=Georgia%20graduatio
n%20rate%20increases%20again%2C%20to%2083.8%20percent,-school%2D%

- 20and%20District&text=November%2010%2C%202020%20%E2%80%93%20 Georgia's%20graduation,from%2082%20percent%20in%202019.
- Georgia Department of Education. (2021, October 21). Press release Georgia's 2021

  graduation rate holds steady at 83 percent. www.gadoe.org.

  https://www.gadoe.org/External-Affairs-and-Policy/communications/Pages/Press

  ReleaseDetails.aspx?PressView=default&pid=904
- Georgia Department of Education. (n.d.). *College and career ready performance index*.

  www.gadoe.org. Retrieved February 12, 2022, from

  https://www.gadoe.org/CCRPI/Pages/default.aspx
- Georgia Pines. (2021). Georgia Pines. Georgia Pines. https://www.georgiapines.net/
- Gershenson, S., Holt, S., & Papageorge, N. (2015). Who believes in me? The effect of student-teacher demographic match on teacher expectations. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, *52*, 209–224. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2633993
- Gershoff, E. T., & Font, S. A. (2016). Corporal punishment in U.S. public schools:

  Prevalence, disparities in use, and status in state and federal policy. *Social Policy Report*, 30(1), 1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5766273/
- Gibson, P. A., & Haight, W. (2013). Caregivers' moral narratives of their African

  American children's out of school suspensions: Implications for effective familyschool collaborations. *Social Work*, 58(3), 263–272.

  https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swt017
- Gillborn, D. (2015). Intersectionality, critical race theory, and the primacy of racism.

  Qualitative Inquiry, 21(3), 277–287. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414557827

- Gillette, M. T., & Gudmunson, C. G. (2013). Processes linking father absence to educational attainment among african american females. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 24(2), 309–321. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12066
- Given, L. M. (Ed.). (2008). Codes and coding. In *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research and Methods*. Sage.
- Gjelten, E. A. (2019). What Are Zero Tolerance Policies in Schools? Lawyers.com.

  Lawyers.com. https://www.lawyers.com/legal-info/research/education-law/whats-a-zero-tolerance-policy.html
- Green, E. L., Walker, M., & Shapiro, E. (2020, October 1). A battle for the souls of black girls. *The New York Times*.

  https://www.nytimes.com/2020/10/01/us/politics/black-girls-school-discipline.html
- Greflund, S., McIntosh, K., Mercer, S. H., & May, S. L. (2014). Examining disproportionality in school discipline for aboriginal students in schools implementing PBIS. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, *29*(3), 213–235. https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573514542214
- Gregory, A., Allen, J., Mikami, A., Hafen, C., & Pianta, R. (2014). Eliminating the racial disparity in classroom exclusionary discipline. *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk*, 5(2), 1–22. http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/childrenatrisk/vol5/iss2/12
- Gregory, A., & Fergus, E. (2017). Social and emotional learning and equity in school discipline. *Future of Children*, 27(1), 117–136. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1144814

- Gregory, A., Bell, J., & Pollock, M. (2016). How educators can eradicate disparities in school discipline. In A. Gregory (Ed.), *Inequality in School Discipline: Research and Practice to Reduce Disparities* (pp. 39–58). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gregory, A., Skiba, R. J., & Mediratta, K. (2017). Eliminating disparities in school discipline: A framework for intervention. *Review of Research in Education*, 41(1), 253–278. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x17690499
- Gregory, A., Skiba, R. J., & Noguera, P. A. (2010). The achievement gap and the discipline gap. *Educational Researcher*, *39*(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x09357621
- Grillo, T., & Wildman, S. M. (1991). Obscuring the importance of race: The implication of making comparisons between racism and sexism (or other -isms). *Duke Law Journal*, 1991(2), 397. https://doi.org/10.2307/1372732
- Grogan-Kaylor, A., & Otis, M. D. (2007, January). The Predictors of Parental Use of Corporal Punishment. *Family Relations*, *56*(1), 80–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2007.00441.x
- Gullo, G. (2017). *Implicit bias in school disciplinary decisions* [Dissertation: Lehigh University]. https://preserve.lib.lehigh.edu/islandora/object/preserve%3Abp-10368813
- Gupta, V. (2018, December 21). *DeVos and DOJ repeal discipline guidance that clarifies*children's civil rights. The Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights.

  https://civilrights.org/2018/12/21/devos-and-doj-repeal-discipline-guidance-that-clarifies-childrens-civil-rights/

- Harris, R. (2014). *Using sources effectively: Strengthening your writing and avoiding plagiarism* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Pyrczak.
- Hattie, J. (2003). ACEReSearch teachers make a difference, what is the research evidence? In *Australian Council for Educational Research* (pp. 1–17). https://research.acer.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1003&context=research\_conference\_2003
- Heilbrun, A., Cornell, D., & Lovegrove, P. (2015). Principal attitudes regarding zero tolerance and racial disparities in-school suspensions. *Psychology in the Schools*, 52(5), 489–499. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.21838
- Hess, F. (2016, August 17). The debate on school discipline. *AEIdeas*. https://www.aei.org/education/the-debate-on-school-discipline/
- Higginbotham, E. B. (1992). African-American women's history and the metalanguage of race. *Signs*, *17*(2), 251–274. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3174464
- Hirschfield, P. J. (2008). Preparing for prison? *Theoretical Criminology*, *12*(1), 79–101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480607085795
- History of Corporal Punishment. (2009, July 29). Apt Parenting.

  https://aptparenting.com/history-of-corporal-punishment#:~:text=History
  %20of%20Corporal%20Punishment%20%20%20Name%20of
- Hoffman, S. (2012). Zero benefit: Estimating the effect of zero tolerance discipline policies on racial disparities in school discipline. *Educational Policy*, 28(1), 69–95. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904812453999
- Holloway, I. (1997). Basic concepts for qualitative research. Blackwell Science.
- hooks, b. (2015). Feminism is for everybody: Passionate politics. Routledge.

- Horton-Williams, S. (2020, July 20). How school leaders reinforce supremacy through discipline & behavior expectations. School Leadership for Social Justice. https://www.slsj.info/post/how-school-leaders-reinforce-supremacy-through-discipline-behavior-expectations
- Howard, T. C. (2010). Why race and culture matter in schools: Closing the achievement gap in America's classrooms. Teachers College Press.
- Hutchinson, D. (2004). Critical race histories: In and out. *Am. U. L. Rev*, 1187, 53. https://scholarship.law.ufl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1405&context=faculty pub
- Hyland, N. E. (2005). Being a good teacher of Black students? White teacher and unintentional racism. *Curriculum Inquiry*, *35*(4), 429–459. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3698537
- Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 97 S. Ct. 1401, 51 L. Ed. 2d 711 (1977).
- Ispa-Landa, S. (2018). Persistently harsh punishments amid efforts to reform: Using tools from social psychology to counteract racial bias in school disciplinary decisions. *Educational Researcher*, 47(6), 0013189X1877957.

  https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x18779578
- Johns, B. H., & Carr, V. G. (1996). Techniques for managing verbally and physically aggressive students. *Behavioral Disorders*, 21(3), 251–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/019874299602100306
- Johnson, D. W., Johnson, R., & Dudley, B. (1992). Effects of peer mediation training on elementary school students. *Mediation Quarterly*, *10*(1), 89-99. https://doi.org/10.1002/crq.3900100108

- Johnson, I. M. (1999). School violence: The effectiveness of a school resource officer program in a southern city. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *27*(2), 173–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0047-2352(98)00049-x
- Kamenetz, A. (2019, December 17). Suspensions are down in U.S. schools but large racial gaps remain. Npr.org.

  https://www.npr.org/2018/12/17/677508707/suspensions-are-down-in-u-s-schools-but-large-racial-gaps-remain
- Kennedy, B. L., Murphy, A. S., & Jordan, A. (2017). Title I middle school administrators' beliefs and choices about using corporal punishment and exclusionary discipline. *American Journal of Education*, 123(2), 243–280. https://doi.org/10.1086/689929
- Kim, C., Losen, D. J., & Hewitt, D. (2012). *The school to prison pipeline: Structuring legal reform*. New York University Press.
- Kim, J.-H. (2016). Understanding narrative inquiry: The crafting and analysis of stories as research. Sage.
- Kimmons, R. (2022). Education research across multiple paradigms. In *EdTechBooks.org*.
  - https://open.byu.edu/pdfs/print/education research/ education research.pdf
- Kirkman, C., McNees, H., Stickl, J., Banner, J., & Hewitt, K. (2016). Crossing the suspension bridge: Navigating the road from school suspension to college success how some students have overcome the negative implications of school suspension to bridge the road to college. *Journal of Organizational & Educational Leadership*, 2(1).

- Kozinski, A. (1997, November 2). *Bending the law*. Archive.nytimes.com. https://archive.nytimes.com/www.nytimes.com/books/97/11/02/reviews/971102.0 2kosinst.html?\_r=1
- Kunesh, C. E., & Noltemeyer, A. (2015). Understanding disciplinary disproportionality:

  Stereotypes shape pre-service teachers' beliefs about black boys' behavior. *Urban Education*, *54*(4), 471–498. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085915623337
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995a). But that's just good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. *Theory into Practice*, *34*(3), 159–165.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995b). Toward a Theory of Culturally Relevant Pedagogy.

  \*American Educational Research Journal, 32(3), 465–491.

  https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312032003465
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2005). The evolving role of critical race theory in educational scholarship. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 8(1), 115–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/1361332052000341024
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2016a). Critical race theory--What it is not! In D. Gillborn & G. Ladson-Billings (Eds.), *Foundations of Critical Race Theory in Education* (pp. 345–356). Routledge.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2016b). Just what is criticial race theory and what's it doing in a nice field like education? In D. Gillborn & G. Ladson-Billings (Eds.),

  Foundations of Critical Race Theory in Education (pp. 15–30). Routledge.
- Ladson-Billings, G., & Tate, W. (1995). Toward a critical race theory of education. *Teachers College Record*, 97(1), 47–68.

- Lanehart, S. (2019). Can you hear (and see) me now? In J. DeCuir-Gunby, T. Chapman, & P. Schutz (Eds.), *Understanding Critical Race Research Methods and Methodologies* (pp. 34–47). Routledge.
- Latimore, T. L., Peguero, A. A., Popp, A. M., Shekarkhar, Z., & Koo, D. J. (2017).

  School-Based activities, misbehavior, discipline, and racial and ethnic disparities.

  Education and Urban Society, 50(5), 403–434.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124517713603
- Lavarello, C., & Trump, K. (2001). To arm or not to arm? *American School Board Journal*, 188(3), 32–33.
- Ledesma, M. C., & Calderón, D. (2015). Critical race theory in education. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(3), 206–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414557825
- Lee, J., & Williamson, W. (2015, March). "Don't hate, peer mediate!"--Teaching students to say yes to non-violent conflict resolution. National Youth Advocacy and Resilience, Savannah.
  - https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/nyar\_savannah/2015/2015/18
- Lewis, C., Butler, B., Bonner, F., & Joubert, M. (2010). African American male discipline patterns and school district responses resulting impact on academic achievement: Implications for urban educators and policy makers. *Journal of African American Males in Education*, *I*(1), 7–25.
  - http://journalofAfricanAmericanmales.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/02/African-American-Male-Discipline-Patterns1.pdf
- LiCalsi, C., Osher, D., & Bailey, P. (2021). An empirical examination of the effects of suspension and suspension severity on behavioral and academic outcomes. In

- American Institutes for Research. https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/2021-08/NYC-Suspension-Effects-Behavioral-Academic-Outcomes-August-2021.pdf
- Lightfoot, J. (2021). Zero Tolerance Policies are Anti-Black: Protecting Racially Profiled Students from Educational Injustice. *Northwest Journal of Teacher Education*, 16(2). https://doi.org/10.15760/nwjte.2021.16.2.5
- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Lombroso, C., & Ferrero, G. (1895). *The female offender*. Rothman & Co. https://brittlebooks.library.illinois.edu/brittlebooks\_open/Books2009-08/lombce0001femoff/lombce0001femoff.pdf
- López, G. R. (2003). The (racially neutral) politics of education: A critical race theory perspective. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *39*(1), 68–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x02239761
- Losen, D. (2013). Discipline policies, successful schools, racial justice, and the law. Family Court Review, 51(3), 388–400. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcre.12035
- Losen, D. (2015). Closing the school discipline gap: Equitable remedies for excessive exclusion. Teachers College Press.
- Losen, D., Hodson, C., Keith, M. A., Morrison, K., & Belway, S. (2015). Are we closing the school discipline gap? In *The Civil Rights Project*.

  https://civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/resources/projects/center-for-civil-rights-remedies/school-to-prison-folder/federal-reports/are-we-closing-the-school-discipline-gap#:~:text=If%20we%20ignore%20the%20discipline,to%20close%20the%20achievement%20gap.&text=Given%20that%20the%20average%20suspension,year%20because%20of%20exclusionary%20discipline.

- Losen, D., & Skiba, R. (2010, September 13). Suspended education: Urban middle schools in crisis. The Civil Rights Project.

  https://www.civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/research/k-12-education/school-discipline/suspended-education-urban-middle-schools-in-crisis
- Loveless, T. (1997). The structure of public confidence in education. *American Journal of Education*, 105(2), 127–159. https://doi.org/10.1086/444150
- Lynch, M. (2019, October 9). *History of institutional racism in U.S. public schools*. The Edvocate. https://www.theedadvocate.org/history-of-institutional-racism-in-u-s-public-schools/
- Madison, D. S. (1993). "That was my occupation": Oral narrative, performance, and black feminist thought. *Text and Performance Quarterly*, *13*(3), 213–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/10462939309366051
- Mallett, C. A. (2016). The school-to-prison pipeline: From school punishment to rehabilitative inclusion. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 60(4), 296–304.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988x.2016.1144554
- Manke, K. (2019). How the "strong black woman" identity both helps and hurts. Greater Good Science Center.

  https://greatergood.berkeley.edu/article/item/how\_the\_strong\_
- Marchbanks, M., & Blake, J. (2018). Assessing the role of school discipline in disproportionate minority contact with the juvenile justice system: Final technical report. https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/grants/252059.pdf

black woman identity both helps and hurts

- Martin, A. J., Bottrell, D., Armstrong, D., Mansour, M., Ungar, M., Liebenberg, L., & Collie, R. J. (2015). The role of resilience in assisting the educational connectedness of at-risk youth: A study of service users and non-users.

  \*International Journal of Educational Research, 74, 1–12.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2015.09.004
- Martin, J., Sharp-Grier, M., & Smith, J. (2016). Alternate realities: Racially disparate discipline in classrooms and schools and its effects on black and brown students.

  The Journal of the Ohio Council of Professors of Educational Administration (OCPEA), 3(1). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1125113.pdf
- Martinez, S. (2009). A system gone berserk: How are zero-tolerance policies really affecting schools? *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 53(3), 153–158. https://doi.org/10.3200/psfl.53.3.153-158
- Masterson, M. (2017, February 8). Report: Chicago school-based officers need more training, oversight. WTTW News. https://news.wttw.com/2017/02/08/report-chicago-school-based-officers-need-more-training-oversight
- Maxime, F. (2018, January 18). Zero-Tolerance policies and the school to prison pipeline. Shared Justice. https://www.sharedjustice.org/domestic-justice/2017/12/21/zero-tolerance-policies-and-the-school-to-prison-pipeline
- Maxwell, J. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Sage Publications.
- McCann, S. (2017). *Detention is not the answer* [Thesis].

  https://nwcommons.nwciowa.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1069&context=edu cation masters

- McDaniel, R. (2014, October 31). *Increasing inclusivity in the classroom*. Vanderbilt University Center for Teaching. https://cft.vanderbilt.edu/guides-sub-pages/increasing-inclusivity-in-the-classroom/
- McIntosh, K., Girvan, E., Horner, R., & Smolkowski, K. (2014). Education not incarceration: A conceptual model for reducing racial and ethnic disproportionality in school discipline. *Journal of Applied Research on Children:* Informing Policy for Children at Risk, 5(2).
- McLoyd, V. C., Toyokawa, T., & Kaplan, R. (2008). Work demands, work–family conflict, and child adjustment in african american families. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29(10), 1247–1267. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513x08320189
- Merriam, S. B. (2002). Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis. Jossey-Bass.
- Milner, H. R. (2008). Critical race theory and interest convergence as analytic tools in teacher education policies and practices. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *59*(4), 332–346. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487108321884
- Mizell, H. (1978). Designing and implementing effective in-school alternatives to suspension. *The Urban Review*, 10(3), 213–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02174225
- Monahan, K. C., VanDerhei, S., Bechtold, J., & Cauffman, E. (2014). From the school yard to the squad car: School discipline, truancy, and arrest. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43, 1110–1122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-014-0103-1
- Montecel, M. (2013). Education as pathway out of poverty. *IDRA Newletter*, *XL*(1), 1–8. http://www.idra.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Newsltr\_Jan2013.pdf

- Morris, E., & Perry, B. (2017). Girls behaving badly? Race, gender, and subjective evaluation in the discipline of African American girls. *Sociology of Education*, 90(2), 127–148. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040717694876
- Morris, E. W. (2007). "Ladies" or "loudies"? Perceptions and experiences of black girls in classrooms. *Youth & Society*, *38*(4), 490–515. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118x06296778
- Morris, M.W. (2012). Race, gender, and the "school to prison pipeline": Expanding our discussion to include Black girls. African American Policy Forum.
- Morris, M. W., Conteh, M., & Harris-Perry, M. V. (2018). *Pushout: The criminalization of black girls in schools*. The New Press.
- Morris, R. C., & Howard, A. C. (2003). Designing an effective in-school suspension program. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 76(3), 156–159. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098650309601994
- Mowen, T. J. (2014). Punishment in school: The role of school security measures.

  \*International Journal of Education Policy and Leadership, 9(2).

  https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2014v9n2a483
- Mustian, A. (2016). The impact of colorblindness on middle school students. In T. Husband (Ed.), *But I Don't See Color* (pp. 81–92). Sense Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6300-585-2 7
- Musu-Gillette, L., Robinson, J., McFarland, J., KewalRamani, A., Zhang, A., & Wilkinson-Flicker, S. (2016). *Status and trends in the education of racial and ethnic groups 2016*. National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016007.pdf

- Nantambu, K. (2006, July 27). *Euro-centric vs Afro-centric analysis*. Trinidad and Tobago News Blog. https://www.trinidadandtobagonews.com/blog/?p=55
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2007, June). *Status of education in rural America*. Nces.ed.gov. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2007/ruraled/measuring.asp
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). Fast facts: Back to school statistics.

  NCES; https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=372#:~:text=How%20
  many%20students%20will%20attend
- National Center for Safe Supportive Learning (2021, March 31). *Georgia compilation of school discipline laws and regulations*. Safe Supportive Learning. https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/sites/default/files/discipline-compendium/Georgia%20School%20Discipline%20Laws%20and%20Regulation s.pdf
- National Newspaper Publishers Association Every Student Succeeds Act. (2017, February 23). *The "trust gap" in schools ... and how teachers can help close it.*NNPA ESSA Media Campaign. https://nnpa.org/essa/the-trust-gap-in-schools-and-how-teachers-can-help-close-it/
- Neal, L. V. I., McCray, A. D., Webb-Johnson, G., & Bridgest, S. T. (2003). The effects of African American movement styles on teachers' perceptions and reactions. *The Journal of Special Education*, *37*(1), 49–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/00224669030370010501
- Ness, C. D. (2010). Why girls fight: Female youth violence in the inner city. New York University Press.
- New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325 (1985).

- Noltemeyer, A. L., Ward, R. M., & Mcloughlin, C. (2015). Relationship between school suspension and student outcomes: A meta-analysis. *School Psychology Review*, 44(2), 224–240. https://doi.org/10.17105/spr-14-0008.1
- O'Brien, D. (1976). In-school suspension: Is it the new way to punish productivity? *The American School Board Journal*, 163(3), 35–37.
- Okonofua, J. A., Walton, G. M., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2016). A vicious cycle: A social-psychological account of extreme racial disparities in school discipline.

  \*Perspectives on Psychological Science, 11(3), 381–398.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691616635592
- Onyeka-Crawford, A., Patrick, K., & Chaudhry, N. (2017). Stopping school pushout for:

  Girls of color. National Women's Law Services.

  https://nwlc.org/resources/stopping-school-pushout-for-girls-of-color/
- Papageorge, N. W., Gershenson, S., & Kang, K. (2016). Teacher expectations matter. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2834215
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice (4th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Patton, S. (2017). Spare the kids: Why whupping children won't save black America.

  Beacon Press.
- Patton, S. (2020, April 17). In a warning against spanking, some pediatricians see an attack on black families. *New York Times*.

  https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/17/parenting/stacey-patton-spanking.html

- Peffley, M., Hurwitz, J., & Sniderman, P. M. (1997). Racial stereotypes and whites' political views of blacks in the context of welfare and crime. *American Journal of Political Science*, 41(1), 30. https://doi.org/10.2307/2111708
- Perry, A. (2018, March 27). Who benefits from research on racial disparities? The Hechinger Report. https://hechingerreport.org/who-benefits-from-research-on-racial-disparities/
- Petras, H., Masyn, K. E., Buckley, J. A., Ialongo, N. S., & Kellam, S. (2011). Who is most at risk for school removal? A multilevel discrete-time survival analysis of individual- and context-level influences. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 103(1), 223–237. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021545
- Pew Research Center. (2015). *Use of spanking differs across racial and education*groups. Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project.

  http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2015/12/17/parenting-in-America/st\_2015-1217 parenting-09/
- Pilgrim, D. (2012). *Jim Crow museum of racist memorabilia*. Ferris State University. https://www.ferris.edu/HTMLS/news/jimcrow/
- Pinderhughes, E. E., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., Pettit, G. S., & Zelli, A. (2000).
  Discipline responses: Influences of parents' socioeconomic status, ethnicity,
  beliefs about parenting, stress, and cognitive-emotional processes. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 14(3), 380–400. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.14.3.380
  Plessy v. Ferguson, 163 U.S. 537, 16 S. Ct. 1138, 41 L. Ed. 256 (1896).

- Poehlmann, J. (2005). Children's family environments and intellectual outcomes during maternal incarceration. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67(5), 1275–1285. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2005.00216.x
- Pollak, O. (1950). The criminality of women. University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Pomerantz, S. (2008). *Girls, style, and school identities: Dressing the part.* New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Ponterotto, J. (2006). Brief note on the origins, evolution, and meaning of the qualitative research concept thick description. *The Qualitative Report*, 11(3), 538–549. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2006.1666
- Posner, R. (1997). The skin trade. *The New Republic*, 217(15), 40-43.
- Price, P. (2009). When is a police officer an officer of the law? The status of police officers in schools. *The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 99(2), 541–570.
- Priest, H., Roberts, P., & Woods, L. (2002). An overview of three different approaches to the interpretation of qualitative data. part 1: Theoretical issues. *Nurse Researcher*, 10(1), 30–42. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2002.10.10.1.30.c5877
- Quinn, D. M. (2017). Racial attitudes of prek–12 and postsecondary educators:

  Descriptive evidence from nationally representative data. *Educational Researcher*, 46(7), 397–411. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x17727270
- Rahimi, R., liston, Adkins, A., & Nourzad, J. (2021). Teacher awareness of trauma informed practice: Raising awareness in southeast georgia. *Georgia Educational Researcher*, *18*(2). https://doi.org/10.20429/ger.2021.180204

- Ranney, M. L., & Mello, M. J. (2011). A comparison of female and male adolescent victims of violence seen in the emergency department. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 41(6), 701–706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2011.03.025
- Ravitch, S. M., & Riggan, M. (2017). Reason & rigor: How conceptual frameworks guide research. Sage.
- Reagan, R. (1986, October 27). Remarks on signing the anti-drug abuse act of 1986.

  Reagan Library. https://www.reaganlibrary.gov/archives/speech/remarks-signing-anti-drug-abuse-act-1986
- Redding, J. S. (1973). They came in chains. Lippincott. (Original work published 1950)
- Ricks, S. A. (2014). Falling through the cracks: Black girls and education. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Teaching and Learning*, 4(1), 10–21.
- Riddle, T., & Sinclair, S. (2019). Racial disparities in school-based disciplinary actions are associated with county-level rates of racial bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(17), 8255–8260. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1808307116
- Rios, V. M. (2011). *Punished: Policing the lives of Black and Latino boys*. New York University Press.
- Robinson, K., & Harris, A. L. (2014). *The broken compass: Parental involvement with children's education*. Harvard University Press.
- Robinson, R. (2000). The shifting race-consciousness matrix and the multiracial category movement. *Boston College Third World Law Journal*, 20(2), 231. https://lawdigitalcommons.bc.edu/twlj/vol20/iss2/1

- Ruhl, C. (2020, July 1). *Implicit bias (also known as unconscious bias): Examples, causes and prevention* | *simply psychology*. Www.simplypsychology.org. https://www.simplypsychology.org/implicit-bias.html
- Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Sampson, A. (2019, August 27). *Rural education* (NGE Staff, Ed.). New Georgia Encyclopedia. https://www.georgiaencyclopedia.org/articles/education/rural-education
- Sanders, J., Munford, R., & Liebenberg, L. (2016). The role of teachers in building resilience of at risk youth. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 80, 111–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2016.10.002
- Savin-Baden, M., & Niekerk, L. V. (2007). Narrative inquiry: Theory and practice.

  \*Journal of Geography in Higher Education, 31(3), 459–472.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/03098260601071324
- Schwartz, J. (2004). The effect of father absence and father alternatives on female and male rates of violence. In *Office of Justice Programs*. https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/206316.pdf
- Sege, R. D. (2018). AAP policy opposes corporal punishment, draws on recent evidence.

  AAP News. https://www.aappublications.org/news/2018/11/05/discipline110518
- Seidman, I. (2019). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences*. Teachers College Press.
- Shah, N. (2012, October 17). "Restorative practices": Discipline but different. Education Week.

- https://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2012/10/17/08restorative\_ep.h32.html?tkn=S UTF2jciDTH8F91y7avjwzZdnR++CKn/xmuw
- Sheldon, S., & Epstein, J. (2004). Getting students to school: Using family and community involvement to reduce chronic absenteeism. *The School Community Journal*, *14*(2), 39–56. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ794822.pdf
- Skiba, R. (2014). The failure of zero tolerance. *Reclaiming Children and Youth*, 22(4), 27–33.
- Skiba, R., & Knesting, K. (2001). Zero tolerance, zero evidence: An analysis of school disciplinary practice. New Directions for Youth Development, 2001(92), 17–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.23320019204
- Skiba, R., Arredondo, M., & Williams, N. (2014). More than a metaphor: The contribution of exclusionary discipline to a school-to-prison pipeline. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 47(4), 546–564.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2014.958965
- Skiba, R., Eckes, S., & Brown, K. (2010). African American disproportionality in school discipline: The divide between best evidence and legal remedy. *New York Law School Law Review*, *54*, 1071–1112. https://www.justice4all.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/African-American-Disproportionality-in-School-Discipline-The-Divide-Between-Best-Evidence-and-Legal-Remedy.pdf
- Skiba, R., Homer, R. H., Chung, C., Rausch, M., May, S. L., & Tobin, T. (2011). Race is not neutral: A national investigation of African American and Latino disproportionality in school discipline. *School Psychology Review*, 40(1), 85–107.

- Skiba, R., Michael, R., Nardo, A., & Peterson, R. (2002). The color of discipline: Sources of racial and gender disproportionality in school punishment. *The Urban Review*, 34(4), 317–342. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021320817372
- Smith, W. A., Yosso, T. J., & Solórzano, D. G. (2007). Racial primes and black misandry on historically white campuses: Toward critical race accountability in educational administration. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 43(5), 559–585. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x07307793
- Smith, S. S. (2010). Race and trust. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *36*(1), 453–475. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102526
- Smith-Evans, L., George, J., Graves, F., Kaufmann, L. S., & Frohlich, L. (2014).

  Unlocking opportunities for African American girls: A call to action for educational equity. In <a href="https://www.naacpldf.org/wp-content/uploads/Unlocking-Opportunity-for-African-American\_Girls\_0\_Education.pdf">https://www.naacpldf.org/wp-content/uploads/Unlocking-Opportunity-for-African-American\_Girls\_0\_Education.pdf</a>. Legal Defense Fund and National Women's Law Center.
- Solórzano, D. G., & Yosso, T. J. (2002). Critical race methodology: Counter-Storytelling as an analytical framework for education research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 8(1), 23–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/107780040200800103
- Soprunova, A. (2020, September 23). *Our Eurocentric history curriculum*. The Beachcomber. https://bcomber.org/editorials/2020/09/23/our-eurocentric-history-curriculum/
- Staats, C. (2015, December 18). *Understanding implicit bias*. American Federation of Teachers. https://www.aft.org/ae/winter2015-2016/staats

- Staats, C., Capatosto, K., Wright, R., & Contractor, D. (2015). State of the science:

  Implicit bias review 2015. In *Kirwan Institute for the Study of Race and Ethnicity*.

  http://kirwaninstitute.osu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/2015-kirwan-implicit-bias.pdf
- Starck, J. G., Riddle, T., Sinclair, S., & Warikoo, N. (2020). Teachers are people too:

  Examining the racial bias of teachers compared to other american adults.

  Educational Researcher, 49(4), 273–284.

  https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x20912758
- Steele, C. M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African Americans. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 69(5), 797.
- Stinchcomb, J. B., Bazemore, G., & Riestenberg, N. (2006, April). Beyond Zero Tolerance. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, *4*(2), 123–147. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204006286287
- Stovall, D. (2005). A challenge to traditional theory: Critical race theory, African-American community organizers, and education. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 26(1), 95–108.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/01596300500040912
- Straus, M. A., & Stewart, J. H. (1998). Corporal punishment by American parents:

  National data on prevalence, chronicity, severity, and duration, in relation to child, and family characteristics. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 2, 55-70.

- Streitmatter, J. (1985). Ethnic/Racial and gender equity in-school suspensions. *The High School Journal*, 69(2), 139–143.
- Sugai, G., & Horner, R.H. (1999). Discipline and behavioral support: Preferred processes and practices. *Effective School Practices*, 17(4), 10—22.
- Sugai, G., & Simonsen, B. (2012). *Positive behavioral interventions and supports:*History, defining features, and misconceptions (pp. 412–426).

  https://www.hbgsd.us/cms/lib/PA50000648/Centricity/Domain/288/PBIS .pdf
- Swayne, M. (2018). Students face traumatic transition from middle school into high school. The Pennsylvania State University.

  https://www.psu.edu/news/research/story/students-face-traumatic-transitionmiddle-school-high-school
- Tagami, T. (2017, August 30). Georgia Supreme Court: Schools can't expel for fighting in self-defense. The Atlanta Journal-Constitution.

  https://www.ajc.com/news/local-education/georgia-supreme-court-schools-can-expel-for-fighting-self-defense/wkNekdN2Tce51nseC66d4M/
- Tagami, T. (2019, November 8). Report: Rural schools struggle to make do with low funding. The Atlanta Journal-Constitution. https://www.ajc.com/news/state-regional-education/new-report-georgia-rates-poorly-rural-education/aK3Aldb7IkzQpf0kZzwxUI/
- Tatum, B. (1997). "Why are all the black kids sitting together in the cafeteria?" and other conversations about the development of racial identity. Basicbooks.
- Tatum, B. (2019). Together and alone? The challenge of talking about racism on campus.

  \*Daedalus, 148(4), 79–93. https://doi.org/10.1162/daed\_a\_01761

- Taylor, E. (2016). The foundations of critical race theory in education: An introduction.

  In E. Taylor, D. Gillborn, & G. Ladson-Billings (Eds.), *Foundations of Critical Race Theory in Education* (pp. 1–11). Routledge.
- The Governor's Office of Student Achievement. (2016). 2016 CFC program information.

  The Governor's Office of Student Achievement. https://gosa.georgia.gov/impact-previous-programs-initiatives/connections-classrooms/2016-cfc
- The Governor's Office of Student Achievement. (n.d.-a). *Downloadable data explained graduation & dropout rate*. The Governor's Office of Student Achievement.

  Retrieved February 6, 2021, from https://gosa.georgia.gov/dropout-rate-explained
- The Governor's Office of Student Achievement. (n.d.-b). *K12 student discipline*dashboard. The Governor's Office of Student Achievement. Retrieved April 7,

  2022, from

  https://public.gosa.ga.gov/noauth/extensions/DisciplineDASHV1/DisciplineDASHV1.html
- Theriot, M. T. (2009). School resource officers and the criminalization of student behavior. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *37*(3), 280–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2009.04.008
- Theriot, M. T., & Orme, J. G. (2014). School resource officers and students' feelings of safety at school. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, *14*(2), 130–146. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204014564472
- The Rural School and Community Trust. (2013, November 21). *It's complicated...why what's rural matters: Rural school & community trust*. Www.ruraledu.org.

- $https://www.ruraledu.org/articles.php?id=3127\#:\sim:text=A\%20school\%20is\%20rural\%20if$
- Thomas, K. A., & Dettlaff, A. J. (2011, November 23). African American Families and the Role of Physical Discipline: Witnessing the Past in the Present. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 21(8), 963–977. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.588537
- Thomas, P. (2018). Fatherless daughters: Turning the pain of loss into the power of forgiveness. Simon and Schuster.
- Thompson, C. (2019). I am not your nice "mammy": How racist stereotypes still impact women. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/i-am-not-your-nice-mammy-how-racist-stereotypes-still-impact-women-111028
- Trump, K. S. (1998). Keeping the peace: What you should know about staffing a school security department. *The American School Board Journal*, *185*(3), 31–35.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (n.d.). Community eligibility provision | USDA-FNS.
   Www.fns.usda.gov. Retrieved November 1, 2022, from
   https://www.fns.usda.gov/cn/community-eligibility-provision
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). *Thomas county profile*. United States Census Bureau. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/profile?g=0500000US13275
- U.S. Commission on Civil Rights. (2019). Beyond suspension: Examining school discipline policies and connections to the school-to-prison pipeline for students of color with disabilities. https://www.usccr.gov/pubs/2019/07-23-Beyond-Suspensions.pdf

- U.S. Department of Education. (2018). Dear colleague letter [Rescinded]. *Ed.gov*. https://doi.org/http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201401-title-vi.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2021a). *Title IX and sex discrimination*. www2.Ed.gov. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/tix\_dis.html#:~:text=The%20U.S. %20Department%20of%20Education
- U.S. Department of Education. (2021b). Family educational rights and privacy act (FERPA). U.S. Department of Education.

  https://doi.org/http://www.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/fpco/ferpa/index.html
- U.S. Department of Education Office of Civil Rights. (2014). *Civil rights data collection*data snapshot: School discipline. https://ocrdata.ed.gov/downloads/crdc-school-discipline-snapshot.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education Office of Civil Rights. (2020). *Civil Rights Data*Collection (CRDC) for the 2017-18 School Year. U.S. Department of Education. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-2017-18.html
- U.S. Department of Education Office of Civil Rights. (2021). An overview of
   exclusionary discipline practices in public schools for the 2017-18 school year.
   Civil Rights Data Collection. https://ocrdata.ed.gov/resources/datareports
- Uslaner, E. M. (2002). The moral foundations of trust. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.824504
- Vaccar, J. (2010). Teachers' perceptions of the in-school suspension program at

  Centerville high school [Theses, Cedarville University].

  https://doi.org/10.15385/tmed.2010.6

- Valant, J. (2020, June 4). *The banality of racism in education*. Brookings. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/brown-center-chalkboard/2020/06/04/the-banality-of-racism-in-education/
- Walker, T. (2017, February 23). *The "trust gap" in schools ... And how teachers can help close it.* Www.nea.org. https://www.nea.org/advocating-for-change/new-from-nea/trust-gap-schools-and-how-teachers-can-help-close-it
- Wallace, J. M., Goodkind, S. G., Wallace, C. M., & Bachman, J. (2008). Racial/ethnic and gender differences in school discipline among American high school students. *Negro Educational Review*, 59, 47–62.
- Walsh, M. (2021, August 9). *In skirt case, appeals court says title IX bars dress codes*that discriminate based on sex. Education Week. https://www.edweek.org/policy-politics/in-skirt-case-appeals-court-says-title-ix-bars-dress-codes-that-discriminate-based-on-sex/2021/08
- Washington, B. T. (1901). Chapter 7: Early Days at Tuskegee. In *Up From Slavery* (pp. 1–9). Lit2Go. https://etc.usf.edu/lit2go/92/up-from-slavery/1600/chapter-7-early-days-at-tuskegee/
- Watson, T. (2016). "Talking back": The perceptions and experiences of black girls who attend city high school. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 85(3), 239. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.85.3.0239
- Weiler, S. C., & Cray, M. (2011). Police at school: A brief history and current status of school resource officers. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 84(4), 160–163.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2011.564986

- Weisburst, E. (2021). Patrolling public schools: The impact of funding for school police on student discipline and long-term education outcomes. *Journal of Policy*Analysis and Management, 38(2), 338–365.
- Welch, K., & Payne, A. A. (2011). Exclusionary school punishment. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, 10(2), 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204011423766
- Welsh, R. O., & Little, S. (2018). The school discipline dilemma: A comprehensive review of disparities and alternative approaches. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(5), 752–794. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654318791582
- Whaley, A. L. (2001). Cultural mistrust and mental health services for African-Americans: A review and meta-analysis. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 29(4), 513–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000001294
- Wilder, L., & Key, S. (2018, June 12). Pros and cons of school dress code. Fresno Pacific University News & Magazine; Fresno Pacific University.
  https://news.fresno.edu/article/11/11/2007/pros-and-cons-school-dress-code
- Will, M. (2020, April 14). Still mostly white and female: New federal data on the teaching profession. Education Week. https://www.edweek.org/leadership/still-mostly-white-and-female-new-federal-data-on-the-teaching-profession/2020/04
- Williams, B. T. (2004). The truth in the tale: Race and "counterstorytelling" in the classroom. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 48(2), 164–169. https://doi.org/10.1598/jaal.48.2.7
- Williams, P. J. (1997). *The rooster's egg: On the persistence of prejudice*. Harvard University Press.

- Winquist, C., Westat, N., & West, J. (2001). Fathers' and mothers' involvement in their children's schools by family type and resident status (pp. 1–105). U.S.

  Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics.

  https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2001/2001032.pdf
- Wirtz, E. (2021). Racial disparity in educational punishment. *Modern Psychological Studies*, 27(1). https://scholar.utc.edu/mps/vol27/iss1/4/
- Wun, C. (2016). Angered: Black and non-Black girls of color at the intersections of violence and school discipline in the United States. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 21(4), 423–437. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2016.1248829
- Yazzie-Mintz, E. (2007). Voices of Students on Engagement: A Report on the 2006 High School Survey of Student Engagement [Review of Voices of Students on Engagement: A Report on the 2006 High School Survey of Student Engagement].

  In Center for Evaluation and Education Policy (pp. 1–12). Center for Evaluation and Education Policy. http://ceep.indiana.edu/hssse
- Yeager, D. S., Purdie-Vaughns, V., Hooper, S. Y., & Cohen, G. L. (2017). Loss of institutional trust among racial and ethnic minority adolescents: A consequence of procedural injustice and a cause of life-span outcomes. Child Development, 88(2), 658–676. http://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/school-discipline/index.html
- Yosso, T. J., Parker, L., Solórzano, D. G., & Lynn, M. (2004). Chapter 1: From Jim Crow to Affirmative Action and back again: A critical race discussion of racialized rationales and access to higher education. *Review of Research in Education*, 28(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x028001001

Youth Truth Student Survey. (n.d.). Learning from stakeholder voice: School discipline. In *youthtruthsurvey.org* (pp. 1–8). Youth Truth Student Survey. Retrieved April 13, 2022, from http://youthtruthsurvey.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/YouthTruth-Learning-from-Stakeholder-Voice-School-Discipline.pdf

Zippia. (2021, January 29). *Teacher demographics and statistics [2022]: Number of teachers in the US.* https://www.zippia.com/teacher-jobs/demographics/

### Appendix A

# Zero Tolerance Offenses in Center System's Code of Conduct

Offense	Disposition
Alcohol 2 - Under influence without possession	10 days OSS
Alcohol 3 - Violation of laws or ordinances prohibiting the manufacture, sale, purchase, transportation, possession, or consumption of alcoholic beverages or substances represented as alcohol	10 days OSS
Arson 3 - Intentional damage as a result of arson-related activity or the use of an incendiary device. Includes but not limited to setting fires to school property.	10 days OSS; restitution; possible tribunal recommendation
Battery 2 - Intentional physical attack with the ntent to cause bodily harm resulting in mild or moderate bodily injuries. Includes but not imited to pushing, hitting, kicking, shoving, binching, slapping, and other physical confrontations that result in mild or moderate njuries.	Minimum 4 days OSS
Battery 3 - Intentional physical attack with the intent to cause bodily harm resulting in severe injuries or any physical attack on school personnel. Includes but not limited to choking, bushing, hitting, kicking, shoving, pinching, slapping, and other physical confrontations resulting in severe injuries; Includes any physical attack on school personnel; includes incidents serious enough to warrant calling the police or security	10 days ISS; possible tribunal recommendation
B&E/Burglary 3 - Unlawful or unauthorized forceful entry into a school building or vehicle (with or without intent to commit theft).	10 days OSS; possible tribunal recommendation; notification of law enforcement
Computer Trespass 3 - Unauthorized use of a computer or computer network with the intention of deleting, obstructing, interrupting, altering, damaging, obtaining confidential information or in any way causing the malfunction of the computer, network, program(s) or data; includes disclosure of a number, code, password, or other means of	Maximum 10 days OSS; possible tribunal recommendation

access to school computers or the school system computer network without proper authorization. Includes but not limited to hacking.

Disorderly Conduct 3 - Creating or contributing to a severe disturbance that substantially disrupts the school environment or poses a threat to the health and safety of others. Includes but not limited to disruptive behavior on school bus, misbehavior during a fire drill or other safety exercise.

Maximum 10 days OSS; possible tribunal recommendation

Drugs 3 - Unlawful use, cultivation, manufacture, distribution, sale, purchase, possession, transportation, or importation of any controlled drug or narcotic substance, or equipment or devices used for preparing or using drugs or narcotics. 10 days OSS; tribunal; notification of law enforcement

Fighting - Mutual participation in a fight involving physical violence where there is no one main offender and intent to harm.

4-10 days OSS; parent notification; possible notification of law officials; BIP implementation; possible tribunal recommendation

Gang-related - Any group of three or more students with a common name or common identifying signs, symbols, tattoos, graffiti, or attire which engage in criminal gang activity (O.C.G.A. § 16-15-3).

10 days OSS and students who violate this policy may be subject to arrest and/or a disciplinary hearing referral, which could result in expulsion or alternative school placement.

Larceny/Theft 3 - The unlawful taking of property belonging to another person or entity with a value exceeding \$250. Level 3 may be used for students that violate the school policy on larceny/theft three or more times during the same school year.

1st Offense: Maximum 10 days OSS; possible tribunal recommendation; restitution; parent notification 2nd Offense: 10 days OSS; restitution; tribunal recommendation; parent notification

Possession of Unapproved Items 3 - The use or possession of unauthorized items including but not limited to toy guns or other items that can be construed as dangerous or harmful to the learning environment; Includes the possession of matches, lighters, incendiary devices or fireworks. Level 3 should be used for students who display a pattern of violating the school policy related to unapproved items. Includes but

Maximum 10 days OSS; parent notification; possible tribunal recommendation; possible notification of law enforcement

are not limited to matches, lighters, or the possession of fireworks, bullets, stink bombs, CO2 cartridges; includes the use of pepper spray with injury

Refusing to serve assigned ISS

OSS for an equal number of days with loss of opportunity to complete missed work

Robbery - The taking of, or attempting to take, anything of value that is owned by another person or organization under confrontational circumstances by force or threat of force or violence and/or by putting the victim in fear

Maximum 10 days OSS; parent notification; tribunal recommendation; notification of law enforcement

Sex Offenses 3 - Engaging in sexual activities on school grounds or during school activities.

10 days OSS; parent notification; tribunal recommendation; notification of law enforcement

Student Incivility 3 - Blatant and repeated insubordination or the use of inappropriate, profane, or obscene language including the use of racial slurs toward staff; issuing false reports on school staff. Level 3 may be used for students that violate the school policy on student incivility three or more times during the same school year.

1st Offense: 9 days OSS; parent notifications; BIP implementation 2nd Offense: 10 days OSS; tribunal

recommendation

Threat/Intimidation 3 - School-wide physical, verbal or electronic threat which creates fear of harm without displaying a weapon or subjecting victims to physical attack; Note: Students that display a pattern of behavior that is so severe, persistent, or pervasive so as to have the effect of substantially interfering with a student's education, threatening the educational environment, or causing substantial physical harm, threat of harm or visibly bodily harm may be coded as bullying. Includes but not limited to bomb threats or unauthorized pulling of the fire alarm. Interfering with a student's education, threatening the educational environment, or causing substantial physical harm, threat of harm or visibly bodily harm may be coded as bullying. Includes but not

Threat/Intimidation 3: Maximum 10 days OSS; possible tribunal recommendation; notification of law enforcement

limited to bomb threats or unauthorized pulling of the fire alarm.

Vandalism 3 - Participation in the willful/malicious destruction, damage or defacement of school property or private property without permission; Level 3 may be used for students that violate the school policy on vandalism three or more times during the same school year.

Vandalism 3: Minimum of 3 days OSS and possible tribunal recommendation. Possible notification of law enforcement where students appears to be in violation of the law. Restitution for damages.

Violence Against a Teacher - Intentional physical attack against a teacher with the intent to cause bodily harm resulting in severe injuries or any physical attack against a teacher.

10 days OSS; tribunal recommendation; notification of law enforcement

Weapons/Others - Possession of a weapon, other than firearm, or simile of a weapon that could produce bodily harm or fear of harm.

10 days OSS; parent notification; notification of law enforcement if law is violated; possible tribunal recommendation.

A student who uses or threatens to use a weapon on a student or employee will be suspended for a formal hearing. Punishment by the state is a fine of not more than \$10,000; imprisonment for not less than two nor more than ten years, or both. (O.C.G.A. 15-11-37)

Weapons/Firearm-Incendiary Device -Intentional or unintentional possession or use of a handgun in a manner that could produce bodily harm or fear of harm. Students in violation of this policy will be subject to a minimum of a one calendar year expulsion.

## Appendix B

### Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval



# Institutional Review Board (IRB) For the Protection of Human Research Participants

#### PROTOCOL EXEMPTION REPORT

Protocol Number: 04202-2021 Responsible Researcher(s): Karen Jones

Supervising Faculty: Dr. Rudo Tsemunhu

Project Title: A Narrative Inquiry: The Experiences of African American Female Students as a Result of Exclusionary

Discipline.

#### INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD DETERMINATION:

This research protocol is **exempt** from Institutional Review Board (IRB) oversight under 45 CFR 46.101(b) of the federal regulations **category 2**. If the nature of the research changes such that exemption criteria no longer apply, please consult with the IRB Administrator (<u>irb@valdosta.edu</u>) before continuing your research study.

#### ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:

- Upon completion of the research study, collected data must be securely maintained (locked file cabinet, password
  protected computer, etc.) and accessible only by the researcher for a minimum of 3 years. At the end of the required time,
  collected data must be permanently destroyed.
- To ensure confidentiality, pseudonym lists must be kept in a separate, secure file from corresponding name lists, email addresses, telephone numbers, etc.
- Exempt protocol guidelines permit the recording of interviews, provided recordings are made to create an accurate transcript. Upon creation of the transcript, the recorded interview session must be deleted immediately from all devices.
   Exempt guidelines prohibit the collection, storage, and/or sharing of recordings.
- As part of the informed consent process, interview recordings and transcripts must include the researcher's reading of the
  consent statement, confirming participant's understanding, and establishing their willingness to take part in the interview.
   Participants must be offered a copy of the research statement.
- If this box is checked, please submit any documents you revise to the IRB Administrator at <u>irb@valdosta.edu</u> to ensure an updated record of your exemption.

Elizabeth Ann Olphie

09.01.2021

Elizabeth Ann Olphie, IRB Administrator

Thank you for submitting an IRB application.

Please direct questions to irb@valdosta.edu or 229-253-2947.

Revised: 00.02.10

### Appendix C

### **Participant Consent Agreement**

You are being asked to participate in an interview as part of a research study entitled "A Narrative Inquiry: The Experiences of African American Female Students as a **Result of Exclusionary Discipline**," which is being conducted by Karen Jones, a student at Valdosta State University. The purpose of this research is to allow African American female students that have been suspended from high school to tell their stories. You will receive no direct benefits from participating in this research study. However, your responses may help us learn more about how out of school suspension may have impacted the learning of African American female students. There are no foreseeable risks involved in participating in this study other than those encountered in day-to-day life. Participation should take approximately 180 minutes. The interview will be audio recorded in order to accurately capture your concerns, opinions, and ideas. Once the interview recording has been transcribed, the recording will be deleted from recording devices. Your name and school will be replaced with a pseudonym in publications or presentations. Your participation is voluntary. You may choose not to participate, to stop responding at any time, or to skip any questions that you do not want to answer. You must be at least 18 years of age to participate in this study. Your participation in the interview serves as your voluntary agreement to participate in this research project and your certification that you are 18 years of age or older.

Questions regarding the purpose or procedures of the research should be directed to Karen Jones at karejones@valdosta.edu. This study has been exempted from Institutional Review Board (IRB) review in accordance with Federal regulations. The IRB, a university committee established by Federal law, is responsible for protecting the rights and welfare of research participants. If you have concerns or questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the IRB Administrator at 229-253-2947 or irb@valdosta.edu.

### Appendix D

### **CSSD Dress Code**

The following types of clothing are considered inappropriate:

- 1. Footwear (shoes) must be worn and appropriate for the school setting both in appearance and safety. House shoes/slippers are not acceptable footwear for school.
- 2. No headgear is permitted in the school building at any time during the school day. The hoods of hooded sweatshirts are not allowed on head while in the building.
- 3. Clothing or ornamentation, which advertises alcohol or substances that are illegal for minors, or which displays suggestive phrases, designs, markings, or profanities are also prohibited.
- 4. Clothing that displays weapons, violence, gang affiliations, or other logos that cause dissension are not permitted.
- 5. No gang related signs, symbols, names, or other items that can be associated with any street gang. The principal or designee shall have the final say in determining if an item is gang related.
- 6. No tattoos depicting gang signs or symbols will be permitted.
- 7. Backless or strapless dresses or shirts are not permitted.
- 8. No midriff shirts or blouses are permitted. Midriff areas must be covered so that no skin is exposed on the torso at any time (front or back). No sheer garments and no low-cut necklines are permitted. Cleavage must not show.
- 9. Appropriate undergarments must be worn. Clothing must not reveal undergarments.
- 10. Shorts, dresses and skirts that are more than 4" above the knee are considered too short.
- 11. Slits in dresses and skirts may be no shorter than fingertip length (standing or sitting).
- 12. All pants and trousers must be worn at waist level and must fit properly. Pants may not have holes above the knee, unfastened belts, or exposed undergarments.
- 13. No coveralls or jumpsuits are allowed.
- 14. Piercings will not be tolerated with the exception of the ears.
- 15. Distracting hairstyles are prohibited.
- 16. No pajamas

### Appendix E

### **Semi-Structured Interview Guide**

What were the circumstances involved in your suspension from school?

What does it feel like to be suspended from school?

What did you do while you were suspended from school?

Was anyone at home with you while you were suspended?

How did your parent/guardian react to your suspension from school?

How did you learn the material you missed while you were out?

If you had to describe how you felt being suspended from school in one word, what would it be?

Did you look forward to coming back to school? Why or why not?

Have you ever gotten in trouble while on suspension? If yes, were police involved, and what type of offense?

How do you think being suspended affected your grades?

How did other students treat you when you returned to school?

Do you feel out of school suspension work to help students with their behavior? Why or why not?

If you think out of school suspensions do not work, what suggestions for alternatives do you have?

How meaningful are the relationships with adults in the school building to you?

Do you feel like the adults in the school care about you?

Do you feel like you "fit in" with your school community? Why or why not?

How can schools do a better job of helping students make better behavior choices?